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VISION FE=

®

PN

To be a dynamic enterprise that improves
people’s livelihood through infrastructure
and professional services for cities in Asia

and beyond
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BENMEE

Respect
g8
We respect one another
and treat everyone equally

EMEHEE - FEHEEESEA

Initiative
5
We are self-starters and
exceed expectations
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CORE VALUES #Z/MBE

Commitment
AGE
We build trust
through commitment

BfBEBAHERER

Nurture
=5
We spare no effort to nurture
the next generation

B ESDEEH — K

MISSION {##p

¢ Improve people’s quality of life

AN LS

e Grow with our employees

HET—RENE

o (Create value for shareholders

RBRAIEEE

e Committed to a sustainable future

HOBRAIFEERAAKRK

Innovation
Rl
We are intelligent
problem-solvers

EREHESERBE

Sustainability
AEFEERR
We prioritise ESG in every decision
BRESERRDHEL
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DEFINITIONS

s

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below:

ERERA - BXERBAMEN » THFRAREEBATRE

Terms
Eallc

“Audit Committee”
(B Eeg]

“Board”

E=oN

“Bye-laws”
[AR)AmA]

“CG Code”
[EERTA]

“Chun Wo"”
[{&F0 ]

“Company”
[AAE]]

“Company Secretary”
INGIEE

"CSR”
(R EEE]

“Director(s)”

(%]

“ESG”
(5 HRRER

“Executive Committee”

[($1TREg)

“Executive Director(s)”

[TES

“Group”
[AREH |

“HK$" and “HK cent(s)”

7T R )

Definitions

Ex

the audit committee of the Board

EERERZES

the board of Directors

BFR

the Bye-laws of the Company
RARZ RAIARRY

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

ETRANMER T ATE Z CREERTAID

Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
RRABIMBAREMERREARAA

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00711)
DMNEAEERIERERAGE - —HARBRETMALZBR AT - ERGPBERZMER LT
(AR 5% - 00711)

the company secretary of the Company

ARBZREIWE

corporate social responsibility
TrEMEET

the director(s) of the Company
KRARIZES

environmental, social and governance
RIE L2 RER

the executive committee of the Board

E=ZRWITERES

the executive Director(s)
WITES
the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

AR RETR 2B AR

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ABTTRB - BEBEEE
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Definitions

B&

Terms Definitions

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[ &% PEEBRFRITHRER

“INED(s)” the independent non-executive Director(s)

(B IEMITESE] BIUFNITES

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

[ Er#R Al B2 prE s EmAR Al

“Management Committee” the management committee of the Board

[EREEE ] EERERLES

“Model Code” Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules

[RLE<PA ] FARBIM S PrE T EITAZFETES R ZHNRESTR]

“NED(s)” the non-executive Director(s)

[FEMITE S FEMITES

“Nomination Committee”  the nomination committee of the Board

[fRREEE ] EERRREEE

“PRC” the People s Republic of China

[ i AR HFE

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board

[FHEES EERFMEEe

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR AR - hEREEE%

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

[ &% R HAE 1501 BBEDIESTNEE S KB RG]

“Share(s)” the ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company

[ &t5 | RNARIRAR GIREE. 10872 Tk

“Shareholder(s)” the holder(s) of issued Share(s)

[ A% BEEITRNZFHEEA

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ B 22 P EEMERXHMBR AT

“Year” for the year ended 31 March 2023

[REFE] BE2023F3A31BIEFE

%" per cent

[ %] ERagse

TG AE

o
&
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

EXREH

HONORARY DIRECTOR
Li Wai Hang, Christina

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chief Executive Officer)
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Non-executive Directors

Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Independent Non-executive Directors

Wu William Wai Leung
Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Yen Gordon

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Wu William Wai Leung

Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Yen Gordon

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Wu William Wai Leung
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
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Corporate Information

EEH

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman
LC Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia Limited

HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.asiaalliedgroup.com
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00711
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

RAMWE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Total Revenue

b E

s 8,177,748,000 5%

...................................................

Profit Attributable
to Shareholders

BRI F
Hk$ 105,091,000 &%

....................................................

Net Assets
BEEFE
Hks 2,488,693,000 &

WORKPLACE QUALITY

THREEER
©

Accident Rate

Dividend per Share
BRERE

Interim® 8 :
HKO0.67 cent &1L

Final &R :
HKT.05 cents &1L

Full yearZ £ :
HK1.72 cents &1L

................................................

Total Assets

| s 8,624,976,000 5 |

(per 100,000 man-hours)
BEHR(BTEIR)

0.097

Basic Earnings per Share

BREAZEF
HK5.88 cents il

....................................................

Gearing Ratio

EXREMELR
0.57

...................................................

Equity per Share
BRER

HKs 1.36 &7

000
Nkl
Employees
==
6,360

.......................................................................................................................................................

Fatality Rate
T X
0

Accumulated Training Hours
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

RIERE

Carbon Emissions and Intensity

Diesel Consumption and Intensity

BB R E EhEAEREZE
36,790 | 4.5 5,359,969 655.4
tonnes CO,e : tonnes CO,e/ Litre # Litre/
W _F{tHREE HK$ million revenue HK$ million revenue
WSt EE/ #/ SEEBTWE

P SEBBTE

................................................................................................................................................

Electricity Consumption and Intensity Petroleum Consumption and Intensity

RERRTE B ARREE
38,996,243 4,769.0 368,538 45.1
kWh FF B kWh/ Litre F Litre/
HK$ million revenue : HK$ million revenue
TRE/SEEBTRE | 7/ EEERTKE

................................................................................................................................................

Water Consumption and Intensity Non-hazardous Non-hazardous

FKERZE Waste Production Waste Reused/
: iii3=3 43 : R led
471,680 7.7 REREIRE  mERENEA E
m3 3 75K m3/ :
:  HKS$ million revenue : 880,199 865,348
PNAK BEEBTWE tonnes M tonnes M

COMMUNITY

HE
Charitable and Other Donations Volunteer Service Hours
ZERHEMIBER ETRKEEE
Hk$1,400,000% % Ci) 399

DMBAEZERARADGF 2022235
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS

ERAELE

P —

Chun Wo Won Four Awards in NEC Martin
Barnes Awards 2022

KL-CW JV was named the 2022 “Contractor of the Year”
and its “Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works
Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sludge Treatment Facilities and
132kV Primary Substation” project won “NEC Contract

Innovation of the Year” under the NEC Users’ Group of the

United Kingdom. DCK JV also received the “NEC Contractor

of the Year — Highly Commended” award and the project

of “Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling

Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San Tsuen North to Lung

Yeuk Tau)” received “NEC Transport Contract of the Year —
Runner Up”.

BMERENERE HFIREXN
2022|815

BF - B e B REHN TIRA KM
BB 2002 4 [ERGR TG ) 50R - B
AR B MR R G- EE TS —
P ER — 5 R BRIB R M e 1 32KV E B B I Y
TARTIZ FREREFEAHA IR
#% o 5 - DCK IVINVER R & AR
BERBR]  HRROHELNERR
FE BRBERE(EATNLE
BERE) TR NI FEBERHER I
EBEE -

. 07/2022

New Group Member -
Vision Foundations Limited

The Group took a significant step forward
in expanding its foundation works
business by signing an agreement with
a partner to form Vision Foundations
Limited. The Vision Foundations team is
composed of key contributors from Chun
Wo who embody the core strengths and
expertise of the Group.

S B 37 £ B —
BEBETRARAR
REBEESERHES — D REAKRER
WETRERIR > NE—SHRBET
TRE - A EBERREMNELKE

AR BT ARERROERREE
-
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Corporate Event Highlights
TEXRELE

. 08/2022

Chun Wo's Steel MiC Project: Yip Shing
Street Modular Social Housing

“Yip Shing 6", the Yip Shing Street Modular Social
Housing, is one of the major and prominent projects
of Chun Wo in 2022, launched by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service. Chun Wo's use of “Steel
MiC"” systems allowed for a block with a 4-storey
transitional housing to be completed in less than 3
weeks, which is a significant reduction of nearly 80%
compared to traditional methods. This project provides
116 short-term residential units to underprivileged
individuals.

& HSteel MICHE —[ ¥R HAEHEEE]
HEEMSRBHEEERENERTHEGHERE
HETEKEH] - BEM02FMHEMBERE 2 — &

MFAMERALARBEL] RORIZHNFR
R — BB BRI R - BEG AR
ISR o SO B RSB BHRA 1 6(EEHIE
A o

08/2022

Drainage Improvement Works in
Tsim Sha Tsui Awarded by the
Drainage Services Department
CW-KL JV has been awarded the contract of the
“Drainage Improvement Works in Tsim Sha Tsui”
by the Drainage Services Department. The work is
about HK$520 million and involves a stormwater
storage scheme at the open space of Tsim Sha
Tsui East, drainage works on nearby roads and
ancillary works including reinstatement of the
open space and associated facilities.
BERBEBRDVERKERASGRESIRE
120 — B I Bst 2 B8 M BCR 75 8 5 ) IE IR BRI
RERETIENEL - TIRPEHS2EET
R IR R BRI S T & - 7
e

BT BRI TR BE R T2 - U RIBEIREZE
8 R AR R AR M -

DNEEERIERABRAR 2022/23F
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Corporate Event Highlights
TEXRELE

. 09/2022

Chun Wo partners with CUHK to create
advanced “Cable-driven Robot”

Chun Wo and a research team from CUHK Faculty of
Engineering have jointly developed a “Cable-driven Robot”
for cleaning building windows and painting facades. The
system is the first to mimic human movement, providing a
safer and more efficient alternative to traditional methods.
By reducing the need for workers to operate at heights,
such robot addresses the risks associated with falling from
heights, while also helping to solve the problem of labour
shortage.

BAMEL R RS R IME S 2= TRRZHMA
e B K TRBROMEBHARRE T —RAREEZ
REE P AHRIIME R IMNERS 2= TIERIBHRIA | - %5
E—EEHAREBORE  AERERETERS
FEBNERAE - BBHL TABETIFNES - %M
MARKERT BEEZRRORR - REBHEROM

;E'EEO

QR —

“Tseung Kwan O - Lam Tin Tunnel
and Cross Bay Link” officially
opened

On 11 December 2022, the Tseung Kwan
O — Lam Tin Tunnel and the Cross Bay Link
project, involved by Chun Wo-STEC-CMGC JV,
were officially opened. In addition, Chun Wo
Tunnel Management Limited signed a 3-year
contract for the management, operation and
maintenance of the Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin
Tunnel, which demonstrates the company’s
professional services and extensive experience.

[ ER-EMEEREEEEZRK ]
EXEE

REM— BT ABESEMNEER &
Mk E & s8R IAE R2022F 1281114
EAE o o BAMBEEEEAR A AN
RETERBMNEELH 22— MHAH3F
MEER-EHBECER  CEREES

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23
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Corporate Event Highlights
TEXRELE

=

"Lifewire Run 2022"

Over 1,000 Runners Created Awareness For Children
with Rare Diseases

The “Lifewire Run 2022 — Tung Chung”, jointly presented by Lifewire
Foundation Limited (“Lifewire”) and Chun Wo, was successfully held.

an inclusive society by increasing public
awareness of rare diseases.
[2022% ¥ e RFE T
BTHFUREIERRE
M BMEEEESBR AT ([
YD) E W RAETBRA2022F fHe
B EEREERETT - RRESRS
1,50007 2 2 e - WIEHRIB70MMEE
B 2 HL - E{3E 342,000,000/ 7T °
MR AR - EREEIIBGEH NI
YRERRE  RREELSRHZ &
MEETERRRIEELRIES

More than 70 organisations took part
and 1,500 runners showed up, the race
was able to raise about HK$2 million.
Proceeds, after cost deduction, are
donated to Lifewire in support of children
with rare diseases, as well as to promote

N

“Opportunities and Challenges in a New Era of MiC”
Seminar Gathers over 100 industry experts

Chun Wo co-organised a seminar on “Opportunities and Challenges
in a New Era of MiC”, which successfully concluded with over 100
business leaders, industry professionals, government officials and scholars
participating in a lively discussion on property technology and trends. The
seminar featured a range of expert speakers from the industry, including Ms.
Winnie Ho Jp, HKSAR Secretary for Housing Bureau, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick Jp, Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Honorary Advisor
of Hong Kong PropTech Association, Sr. Lee Ka Lun, Stephen, Chairman
of Chun Wo Construction, and Mr.
Billy Wong 8ss, /p, General Manager
of Construction of Henderson
Land Development, who discussed
at length the development and
future opportunities of MiC from

EFIEE - A FHL
WAITEER - BT
K - FLgmis
industry ecology, government A RENEES
policies, private markets, talent SEHEEAKE
acquisition, and technology. The HEEMBER R ARK
event provided a valuable platform B R 5 R iR &R
for exchanging ideas and exploring o BIREFET &K
new opportunities in property MWAEEAFHER
technology for stakeholders from HTEENIRF
various sectors. BERRREMER
MTEYFTHES o

03/2023

[FrEF TSRS B ELIHHEEF
I I EEBRRTEER

BRZE DN FERTEREKNBEER]W
HOBFkE [T S B EImA R - BEHE100
LZEAER IRERAFZEAE BFABER
BEIGHWEHERTEERBEY - BX
Ml eBEZNERSSLATERE B
EERBRMXKBRZLAF4#+ - KRFITH
BRERBEERHWENREHE R EEME
B TRt Fa - BMEEEFEFIRIEN
EMREEKEN
EARATRZEDS
BEIBEOKRALE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual results of the Group
for the Year. During the latest financial period, the operating environment
continued to be challenging due to political and economic uncertainties
impacting the world, as well as high operating and finance costs locally.
Nonetheless, the Group has remained resilient and continued to perform
in a reasonable manner, attributable to favourable policies from the Hong
Kong Government, effective strategies by our experienced management,
and diligence of our colleagues.

The construction business, as our principal revenue contributor, performed
in a steady manner during the Year. With supporting policies from the
government, and leveraging our technical expertise and experience, we
were able to win several high-value contracts. It is worth noting that the
Group partnered with a state-owned construction company in winning
a major waterworks contract during the Year. The contract underscores
the importance of partnerships, where the combination of the Group's
experience and our partner’s strong background can lead to the securing
of larger scale public service contracts. We will duly look for more of these
collaborative opportunities going forward.

With regard to the property development and assets leasing operation,
both the 128 Waterloo” property in Ho Man Tin and the “SOYQO”
hybrid residential and retail building in Mong Kok performed outstripping
their respective rivals during the Year. In view of the uncertain macro
environment, we will monitor the market closely, and when opportunity
allows, consider less costly financing options.

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman
¥k

FE

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2022/23
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

Turning to our professional services segment, which consists of security,
tunnels and other facility management services, the operation has affected
by macroeconomic developments, high labour costs and shortage of
labour. The group will actively explore options for business diversification
and to create additional income streams. As for our non-franchised bus
services business, it performed satisfactorily as expected given the border
reopening. We anticipate this positive momentum to continue in tandem
with the revival of the Hong Kong tourism sector.

Also performing favourably is our medical technology and healthcare
business, which was able to secure new clients during the Year. To
facilitate further growth, the construction of our second laboratory for
the development of radiation-related medical products is underway. We
have also increased our research and development investment in medical
technologies in support of the government’s initiative to develop Hong
Kong into a medical technology hub. We believe this business possesses
tremendous potential as demand will increase in line with the aging
population in the region.

FUTURE STRATEGY AND DIRECTION

Going forward, the construction sector is set to benefit greatly from the
Hong Kong Government’s numerous development initiatives as set out in
the 2022 Policy Address. Among the various headline infrastructure projects
include the “Northern Metropolis Development Strategy” and “Kau Yi Chau
Artificial Island” which are anticipated to command a total construction
budget of HK$300 billion. Technology development will also play a crucial
role in protecting the safety of workers. With our commitment to developing
advanced building technologies, ample experience in performing highly
technical projects and meeting stringent safety standards, we have the
expertise and capabilities for winning more public works projects, in the
coming years.

In the new financial year, we will dedicate more efforts on enhancing
productivity and efficiency, and adhering to stringent cost management
with the aim of improving overall margins and profitability. Further down
the road, we will leverage our depth of experience, breadth of expertise,
sound fundamentals and solid leadership to forge ahead in all of our
business interests, while continuing to examine suitable opportunities for
reinforcing the Group’s market leadership and fostering sustainable growth.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my appreciation to the management team and our
staff for their incredible effort and perseverance during the past year. | wish
to also express my utmost gratitude to all of our business partners and
stakeholders for standing by our side through challenging times. | trust that
our goal of becoming Asia’s leading construction and professional services
group will be realised through the strength of our operations, people and
many allies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBRImR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Though the business environment has remained challenging during
the Year, the Group continued performing stably with revenue of
approximately HK$8.18 billion (2022: HK$7.72 billion) and net profit
attributable to the Shareholders of approximately HK$105.1 million (2022:
HK$122.0 million). The Group was inevitably imparted by the significant
increase in finance costs during the Year, with interest rates rising
appreciably especially in the second half year. Moreover, high operating
costs resulting from the shortage of both professionals and skilled workers
for the construction industry placed additional pressure on the Group's
operating margins. Therefore, the management has sought to navigate the
Group through the challenging conditions by leveraging its sound financing
and capital management strategies.

With respect to the construction industry as a whole, as the Hong Kong
Government has been pushing ahead with various supportive policies
which facilitate overall economic progress, the general outlook remains
positive. While the Group will continue to actively capture relevant
opportunities, it will nonetheless be hindered by the ongoing labour
shortage and high interest rate environment, both of which will mean that
operating and financing costs will remain high. Accordingly, the Group will
continuously improve efficiency and implement cost-cutting measures to
save costs in the coming financial year.

Construction

The construction segment, which operates under the renowned “Chun
Wo" brand, generated HK$7.19 billion (2022: HK$6.72 billion) in revenue
for the Year. Having experienced an improvement in profit in the second
half year, segment profit amounted to HK$180.2 million (2022: HK$41.2
million). As at the financial year end, the Group held contracts with an
aggregate value of HK$30.31 billion (2022: HK$30.05 billion), with
HK$17.64 billion (2022: HK$15.82 billion) being ongoing contracts.

The Group was able to secure 15 new projects during the Year, including
a waterworks contract related to the Relocation of Diamond Hill Fresh
Water and Salt Water Service Reservoirs to Caverns, which it won in
partnership with a state-owned enterprise. In addition, the Group was
awarded contracts involving Sau Nga Road Stormwater Storage Scheme,
Penfold Park Enhancement Project of The Hong Kong Jockey Club, two
maintenance term contracts by Education Bureau; Construction of a
30-classroom Primary School and a 6-classroom Kindergarten at Site E-1,
Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site, Sai Kung; Uprating of Pui O
Raw Water Pumping Station and Pui O No. 2 Raw Water Pumping Station
and Laying of Raw Water Mains along South Lantau Road; Drainage
Improvement Works in Tsim Sha Tsui; and Construction of Open Space at
Eastern Street North, Sai Ying Pun.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction (continued)

With regard to ongoing projects, there were a total of 33 projects in
progress as at 31 March 2023. They included an Urban Renewal Authority
composite development project at Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon — the
first concrete Modular Integrated Construction (“MiC") high-rise residential
project in Hong Kong; a primary school at Anderson Road, Kwun Tong;
In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) —
Administration Building; Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle
Completion Package; and Construction of Public Housing Development at
Hiu Ming Street.

The Group has also completed 18 projects during the Year, including
the Central — Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island
Eastern Corridor Link; Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan
O Interchange and Associated Works; Construction of Government Flying
Service Kai Tak Division; Foundation for Public Housing Development at
Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5 and Demolition for Redevelopment of Mei
Tung Estate; Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social Housing
at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung; Main Contract for the Multi-Level
Carpark and Footbridge and the Direct Contract for Alteration and Addition
Works at the Hub Area for the Members’ Main Entrance Redevelopment
and Multi-Level Carpark at Shatin Racecourse for The Hong Kong Jockey
Club.

Among the challenges that the construction sector was confronted with
during the Year, include the labour shortage problem. Professionals from
all segments, including but not limited to engineering, surveying, safety
and environmental protection, etc. are all in demand. Hiring skilled workers
and attracting young people to enter the industry are also challenging,
resulting in consistently high labour costs. The Group will look to minimise
operating costs through various efficiency enhancement strategies. In
addition, the management has been exploring financing options that allow
the Group to mitigate the impact of high interest rates, and enables the
Group to reduce overall financing costs when taking up high-contract-
value projects.

The management fully recognises that there are abundant opportunities
in the Hong Kong construction sector, in part the result of government
support for ongoing infrastructure investments, increasing public housing
supply, and advancing associated technologies, all of which are beneficial
to the construction sector and the Group. In terms of infrastructure
investments, they include such major developments as the Northern
Metropolis, Kau Yi Chau Artificial Islands and various railway extensions
that will command an annual capital works expenditure of over HK$100
billion. As for public housing, apart from the 360,000 public housing units
for the coming decade, the government has also identified sites for 30,000
Light Public Housing units for the next few years, which will come to
fruition through the support of MiC technology.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) (KB
RAEESRTFEEE

Major Projects Completed in the Year

Contract Sum*
Project Name (HKS$ million)
EHEEE
HE AB (BEBT)
Building Construction Works 1 2FZ£ T2
1 T

Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung -

,,,,,,,,,, SORRARESTSEAMEEERE
2 1 Main Contract at Multi-Level Carpark and Footbridge and Direct Contract for A&A Works | -

at Hub Area for Members Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-Level Carpark at Shatin

Racecourse for The Hong Kong Jockey Club

ERESEV ARSI IBANRSEEFEESNTARNBERTRERGMZBBERAZE

C ITiR :

Civil Engineering Works /K T2

3 Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link 4,020
,,,,,,,,, PEBIAE tARRENRBERERRTE

4 © Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works ; 585
,,,,,,,,,  BER-EmBE-SEAREEMENTE

5 . Construction of Government Flying Service Kai Tak Division ; 237
,,,,,,,,,  BERORBBEESE@ETRE .

6 : Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun ; 205
,,,,,,,,, CEPYSKBREETE

7 Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara Aqueduct 4 -

| SERUFIYIET —Balara PUSRE /KR E 2 3RGT M2 iE T2
Foundation Works ith & T2

8 ' Foundation for Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 99 799
,,,,,,,,,  RROBREFEEEEEAMELE
9 » Foundation for Public Housing Development at Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5 and 253

+ Demolition for Redevelopment of Mei Tung Estate (Older Part) ;
D ERBATAR-SHEAEEEREH N E TR N ERBEZA 2R IR(EE
=) :

Maintenance & Minor Work &SR ER/NE TR

10 Main Contract Works for Project Harbourfront — Depot Site, STT Site 5 Development at -
' Quarry Bay, Hong Kong '
BETIREBETAK  BBHIARE RS TR R A

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AL BIESHEHEMERE B TRBEEGEEOEE -
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I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS

Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara Aqueduct 4

ettt TR —Balara MHKBE Y BRI RBETE

' Construction of Government Flying Service Kai Tak Division

BRRTREBRESHRZETR

DNEEERIERABRAR 2022/23F 17




I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORK

—
eeesee. Rehabilitation of Trunk SewWers in TUEN IMUN  [iuceeeeeecceccccccscccsccsssscsscsssscsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns

HFPSKBRREEIR
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I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORK

Tseung Kwan O - Lam Tin Tunnel - Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works

T REE-EEBE-KEAREERANIE

38 MAINTENANCE AND MINOR WORK

Main Contract Works for Project Harbourfront — Depot Site, STT Site 5
Development at Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
BEIRBEEIAN  BEANAREIREN T HBRERAL

DNEEERIERABRAR 2022/23F 19




EEE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORKS

— Main Contract at Multi-Level Carpark and Footbridge and Direct Contract for A&A Works
at Hub Area for Members Main Entrance Redevelopment and Multi-Level Carpark at Shatin  -..c..cccocoeeeaeae
Racecourse for The Hong Kong Jockey Club
EARSEVHBSCER I EANESEFESRTARBERIBRREFMZHERRELIR

$00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

Main Contract Works for Proposed Modular Social
Housing at 5-7 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung
ERERFS-7HRAEHEREEEE

©00000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) (KB
AAREEARBEENTIEIR

Contract Sum*

Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year

Project Name (HKS$ million)
EREE
HE AR (B8ET)
Building Construction Works 1 2FZ£ T2
1 ! Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street 1,330
A BBERERERREoRETIE
2 » In-situ Reprovisioning of Sha Tin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Administration 509
© Building
,,,,,,,,,  PEENEBROERTRER)_ORNE
3 + Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School at Site KT2c, Development at Anderson Road, 271
' Kwun Tong
,,,,,,,,, | BREZERERRE (bR —MRAERREANE
4 © Main Contract for the Proposed Composite Development at Nos. 12-30, Hang On Street, -
' Kwun Tong
,,,,,,,,, | BEEEEEOREAmRERRETE
5 i Main Contract Works for Proposed Composite Development for Project DL-11:YTM at -

Nos. 5-13 Ash Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon
D NBERABEMREESE 13RS AREEE(OL-11: YTM)

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

6 © Main Contract Works for 250-Place Student Hostel at United Campus for The Chinese -
© University of Hong Kong '
| BB AR - 250TEM A BB AESRETR

Civil Engineering Works /R T2

7 » In-situ Reprovisioning of Sha Tin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Water Treatment 2,999
© Works and Ancillary Facilities '
D D EEKBR R M E B T2 (R — KRR K P B A% s

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

8 » Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site 2,668
,,,,,,,,, | REREORSAMEROLOTERERERTE
9 Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 1 Site Formation and 2,403

Infrastructure Works inside Lok Ma Chau Loop and Western Connection Road Phase 1
EENTESERE  S—HPFBIR AN EEMNIEE T FEMERSEIRER |
,,,,,,,,, B
10 » Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling Bypass Eastern Section (Shek Wu San 1,690
© Tsuen North to Lung Yeuk Tau) '

C BEIEFERES R - hESERR(BRI L EEERE)

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AL BIESHEHEMERE B TRBEEGEEOEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E 3 E) e
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REAFELERBEENTETRE
(continued) (#&)

Contract Sum*
Project Name (HK$ million)

aREE*
A B (HEBR)
Civil Engineering Works =R T2

11 Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site — Road Improvement Works and Pedestrian 853
+ Connectivity Facilities Works Phase 2A
D REREORERNEE - BRRETRETABERETIRE —HF

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

12 | Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sewage 689
Treatment Facilities

BRI F K — £ TR PR — 5 /KRB R e £ R T2

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

13 Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 — Civil Works for Sludge 629
. Treatment Facilities and 132kV Primary Substation
,,,,,,,,, | RMEROKEE - TRIBE R OSREEBRISAVERRROIATE
14 1 Construction of Lung Tsun Stone Bridge Preservation Corridor at Kai Tak ; 570
,,,,,,,,,  REmRABRARE@ELE
15 i Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage Treatment Works, Associated Submarine Outfall and | 482

Pui O Sewerage Works
D EAESKERER - BEDSRIIRE R E RS K RS TR

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

16 i Kwu Tung North New Development Area, Phase 1 — Roads and Drainage between Kwu Tung ! 451
North New Development Area and Shek Wu Hui
R RERE—RR -SRI RREE RSN ERNEF IR

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

17 1 Retrofitting of Noise Barriers on Po Lam Road North and Po Ning Road ; 350
,,,,,,,,, EOMBCREEBEERELE .
18 . Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1 — Contract 3 Direct Road Link 304
' Phase 2 ;
,,,,,,,,,  ERMAENERE : BOMTRIR-S0ZEmEER-s
19 : Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Completion Package ; -
,,,,,,,,,  EEMtEREEGRRA -WEMRELE
20 . Site Formation and Foundation Works for Campus Expansion at Ho Man Tin Slope for the -

' Hong Kong Polytechnic University
| BB TS AR E R R g TR R R T2

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.

SRSHEREAAMERRE  AX TREEEEEOER -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EH O
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year REAFELERBEENTETRE
(continued) (#&)

Contract Sum*

Project Name (HK$ million)
BREE*

HEHRB (AEET)

Foundation Works & T2

21 ! Piling Works for Integrated Basement and Underground Road in Zones 2B & 2C of the West ! 2,355

' Kowloon Cultural District

D LR 2B R 2C IR AR A B R it AT R R 2 $TAE A2

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

22 ! Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at North West Kowloon Reclamation : 458
 (NWKR) Site (East)
D I NBEEEREE SRR R AHRBEREER 2METIR

Electrical & Mechanical Works #E T2

23 ! Electrical Installation for Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tung Chung 186
! Area 54
,,,,,,,,,  RRMBAPLEEERRESHERIRNENRELR
24 ! Building Services Installation for the Construction of Columbarium, Garden of Remembrance ! 30

! and related works at On Hing Lane, Shek Mun, Sha Tin (Nominated Sub-Contractor)
S HEAMTEEHEEERELERN Lot ERENEEIENEFRELETIRRUEES B21E)

Maintenance & Minor Works #{SR&ER/NE TR
25

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance & Repair of Buildings & Lands & 722
© Other Properties for which the ASD (PSB) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Wan Chai
' (South) & Wan Chai (North)) '
| BREE(MEERE)BENEREY  THEEMYMEETHRE  NE  REREE IR !
L EHAN(AETER  BF(E) REFAL)) :

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

26 ' Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance & Repair of Buildings & Lands & 719
' Other Properties for which the ASD (PSB) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Tai Po, :
: North District & Outlying Islands (North)) !
| BEEB(WEEHE)BENEEY T REMYEETHE  NE  RERSEIERN
L EHIAH(AETER AR tREBEEL)) 5

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

27 ! Term Contract for Risk-Based Improvement of Water Mains — New Territories West 535
,,,,,,,,, MRERBANKEARERMEN .
28 ' Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the ASD (PSB) is Responsible 233

' (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South)) !
L BREE(MESKE) BEMAETREIRNTHAN(ANETR  BERES () |

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

29 ! Construction of Kwai Chung Park 197
L BB LB EETE ;

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AL BIESHEHEMERE B TRBEEGEEOEE -
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E CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS .

Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant — Main Works Stage 1 - Civil

Works for Sludge Treatment Facilities and 132kV Primary Substation
and Civil Works for Sewage Treatment Facilities

FHEFKRE - TR IBE R -SREBRER132KVEZ BN LA

IRRSKEERENEIARIRE

—_— M m - In-situ Reprovisioning of Sha Tin Water Treatment Works
feececececececcscscscscecececcscscscssssscesescscss (SOUth Works) — Water Treatment Works and Ancillary Facilities

DHBKEFRGEETR (BR) — BKR KB R
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I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS

T Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
REFEABSAMBERN I FERARERIRE

Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site - Road Improvement Works
7 and Pedestrian Connectivity Facilities Works Phase 2A

igﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬂﬁg_E%E&%IE&‘/{TkgﬁfﬁﬁIE%:%ﬁ ©000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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E CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS o

Kwu Tung North New Development Area, Phase 1 — Roads and Drainage
™ between Kwu Tung North New Development Area and Shek Wu Hui

LS RREE RS - 2R R R EE S NS B R TR

Fanling North New Development Area, Phase 1: Fanling Bypass
T ——— Eastern Section (Shek Wu San Tsuen North to Lung Yeuk Tau)

PELFTREEE—KR  PDEEEER (AHHNEERHE)
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I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS

e O1t€ FOrmation and Foundation Works for Campus Expansion at
Ho Man Tin Slope for the Hong Kong Polytechnic University

ERETABAXHMNEREREN OB FERMETR

Construction of San Shek Wan Sewage Treatment Works,
Associated Submarine Outfall and Pui O Sewerage Works

WMEBSKEER  HEEBEHRERBRSKEERRZETR

DNEEERIERABRAR 2022/23F 27




E CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS o

e Retrofitting of Noise Barriers on Po Lam Road North and Po Ning Road

BRI EERREFELIR

Development of Lok Ma Chau Loop: Main Works Package 1
— Contract 1 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works inside
Lok Ma Chau Loop and Western Connection Road Phase 1 and
Contract 3 Direct Road Link Phase 2
— EENTELERRE  F—PIRIR-SY—ZEFMNTELEI
ceeee. PENERREIERABNERERE RSN -ZERERE-H
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EEE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORK

e IN-STtU Reprovisioning of Sha Tin Water Treatment
Works (South Works) - Administration Building

DHEABRERBEETR (R —TBAE

DNEEERIERABRAR 2022/23F 29




.EEI-.ﬂ BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORK

Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School at
...... Site KT2¢c, Development at Anderson Road, Kwun Tong = . 0o .

BRZEEERRE (BBKT20) —IRABRENNE

.

$0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000
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EEE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORK

Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street

{ﬁg MAINTENANCE AND MINOR WORK

eeccccccccsccccscccccs e

000 000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

== Construction of Kwai Chung Park

el EBFLNEHNRBRETRE
ZRLENRETE THBARRERARAT 2022236% 31




.EEI-.ﬂ BUILDING CONSTRUCTION WORK

e —— V@i Contract for the Proposed Composite Development
at Nos. 12-30, Hang On Street, Kwun Tong

BREERH12E30RGREAREEEETR

32 Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23




Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) (KB
AR EEHRENTEER

New Major Projects Awarded in the Year

Contract Sum*
Project Name (HKS$ million)
=¥k
HE B (AE®ERT)
Building Construction Works #2FZE T2
1 ! Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School and a 6-classroom Kindergarten at Site E-1, ! 396

! Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site, Sai Kung
| IR REREAESRER R —FrRE30MR RN/ NER— R E6MR =N HEE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

2 ! Construction of a 30-classroom Primary School at Site KT2a, Development at Anderson Road, 321
. Kwun Tong '
P EBETEREEREE(KT2a) — TR A0 MR ER/NE

Civil Engineering Works = KR T2

3 ! Relocation of Diamond Hill Fresh Water and Salt Water Service Reservoirs to Caverns E 1,651
,,,,,,,,, RERALRAREABORNERER
4 Drainage Improvement Works in Tsim Sha Tsui 520
,,,,,,,,, ROMRRRERBELRR
5 ' Sau Nga Road Stormwater Storage Scheme 467
,,,,,,,,, L SO
6 : Uprating of Pui O Raw Water Pumping Station and Pui O No. 2 Raw Water Pumping Station 343

© and Laying of Raw Water Mains along South Lantau Road

L IR EURERK KA R BB 5% UK K I R R R B B R RKOK B

7 ' Main Contract of Penfold Park Enhancement Project of The Hong Kong Jockey Club E -
 AAERETELARNEHEETIRSN '
Electrical & Mechanical Work #E T 72

8 ! Electrical Installation for Construction of Public Housing Development at Hang Tai Road, Ma ! 108
: On Shan Area 86B Phase 2 '
D BRILEBRERKE —_HAEFERRABBREIENENRETR

Maintenance & Minor Works #{S{R &K /NE T2

9 ' Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Aided Schools, ' 847
! Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for the which the Education Bureau is Responsible
(Designated Contract Area: Sham Shui Po, Tsuen Wan and Kwai Tsing)

D BAMETERCEKY £ERES)NHHERAEMENSR BEY - TitREMpE
DHETTEREE - bR - REBREEIROTHAL :

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

10 ' Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Aided Schools, 613
Buildings and Lands and Others Properties for the which the Education Bureau is Responsible :
(Designated Contract Area: Yau Tsim Mong, Kowloon City and Islands) '

L BAOERTERCELT AEREEE) AHBERABRMBIER BEY - T REwY !
DESEITINE N RERAETENTHAL 5

11 ! Construction of Open Space at Eastern Street North, Sai Ying Pun E 197
D AESRRETILRE A EETE -

* Disclosure of contract sum depends on nature of each project and it does not reflect the attributable contract value.
AL BIESHEHEMERE B TRBEEGEOEE -
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E CIVIL ENGINEERING WORKS .

Sau Nga Road Stormwater Storage Scheme

FHE T &EHEE

Uprating of Pui O Raw Water Pumping Station and Pui O No. 2 Raw Water Pumping
Station and Laying of Raw Water Mains along South Lantau Road

BRI BB IR KK 38 K BB 57 ROK 3 K U R 0 R F B BRR IR KK E
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I CIVIL ENGINEERING WORK

== Drainage Improvement Works in Tsim Sha Tsui
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38 MAINTENANCE AND MINOR WORK

@000 c000000000000000000000000000000000000000

T Construction of Open Space at Eastern Street North, Sai Ying Pun
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development and Assets Leasing

The property development and assets leasing segment has rebounded in
the Year as compared with the same period last year. Buyers amid a high
interest rate environment, compounded by macroeconomic uncertainties
act with prudence. Still, the Group’s property development was able to
outperform other projects in the vicinity. It is worth noting as well that
the land exchange application submitted by the Group pertaining to the
residential land parcel in Tung Chung was approved and the land premium
negotiation is in progress.

During the Year, the Hong Kong Government has continued to support
the property development sector through various policies. This has included
the relaxation of mortgage stress test requirements by the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority. Furthermore, eligible talents seeking permanent
residency in Hong Kong can now apply for a refund on extra stamp duty
for their residential property purchase. It is generally expected that the
Hong Kong property market will gradually recover.

Given the high interest rate
environment and ongoing
geopolitical tensions, the current
situation is unpredictable. The
Group will take a wait-and-see
approach; closely monitoring
market developments and
seizing opportunities when the
market conditions stabilise,
and leveraging joint ventures
to further mitigate risk. The
management will continue
to explore different capital
management options to reduce
financing costs when exploring
new investment opportunities.

128 Waterloo
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Professional Services

The professional services business is operated by City Services Group
Limited (”City Services Group”) and engages in security, tunnels and other
facility management services. For the Year, the business recorded revenue
of HK$942.2 million (2022: HK$963.8 million) and a segment profit of
HK$15.8 million (2022: HK$53.7 million).

For the Year, the Group was able to maintain a healthy portfolio of
clients, which include The Hong Kong Jockey Club and Hong Kong Palace
Museum. It also added new clients, including Hong Kong Adventist
Hospital and The Wai — a shopping mall located at Tai Wai Station.

With respect to the tunnel management operation, it continued to provide
a stable source of revenue for the Group. Now managing five tunnels in
Hong Kong, they consist of the Shing Mun Tunnels, the Tseung Kwan O
Tunnel, the Kai Tak Tunnel, the Lion Rock Tunnel, and the Tseung Kwan O
— Lam Tin Tunnel that commenced operation in December 2022.

Tseung Kwan O - Lam Tin Tunnel

¥ OEE )
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MREZ  BEBEREMEZEEERRS - BA
FE - REFERS & FE T 942,200,000/ 7T
(2022 £ : 963,800,000 7T ) K& 5 &6 A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Non-franchised Bus Services

The non-franchised bus services operation run by Chun Wo Bus Services
Limited witnessed an improvement in revenue and profit for the Year,
bolstered particularly by the reopening of borders with Mainland China in
the second half year that resulted in increased tourism-related business.
Consequently, non-franchised bus services recorded a profit of HK$5.7
million (2022: HK$2.7 million).

With the revival of local bus tours owing to the aforementioned border
reopening with Mainland China, the Group’s bus fleet experienced a
significant increase in ridership, thus resulting in improved margin and
profitability. In addition, the operation further benefited from the ongoing
provision of local scheduled bus services, as well as the sizeable contracts
that it continues to hold with various renowned organisations, schools and
property management companies.

Medical Technology and Healthcare

Hong Kong Cyclotron Laboratories Limited (“HKCL"), which was acquired
in late 2020, specialises in the production of positron emission tomography
("PET") drugs. It operates one of the largest PET radiopharmacy distribution
networks in Hong Kong. Among its major clients include the Hospital
Authority and the CUHK Medical Centre, having also welcomed several
new imaging centres during the Year. HKCL has continued to deliver
encouraging results for the Year, with revenue at HK$41.1 million (2022:
HK$37.1 million) and profit at HK$9.6 million (2022: HK$12.9 million).
HKCL has commenced construction of a second laboratory for radiation-
related medical products, which is expected to be completed in the end of
2023. This aligns with the Group’s belief that PET drugs hold tremendous
potential with rising demand in the coming years. Through the bolstered
capabilities of HKCL, the Group will be well positioned to seize relevant
opportunities when they emerge.

Other Business

The online building materials procurement and management platform,
which is operated by Mattex Asia Development Limited, continued to
achieve progress during the Year. Contractors have been able to procure
materials even more quickly, efficiently and cost effectively through
streamlined steps and competitive prices offered through the platform. The
business has also allowed the Group to diversify its interests and enrich
income streams.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The financial position of the Group remained stable during the Year. The
Group operates a centralised treasury function to monitor its cash position,
cashflow and funding requirements, that mainly relies upon internally
generated funds as well as bank borrowings to finance its operations and
expansion, which is supplemented by equity funding when it is required.

At 31 March 2023, the total net debts of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,402.1 million, representing total debts of
approximately HK$2,822.3 million less total of cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$1,420.2 million. The debt maturity profile, based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements of the Group at 31
March 2023, is analysed as follows:

Bank borrowings and lease liabilities

RBES R BER

RAFEREEOPBAHRREEFR - AE
BETETESEENEZAER SRR - &R
EREMESHR  HEXBEENERFAS
BT RREANMESRRITENR  £FF
ERBWUETRNEE -

M2023F3A31H  AEBZ FEHBE
43 /4 1,402,100,000 7% JT + Bl & 7% 48 58 49
2,822,300,00078 TR =R & RIRTTAE SR 4258
#)1,420,200,000/8 7T ° HRIEAREEK20234F
3A3HZER MRS BT ERBE - &
BZEHHBESIIT

As at As at
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
M2023F3H31H 1202243 H31H

HKS$ million
A &5T

HKS$ million
BEETT

AT HIEE R 2 RITER A

repayable: EaERE
Within one year or on demand —FRRIZER 1,709.4 2,307.7
After one year, but within two years —FREMFA
— On demand shown under current — ARSI BEEREREER
liabilities 2 ED - 0.6
— Remaining balances —fREE 223.7 794.9
After two years, but within five years MEEZRER
— On demand shown under current —SIAREB B EFRERKER
liabilities ZE - 2.0
— Remaining balances —BRFE 887.1 13.5
Over five years AFEULE
— On demand shown under current — AR B EERERESR
liabilities ZEB - 35
— Remaining balances —EREE 2.1 20.2
Total debts BEr54a%E8 2,822.3 3,142.4

The Group has continued to implement a prudent financial management
policy, at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
Shareholders, was 0.57 (2022: 0.71).

AEBESBFBRRTHVBEERSE  ©L
2023%3H318 ' A&EBE 2 EARBELE(A]
STEEBFHEERREGER L E) B0.57
(20224 : 0.71) °
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s bank
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of the
relevant group entities. The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. Furthermore,
the Group’s bank borrowings have not been hedged by any interest rate
financial instruments.

Details of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank borrowings of
the Group as at 31 March 2023 are set out in Notes 30(b)(ii) and 33 to the
financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Notes 30(b)(ii)
and 33(d) to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 42 to
the financial statements.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 6,360 employees as at 31 March 2023.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$1,843.7 million. Employees are remunerated according to their nature
of work and the market trend, with merit-based components incorporated
in the annual increment review to reward and motivate individual
performance. Employee bonus is distributable based on the performance
of the respective divisions and the employees concerned. Moreover,
the Group also provides in-house training program and sponsorship for
external training courses which are complementary to their job functions.

To provide incentives for employees to achieve performance goals, the
Company adopted the restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 1 August 2017, pursuant to which the Company may grant
to eligible participants restricted shares of the Company, which will align
the interests of employees directly to the Shareholders through ownership
of shares of the Company. Such grant shares are acquired by the scheme
trustee on the market of the Stock Exchange and held upon trust for the
benefit of the grantees and shall become vested in the grantees upon
satisfaction of specified vesting criteria.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
(continued)

In addition, the Company had also adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme"”), under which the Directors are authorised to
grant share options to the eligible participants to subscribe for shares of the
Company for the purpose of, among other things, providing incentives and
rewards to, and recognising the contributions of, the eligible participants.
The Share Option Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 3 September 2012 and expired on 2 September 2022,
after which no further share options shall be offered or granted but the
share options granted prior to the expiry date shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Construction

In the coming year, the Group will remain highly cautious in managing the
construction operation given the various macroeconomic uncertainties, the
consequence of high interest rates, professional and labour shortages, and
inflationary pressures, among other factors. To overcome such concerns,
the Group will be directing efforts towards cost-cutting, maximising
efficiency and enhancing productivity. This will include giving serious
consideration to the relocation of certain supporting functions to lower
cost locations in Mainland China and South East Asia as part of a long-
term cost-control strategy.

Certainly, policies by the Hong Kong Government to benefit the
construction sector will go towards alleviating some of the aforementioned
concerns. The administration’s urban planning and infrastructure projects
will offer tremendous opportunities. Furthermore, the Hong Kong
Government has also sought to create a friendlier business environment
by compressing land production procedures, delivering sufficient land for
private housing development in the next five years and enhancing public-
private partnership.

Just as encouraging, the Hong Kong Government has been promoting
the development of construction technologies, fostering innovation that
leads to enhanced efficiency, productivity and safety. As one of the leaders
in advanced construction technologies such as MiC, the Group is thus
set to benefit from the industry’s long-term development. Nevertheless,
as a responsible corporate citizen, the Group works in partnership with
the Hong Kong Government in promoting the application of relevant
technologies and meeting the highest international standards, helping
accelerate the industry’s advancement.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Property Development and Assets Leasing

With the reopening of borders with Mainland China and the
implementation of certain policies by the Hong Kong Government that
are favourable for buyers, a market uptrend can be envisaged. The Group
will therefore monitor market developments closely, and timely implement
strategies that are best tailored for capitalising on the conditions.

Professional Services

As always, the Group is committed to the ongoing provision of quality
services to existing and new clients while seizing greater market share. At
the same time, it is steadfast in its determination to expand the scope of
professional services so as to develop additional income streams and seize
fresh opportunities. With the shortage of labour and labour costs steadily
increasing, the Group will remain cautious.

Non-franchised Bus Services

With the reopening of borders between Mainland China and Hong
Kong, the Group will look forward to capturing opportunities from the
revival of the tourism sector via its tourism-related bus services. This
will involve efforts at expanding the customer base, which in turn will
increase the utilisation rate of the Group’s bus fleet and improve the
margin and profitability of the non-franchised bus business. Based on
current developments, the management is optimistic about the segment'’s
performance as revenue contributions from tourism-related bus services
will be recorded in the coming full financial year.

Medical Technology and Healthcare

The Group is optimistic about prospects for the medical technology and
healthcare business given the increasing demand for PET drugs in Hong
Kong and the Greater Bay Area. Accordingly, it will seek to expand HKCL's
business scope, through leveraging its second laboratory to increase
production capacity and expand product portfolio, acquiring new clients.
The Group will further expand its local market share, as well as the
development of related businesses. In terms of regional development, the
Group will prioritise the expansion of Southeast Asia.

Other Business

The Group is constantly looking for profitable ventures that facilitate the
diversification of operations and expansion of income streams. While
heeding current macroeconomic developments, it will continue to examine
opportunities in a prudent manner with the objective of enhancing
shareholder value.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Conclusion

In the post-pandemic, the Hong Kong economy has commenced a
gradual recovery, though the pace of such recovery will invariably be
affected by political and economic developments around the world. Also
a determinant will be consumer confidence, which should improve in the
wake of the reopening of borders with Mainland China and the relaxation
of travel restrictions globally. The Group is therefore cautiously optimistic
about business prospects, and will seek cost management and efficiency
enhancement to support its development. At the same time, it will continue
to work in tandem with the Hong Kong Government in enhancing
efficiency with respect to construction and infrastructure development. By
doing so, the Hong Kong construction industry will also be better equipped
to capture development opportunities both locally and in cities across the
Greater Bay Area.

Now that the shadow of the pandemic has lifted, the management trusts
that Hong Kong will face a more prosperous and bright future. Amid a new
dawn, the Group will make every effort to drive growth, deliver satisfactory
returns and create long-term value for stakeholders.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE - HENRERME

INTRODUCTION

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of CSR. The
business sector is placing an increasing emphasis on CSR performance,
particularly in the aspects of safety and health, sustainable development,
community impact and law and regulatory compliance. We understand that
we do not operate our business in isolation from our society. Employees,
suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general community are
all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which the Group transacts
the business.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding its CSR
issues. The Board takes overall responsibilities for ESG matters and, with
reference to the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs"),
integrate the objectives, strategies, priorities and goals into the Company’s
operation. To support the Board'’s oversight and systematic management
of the ESG issues, working group is established with the responsibilities
of implementing strategies, issues management, data collection and
report preparation. The working group shall provide ESG updates to the
Board at least once a year. Besides, the Audit Committee focuses on ESG
risks control, internal monitoring mechanisms, performance review and
evaluation and reporting to the Board. The recommendations are reviewed
and approved by the Board for various departments to implement ESG
performance accordingly.

Through the materiality assessment, we have addressed and prioritised ESG
issues and potential climate physical and transitional risks that are both
financially material to the Company and stakeholders. With our objectives
of ensuring the Company’s sustainability and introducing strategic decision
making, the Board committed to develop an effective reporting framework
to connect with the public, the Company prepared a CSR report and an
ESG report annually.

As a responsible corporation, we recognise that compliance, health and
safety, quality of work and climate change pose a significant risks to our
business, reputation and financial performance. Our working group is
aware of the existing opportunities for innovation and thereby we drive the
implementation of sustainability strategy and wide range measure including
investment in renewable energy and safety innovation and implementation
of our roadmap to green and low carbon construction. A brand-new set of
VMV (Vision, Mission & Core Values) clearly reflects the Group’s corporate
culture in the implementation of sustainable development.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

BOARD STATEMENT (continued)

EERBE#®)

Compliance

e

ik

Continuously enhance prevention of legal risks, abide by all local laws, regulations and related
policies where the business operates and ensure the interests of the Group
FEIREZRR B TIE  BTEBRLEMEMHNRIER  ZRMEBABRRAREARAEER

Safety

zF serious incidents and prosecutions

It has always been first in our priority, we maintain precise management to prevent injuries,

RERE— HIHRBEEE  HIE BEFHNFLREAR

Quality
BE

BfSEI AR T E A REEEE R AR

We keep evaluating and improving the Group's quality management system

Green and
Low Carbon
Construction

BeEpEsE

Continuously conserve and utilise resources, reduce the negative environmental impact, maximise
the number of renewable energy use and performance, therefore reducing the carbon emissions
of construction through the new building technology and our energy management
FEWRERFNATEBTHL  RAOERBNAETE [ RRESATEERRER R
Bt - FEFRTEL AR KR AL IR B IR AR D B SR AR BE R

To strengthen the credibility of the data of this report, we have engaged
Accredited Certification International Limited (“ACI"”) as independent
carbon auditor. ACI conducted the verification with regard to the data
of emissions and use of resources, which included assessment of data,
monitoring system and reporting plan or protocol. This assessment
included collection of evidence of reported data and checking of whether
the provisions of the protocol reference were consistently and appropriately
applied.

We also implemented different kind of management systems and
have arranged training courses on various international standards, e.g.
ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management System, 1SO 45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management System and ISO 50001:2018
Energy Management System to enhance sustainability performance.

Internally, we have always been committed to organise activities to
promote ESG behaviors, for example, recycling workshops, “Green”
public activities and becoming a “Green” volunteer, etc. We designated
coloured recycling bins for different wastes and make them accessible to
all employees. We also encouraged employees to share testimonials about
resources conservation. In our construction sites, we developed advance
technology and material to optimise construction process and safety
working environment, and also encouraged our staff to rush to “Green”
opportunities such as reusing or recycling of waste and waste management
in order to achieve our environmental management practices and subject
to continuous improvement.

RIBAREZHBENAEE  RADES
B R A RALA R R ([ BB AR ) 1F
A RERTED o BlER R R AL HE R A
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9 [Be I AKREHRKAEE |RTER
g - MERRE - g REARMIT ° WML
Aremi o EoEY - SHERHAE R
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BOARD STATEMENT (continued)

In the post-pandemic era, we have been closely monitored the conditions
of our staff and provided solutions especially in health care aspect. In the
practice of social responsibility, efforts shall be focused on connection with
community such as home visiting, distribution of caring bags and bay clean
event.

Throughout the challenging year of 2022, the Company has made
towards fulfilling its commitment to sustainability and drive business
success by focusing on ESG performance. We surely will continue to drive
improvements in our ESG activities and create long-term value for our
stakeholders and customers.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group tries its utmost best to communicate with the stakeholders
through various communication channels such as surveys and interviews
and had incorporated their feedback into the process of identifying the
material topics, which act as the foundation of formulating long term ESG
strategies as well as a strong reference to this report.

Following the communication with our senior management and the
stakeholders, we assessed ESG issues relevant to the Group by considering
their importance to our stakeholders. During the Year, five material aspects
were identified in the assessment, including Training and Development,
Employee Health and Safety, Environmental Performance, Innovation and
Product/Service Responsibility.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, which mainly covers the Group’s principal business activities in
Hong Kong during the Year. The four key subject areas in this ESG Report
cover: (I) Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental Protection, (lll) Operating
Practices and (IV) Community Involvement, which is aligned with the SDGs
advocated by United Nations. A total of 12 out of 17 SDGs are in relevance
with our ESG strategic areas, which will be presented in the corresponding
section of this ESG Report.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY
TERIEE =X

We recognise that employees
are valuable assets to the Group
and embrace the philosophy of
investing in people by providing
them with a range of training
programs that can enhance their
professional skills and knowledge.
We are also committed to
maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment for all
employees as well as implementing
equal opportunity employment
practices.

BHRMNBEERAEENESESR
B WRARERATHED [
IRt — RO RS E H ¥ KR
NABEOIEERTE - HAITBOR
REBREEFLRERBEMNTIE
RE  UREBTFEREHEE
o

OPERATING PRACTICES
&EEH

We are committed to solve problems
by intelligence and fulfil customer
satisfaction by developing and
adopting innovation and technology
in operation and providing high
quality products and services, with
complying with internationally
recognised standards, endeavoring
to be a dynamic and responsible
enterprise.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

RIERE

Being a responsible corporation and
main contractor in the construction
industry, environmental protection
is one of the top focuses to develop
a green and sustainable city and
community.

EARENDERBEEENE B
2 RERENERESEUFZE
BEREMEAMEANEEESZ— -

CLEAN WATER
AAND SANITATION

v

TERARKF B4R HE

II ‘SUSTAINABLE CITIES
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CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION
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BNEHEREE
13 CLIMATE
ACTION

4

RIRTTEN

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

HESEH

We care about the sustainable
development and wellness of the
neighbouring community where
we operate in.
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY

Our People

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 6,360 employees
with the majority stationed in Hong Kong. The Company adopted
a diversity policy to promote diversity of workforce of the Company
(including management) to enhance the effectiveness of corporate
governance of the Company as a whole. The Company considers the
concept of diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such
as professional experiences, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background and ethnicity.
Employment is based on merit and attributes that the selected
candidates will bring to the Group to complement and expand the
competencies, experience and perspectives, taking into account the
vision, mission and core values of the Group.

As women are taking up an increasingly important role in the society,
we have established two different programs, WomenLeaders@CW
and Dream Girls, to enhance the professional image of women in the
construction industry and the public’s understanding of the industry.
Chun Wo Ladies’ Club is also set up to give bonding and supports
to all female staff. Membership is opened to all monthly female staff
of the Company. Chun Wo Ladies’ Club actively searches various
discount offers or organises different seminars or interest class for
members every month, members are also entitled to free body check
once per year. The Company will take opportunities to increase
the proportion of female members over time when selecting and
making recommendations on suitable candidates for employment.
The Company ensures that appropriate balance of gender diversity is
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation.

()

TERREEE

EMANET

HZE2023FE3A31H  "EENAE
6,360%1EE  ABAHRES - AR
TR Z AL - DMBERARE L
(BIEEHEE)NZEE - {imREAARD
RIBRBOEEANEE - ARAFEE
ZILNBSEEEZ T E » IEEK
B - LRAT - BEE - M MRl F
B XUEAHBE B S UNER - ZEE
REEMES  FakZoEE - ER
THiRIE ATER RIE A S AREE AR
EBENKER - A IR AR EERLE
7 BB RARE o

BEELMEMTEMNEREEE RS
& 37 Womenleaders@CW Fr £2 £ 77 4
HAEGE - BERSEBEELENE
¥R EEMAREITENRZ - BT
T E Ty ERERIRE S
RABIKIL T EBIE  SREMEA
HZHEBT  -ReEARETAEE
IR RS EEE TR E B
LEBY - 2B EEEBF —REE
FERE - ARREEERERAEN
PEEANER - B SEINEK BRI
Bl o RARBRD2BIFMHEMNIPL - @&
B EMRIZTl e

Lt 1aEEEE

C &
WEIMEN

eaders

Dream Girls

WomenLeaders@CW EETE

Female-related Programs

Chun Wo Ladies’ Club
epre
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ()

Our People (continued)

Employment Statistics

EREs3IE

2022/23
Gender Bl
Male B 67.3%
Female Z 32.7%
Employment Type EE 5
Top Management? BEEEAS? 0.8%
Middle Management?  FREEIEA 82 4.5%
Supervisory FE 13.6%
Operation BIEAEB 81.1%
Age Group FleAER
Below 30 30BRA T 14.1%
30-50 30-507% 34.7%
Above 50 S0BRA L 51.2%
Geographical Region &
Hong Kong BB 95.5%
PRC H 0%
Overseas B 4.5%

the Year
EERKETDNENAFTERBOREES ABRUREFERNEE AMGTHE

~

202223 FEBM R LIEL B A76.0% F24.0% ¢ T2021/22FE 81/479.7%520.3%

w

2022/23F E B MR LIELL G £81.0% 1219.0% ¢ M2021/22F E A A83.4% 1. 16.6%

Working Conditions

To attract, motivate and retain talents, the Group regularly reviews
our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure our benefits
are competitive in the market. With reference to prevailing market
conditions, a review is conducted annually on the pay packages
of employees and other employment benefits, which include the
medical scheme, health check program, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits.

2021/22

68.8%
31.2%

0.9%
4.7%
13.9%
80.5%

13.5%
36.5%
50.0%

95.3%
0.1%
4.6%

THEEREEE®)

EMENET(®)

Employee Turnover Rate’
EERLER

2022/23 2021/22
21.4% 23.4%
20.1% 22.0%
14.0% 6.8%
32.2% 31.2%
30.6% 27.1%
18.7% 21.9%
33.7% 44.9%
23.3% 25.5%
15.9% 15.2%
20.0% 22.0%

0% 0%
42.2% 41.7%

Employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of separation employees in the Year by the number of employees at the end of

The ratio for male and female are 76.0% and 24.0% for 2022/23; and 79.7% and 20.3% for 2021/22

The ratio for male and female are 81.0% and 19.0% for 2022/23; and 83.4% and 16.6% for 2021/22

TR

RS B RBREAT - AEEEH
et B T R AR FEt 8l - ARER I
MEMNRTS LEEHRFN - KBEE
AT ISR - A5 B 5 & 5 R 8 #r oM
REMERRENGE - 2E8RTE -
et dl - iR - SEUINRRE SRR
BA -
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERBEEZ®

Training and Development

Training

Continuous learning is one of our core values. The Group’s support
in training and development applies to staff of all levels. We have
been offering training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage
self-improvement in a learning organisation since 2005. Employees
are provided with comprehensive in-house training and sponsorships
for external training courses including seminars, workshops, visits and
demonstrations to enhance their skills and knowledge for performing
their duties more effectively and promoting personal development.

Talent is the most important asset in the Company. We value the
cultivation of our staff as we believe they can help the Company
go further and become more successful in construction and other
industries. Since 1999, the Group’s Chun Wo Construction and
Engineering Company Limited has been certified by the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers as a Scheme A Graduate Training approved
organisation in the Civil, Building, Building Services and Structural
disciplines. We have also established “AAl Academy” to provide
diversified and comprehensive training programs to nurture and
gather high-flying talents from different professional areas for the
sustainable development of the Group.

Trained Employees
ZiIEE

EIIRER

b=

FESTERRMNZOEEZ — - A&
B FEREIHEIIRER - 1B
200552 R B TIRMIIZIIER) - M
EETRNEBRRETEREE - &
B AR AR I K B B2 inSMNEEE
JIRTE - BEMEE - TEY - Rk
TRELARE) - DARFHRRE R IR A - 1
ME AR ETRS MIE EARE -

AT BAERRREENEE - HMER
BIRIEE - BEERMAEE @ KERE
BARRBESER - WERERAMIT
FHUSE RHBITN - B19994F#E » AR
EETHERMEETIRERARESS
TREMZeREFLALA B8 BEFE
M AEE R RN TR E XA BT 2R
AR o FAPIIRECIZ AAI Academy ]
EEREZ T R2ENFIRE - B
AEENAIFHEEREE REERET
FIBEBHNESAT o

Average Training Hours

per Employee (Hours)

BSEEEVIIZIRHNE)

2022/23

2021/22

2022/23 2021/22

5.3
4.2

4.1
2.5

Male B 67.6% 83.4%
Female pogid 32.4% 16.6%
Top Management =EEEAE 1.6% 1.0%
Middle Management ~ FEEIRAES 10.6% 5.7%
Supervisory *E 23.1% 12.9%
Operation BRIEAE 64.7% 80.4%
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IRIE - HERERRE
() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERRER®
Training and Development (continued) BIIRERE)
Training (continued) BFINE)

&  GLAD Program for accounting trainees & GLADEFTEZ4ERE

&  Core Program &  OEE

&  Elite Program & FEHEE

&  Women Leaders Program & LMELEWETE

&  Young Professional Program & BEHEEASE

&  Graduate/Freshman Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors &  TH2RT, THUBISMMEELE F A2

&  Design Engineer Program & REtIEAMEE

&  Technical Apprentice Program & RS a

&  Site Agent Development Program &  HEEEERTE

&  Sub Agent Program & BlEEE

& Construction Industry Council Training Academy Program & BEEEEgIARERE
&  Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme & EEEAEEIEE
&  Advanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme &  ERTEEIEE
&  Construction Tradesman Collaborative Training Scheme &  BERIAESEIEE
&  Enhanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme &  {bLEEFEA NGRS

&  Building Information Modelling Program & BHEEBEEE

&  Building Frontline Training Program &  EFRIREEE

&  Financial Training & REI

&  Mentorship Program &  ZahEtEl

&  Internship Program & EEBEE

e
|
—
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Training and Development (continued)
Development

()

Beside career development, we place great value on the development
of physical and psychological well-being of our employees. The
Group aspires to reach work-life balance for its employees, and thus
we encourage colleagues to take part in volunteering, recreational
and sporting activities at leisure in the hope of helping them relax
and strengthening the team spirit. For demonstrating team spirit,
promoting harmonious message and fostering regular exercise habit,
our basketball team and soccer team regularly hold friendly matches
with our joint venture partners. In addition, we provide opportunity
for colleagues to connect each other casually at tea time “Happy
Friday” every month in offices and sites.

THEREBEZ )
EYRBEE)
%R

BRBZEERAIN RATEEERER
FOURENER - AKEFEE B
THETERAE 2 MERFE - Bit
BB R EETHREMSEET 42
LLRERE  NHEBBARES O
KngEEiate - RREEKBE 5
BMEASRERERESEE - M
RYEEERE & R BRCE B & 2 R HETT
RiEE - 1o BPIEAREIEER
HA XS ERAERMBNREE

ERHEOR -

Staff Caring Programs £ TR & 5t &

We have set up a “Caring Hotline”
for our staff to request for helping,
enquiring information and
expressing opinions
BRMERY[FRRE | FETEB

HESRNE EHEMRKEERR

B|rthday (’) Marriage and
ﬁhn_ll New Birth

We provide care to our staff in specific circumstances.
RN EBROE TRMEAE -

Specific Circumstances 4 E15%

@—\ Ret|rement Hospitalisation
or InJury

Death
i

EIERET
@ @ Care BAE1TH)

0 Birthd Souvenlr Caring call @ Flower
' c;rd ai{j . CGcl,prOn . o @ and fruit wreath and
@ 4 coupon basket condolence

ERE B I

77 RR&E 1EH
e Big
In recognition of the Group's efforts and accomplishments in BREALSBEANEIIRERAEN

manpower training and development, the Group members have been
awarded the following accreditations by the Employees Retraining

BHRKEL - AEEKER
BIRETIATEE

AEREEH

Board:
Name of Company Status/Award
NCIEZE &% %E
Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited &  Manpower Developers
EMEREBBR AR AT R
City Services Group Limited &  ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme
ARG EE AR A E ERBAA (¥ 5= aTat &l
&  ERB Excellence Award for Employers
ERBH: B F FE AR
&  ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme Grand Prize Award
ERBAA X F eI EI B E A
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Employee Health and Safety

By integrating internationally-recognised 1SO 9001, I1SO 14001
and I1SO 45001 certifications into our quality, environmental and
occupational safety and health management systems respectively,
the Group demonstrates our compliance with health and safety
standards. The Group’s “PDCA" system further ensures all

individuals and teams exert themselves to meet the
statutory requirements and to achieve the ultimate
goal of continuous improvement.

We are aware of the significance of workplace
safety. To maintain the occupational safety
standards in our construction operations,
we have introduced a safety audit system
designed to monitor the effectiveness of our
safety management system. For the year of 2022,
the corporate average safety audit score — physical
condition was 87.5% (2021: 86.4%), exceeding the target
of 85.5%.

In 2022, all safety indicators were in line with our objectives. In
particular, the target of the accident frequency rate of construction
work within past 5 years has been met, reflecting our dedication and
achievements in construction site safety and excellent and consistent
occupational safety performance.

Accident Frequency Rate (per 100,000 man-hours)
BE (BHEIR)

l! 0.070 | 0.057 || 0.097

2022

2018 2019 2020 2021

Continuous
Improvement

FERE

()

THEREEZR#®)
BERERZE
AEBEBTRRERLDIZE DB
B FR F2 A #Y1SO 9001 ~ ISO 14001 KISO
45001 RBEELAERE BREMBEL
ENERERERS - NEEAPDCA]
RE— SRR BEANMEBREES
NEBTETBN - WEBSEES
ML BRZ -

BAFMIERRELZE2 Y
BB - AREELEF
WIEERELRIZE
BOED TR E:EHE
AEERLZ2EEZHNK
B R2022F - EFHE
PEZIH—ERRNAE8T.5%
(20214 : 86.4%) * fRiB85.5%H B
ZHE o

R2022% - AL EIRIFHERFINE
AR o B - TIRIEE BINRRNBE
SEHEMER  RREMAH TRNR
RENERM AN —B 2 HA R
RERR -

®

2022 Target B1E
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Employee Health and Safety (continued)

We are fully aware of certain risks of safety and health of workers in
construction sites and hence a series of measures have been put in
place at various construction project sites to protect the safety and
health of workers.

Protection Measures

REEETE

() THEREEZ@

BEERERZR(#E)
BAVENT AR MR TIEBE— 0
EREZ2ER - ERAESETRE
B AR HE  — R B - SURFE T A S
2o REEE o

Mini Health Check Stations Heat Shelters and Water Morning Exercise

NG BEAR S U Sprinklers on Rooftops FREE)
R TE DNEE PR ZVIR S Bk 28
N
R 2N

4

Ensure workers are at
optimal state

BRETENREMRE

REHRER

Number of Fatality and Fatality Rate
(No. of work-related fatalities/1,000 workers)

RTAERETE
(AT/EBEMET AR 1,0008TA)

0% 0% 0%

(0/1,000) 2020 (0/1,000) 2021 (0/1,000) 2022

Staff’s health and safety are always our top priority, therefore we
applied the Zoono treatment regularly in our offices during the
pandemic, which was effective against over 100 common pathogens,
in order to protect our environmental safety by creating a long term
sterile environment.
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Dissipate heat gain

!o
Alert workers of the
potential injuries and
ways of prevention
RESTIEEZERER
AR TG $E i

7

Lost days due to work injury

RAIEERTERH
2020 ‘ 2021 ‘ 2022
552 415 473

BIMBRERZEKESHMELEE
MEIE - BRMERIEHE T A0
NE#ITZoon0HE - HEREMEBR
1008 % AR E - NAIERBERENR
B RERELZSE -
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () THERBEEZ®

Health and Safety Policies

The safety and health of all our employees are of paramount
importance to the Group. Thus, our senior management places a
strong emphasis on our employees’ safety and health. Our security
and facility management divisions also follow a well-structured
management system and conduct annual audit to ensure that we
meet the international standards. The companies under the divisions
have received accreditations in ISO 45001 occupational health
and safety management system awarded by approved certification
bodies.

Our non-franchised bus services division has abided by the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and also ensure that
reasonable working hours are allotted to the drivers and provide
enough rest time to them for maintaining good spirits.

The Group has also set up an effective occupational health and safety
management system conforming to the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings (Safety Management) Regulation and ISO 45001
requirements. Related guidelines are stated in the Group's safety

policy.

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. In order to achieve this goal, we encourage
all employees to take the responsibility and comply with the systems,
policies, manuals, procedures and working rules such as wearing
personal protective equipment and reporting violations of regulatory
requirements or orders.

BERZZBER

HAEBEMS  SLREENTENERE
HEEEZ - At aBEEABES
ERBMEENZ 2 RMERE - ZFINR
ZREBEBSHNET—ELBE TS
WER RGBT FEEER - IR
FIFFABRRIEE - ZHIH THRRIEE
SR RILMER F1S0 45001 B 2 (2
BERLZ2ERRERE -

BPHEEEEL o HEETRESL S
KA2FRAGE) - TR A TR AIE -
YR FIFAFEIRERERE - ARFR
S EORBIIRRE -

AEENMEBERTIHRE TELCE (Z2E
1) 3R 21SO 450013R E RS2 T B
BERERLEEERS - BEESIH
RAEENLZEZIEA -

BAMREEZMERBHNREE 22K
BRRETER  TARERHZ2ESE
MTIERE - RERLBERET - HA=E
EREAZREELETABGE - K
o FM - EFRIERA flME
BEARERE R ERE R EERERIE
THEE -

&  No violence in the workplace & MBEIIESTRHREN
&  No sexual harassment and discrimination & HEUERERER
&  An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace & BEEESHIERSR
& A non-smoking workplace & EETIERER
&  Immediate reporting of accidents & BIREREINER
&  Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working procedures & REHAEZERTIEEF
& Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings & BREEBRZEMNIERIZHE
& Security of property and safety inspection & MERLZRLZEKE
TNBERZERERAT 2022235 55
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TEREEZ#)
Safety and Health Awards ZEREERE

In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 55
safety and health awards, proving our effective implementation of
occupational safety and health management system throughout

various divisions in the Group. i -

The 28th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

F28E N BB E

Development Bureau and Construction Industry Council
BREMEEXES

@

@

@

Public Works — New Works — Considerate Contractors Site Awards (1 Bronze Award and 1 Merit Award)
TITHIR-FEIE - AEMEEIERRR I THERR)

Public Works — New Works — Outstanding Environmental Management and Performance Awards (2 Merit Awards)
IBIR-FEIRE-AERREEERQEERR)

Public Works — New Works — Innovation Awards for Safety and Environmental Management and
Performance Awards (Merit Award)

THIRE-FEIR-RERREFUAFR(ERE)

Public Works — New Works — Model Worker
ITHEIR-FREIRE-EHITR

Public Works — New Works — Model Frontline Supervisor
ITHIR-—FRIRE - EHARIINEET

Public Works — New Works — Model Subcontractor Frontline Supervisor
IHRIR-—FREIRE - EHOBHARIET

The 23rd Construction Safety Award
FLBEEEXZEAR

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BEZ2EER

&

@

Best Safety Enhancement Program for Confined Space (Bronze Award)
HEZHAEELIEL2NERTEI(IH5R)

Outstanding Metal Scaffolder in Occupational Safety and Health (2 Bronze Awards and 1 Merit Award)
BEESeBMET (2B 1IBERLE)

Outstanding Power Operated Elevating Platform Worker in Occupational Safety and Health (2 Merit Awards)
B EREHE NIREARTIERIRIER QIBERER)

Outstanding Supervisor of Confined Space Works in Occupational Safety and Health (Merit Award)
BREHRACHITEEBEAB(BRHR)

Outstanding Lifting Operation Team in Occupational Safety and Health (Silver Award)
B2 (AR 80 8 TIEEI K (3R 52)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TEREBEEZE®)
Safety and Health Awards (continued) TEREBEREH)

The 21st Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health Award

FLETBMERZR/EAR

Occupational Safety and Health Council
BEZEHRER

& OSH Annual Report Award (Bronze Award)
B FRmAE(HEE)

& Safety Management System Award — 5S Good Housekeeping Best Practices Award (Construction) (Silver Award)
ZERERHERE-SSTIESMERRETERR(REXAR)(RE)

& Safety Management System Award (Construction Industry) (Bronze Award)
LZRERGIERECGRESEAR) (F188)

&> Best OSH Video Performance Award (Merit Award)
BEBZRERBEAR(ERLE)
& Safety Performance Award — Rookie Safety Performance Award (Construction Industry) (Outstanding Award)

RERAANE-R2R[HFEROEERAR)) (FHE)

& 13 Safety Performance Awards (Outstanding Award)
13ERERFAE(LEL )

Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme (2022-2023)

BIEX R 2 RAEE(2022-2023)

Labour Department

BT

& Civil Engineering Sites (Silver Prize)
TARTIREE AR (SR EE)

¢ Civil Engineering Sites — Outstanding Performance in Work-at-height Safety Award
TARTRRZEMS - SERELIERERIE

& Outstanding Frontline Foremen
RIEAGEL

&> Minor Renovation and Maintenance Works — Certificate of Good Performance
HEREETRE-RITRRAFE

& Safe Workers
ZE2TR

& Safety Teams (1 Silver Prize, 3 Meritorious Prizes and 1 Certificate of Good Performance)

ZE2HM(1ARE  SREEENMIARFRRES)

DMBAEZERARADGF 2022235
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TERBEEZ®
Safety and Health Awards (continued) TEREBEREH)

HKCA Construction Safety Awards
EEEEHEREXRE AR

Hong Kong Construction Association

EREENE

& 3 HKCA Proactive Safety Contractor Awards
SEBERBRER G RERE T2 ARG A

& 6 Safe Person-in-Charge Awards
bR ETEAR

Construction Site Safety Award 2022
Tith % 252 Bat #2022

Civil Engineering and Development Department
TARIEERE

& Construction Site Safety Award (Bronze Award)
Tz s K4E(8R4E)

¢ Innovation Award for Site Safety (Merit Award)
BlFr T e NE(BRR)

Hong Kong Green Awards 2022

BERZELEKR2022

Green Council
RIREES

& Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation) (4 Bronze Awards and 1 Merit Award)
BERRTRERE(RADCE) (4TBIRNER 1TERLE)

Safety Quiz 2022
[#iE+ 22 [FE #2022

Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers
EREEEMSRY

& Team Competition (Champion and 2 Merit Awards)
BERE(EER2IBERLE)

17th Occupational Health Award 2021-22
SE17 /BB SR fR B X 88202122

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BEZ2EER

& 4 Joyful at Healthy Workplace Best Practices Awards (Enterprise/Organisation Category)
ATBIF VB @R TR KSR (b2 /HerE/a)

Life First Campaign 2022
[ERE— 120222 2 HEEFD

Construction Industry Council
EEEEE

& Merit Award
BRERE
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Safety Activities

To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety and
health standards, we have developed an evaluation questionnaire to
collect feedback from the participants of all meetings, seminars and

forums.

The Group encourages employees to participate in occupational
safety and health activities and voluntary services and share expertise
and information not only with colleagues but also fellow workers
in the Hong Kong construction industry. To actively promote the
awareness of occupational safety throughout the Group, a range of
safety activities, including safety workshops, special safety seminars

and community activities, were organised during the Year.

A safety training centre called “Chun Wo Safe Zone” has been
established which consists of 5 training zones to simulate the major
causes of accidents at construction sites. Participants can enhance
their safety awareness and improve their work safety behaviour by
attending the “Behavioural Change Safety Training” (“BCST"”). All
Chun Wo employees and subcontractors’ workers, who working on

site, must be the holder of valid certificate of BCST.

The Group has also adopt a centralised toolbox training called
“Web Talk”, which is an occupational safety and health, quality and
environmental training targeted for frontline workers and supervisors
for duration of not more than 15 minutes on each topic related to
different construction site activities, which conducted by respective
staffs of head office’s Compliance Department every week via the

video conferencing.

Through these activities, all participants have improved their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety and health,
quality and environmental. Furthermore, they exchanged ideas and
helped to promote the occupational safety and health, quality and

environmental culture in the Group.

()

TEREBEEZ(#)

Z2EE
BREERFIEARETS R EEEE
LB ERTERENS  NERE
3% e RHEh MR EE R
B8

AEEZEE T2EBER 2 RERE
B L ERERT - SRR EARFERE
ERNTIRDZFEXRMBLEN - /&
BRASEESBEL2EH - RN
AEERRTLARDEY  BRELE
TEY ~ FRlZ 2Mat g RitRag -

AEBERLRZEEIF O EMEZE
Wi | B BESEEIR - R
WRBIEHNEEXE - 2HERE
B2 RE2TRESIRREI([R2
TREZIRREDRELE2EHRLN
ETHEREITR - AR TIENE
MEBEDHE T ABBERERUNL
EITRNFIRRIZES -

REBNCRBE A BIREE IHHR
TEMETEY - HEHEARTARE
ENRHELTERER ZEEaRREE
H - BIEEISENBIBI150E - =8
HEAERERFSERE - THEEL
HERAPINEBASSERBRES
HHETT
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LENER - BEMREERANILE
MERAANGE o LSl - MPIRORER - Xt
PRAEERNSHRELEMER &
ERRBXIE -
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()

()

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Compliance with Employment Laws

We have adopted the comprehensive Employee Handbook for
employees of the Group and review the policies from time to time to
ensure that we comply with the Employment Ordinance in respect
of employment protection and benefits for employees. Our human
resource functions of different business units also observe the
departmental manuals so as to ascertain that they adhere to legal
and regulatory requirements throughout the recruitment process,
and to avoid the employment of illegal labour or child and forced
labour.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any non-compliance
cases involving illegal labour or child and forced labour, and complied
with all relevant laws and regulations relating to employment and
labour practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental Stewardship

In view of the growing greenhouse effect and climate change,
energy conservation, carbon reduction and minimising pollution have
become global issue that could affect any one of us. As a responsible
corporate citizen, the Group has established policies and measures
to minimise pollution, efficiently utilise energy, reduce waste and
expand recycling practices in our operation. Risk-based thinking,
lifecycle perspective and mitigation have been incorporated into our
management system to address the latest environmental challenges.
The Group has established effective environmental management
systems in compliance with internationally-recognised I1SO 14001 and
ISO 50001 standards. Committed to the core values of the Group,
we have become the members of various environmental protection
groups and actively supported these organisations.

The Company has adopted the climate change policy, which outlines
the commitment of the Company to address the climate challenges
by minimising pollution and protecting the environment by reducing
waste generation and carbon footprint and enhancing recycling;
making efficient use of resources; providing and promoting green
building solutions and methodologies; and supporting the adoption
of renewable energy to reduce the carbon footprint, etc.

We developed a “Chun Wo Environmental Handbook” and
distributed to all project staff from management to frontline level.
This handbook summarises the Group’s environmental policy, local
statutory requirements and related mitigation measures which act
as “one stop” guidelines to facilitate staff to deliver our services and
products across a wide spectrum of compliance and risk management
matters.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23

()

(1)

TEREBEEZ(#)
BrHEREH

BB AAEENESFELENES
MR T R IR LRI
A R R IR (8 B ie FI M E 16
Bl o B PR EI TS B A H BB ER IR
ERHPIEM - RN EEREERE
A ERREREE - AR BIER
SR T o8 T MBI A E -

MAEE - AEEY B[RS MIE
EBTHET MRESPHERER
WE BT YA RBRRE NS THEENE
B NOER, ©

RERE
RAEE

ERNRERERRIEE( B - 515
R KR TS R E R AR P B B R
NEIREE - EREEMDRELAR - K
SEDHIETECR RGN - L EER
RFEASE - BRIEREER - RE K
BEOYHEE - BPIEREERFSEA
Bl AR B4 £ BB RE
BN - AR R FT A IR IB RS, - K
SEEIRRBEERAAISO 14001 KIS0
S5000112%  FVEBMREERER
7 RAENMAZEARREEK AT E
WHEBZHEEES W EBRAREE
Az MEBIE -

ARRIEHEREE(CBOR - EHMA
RAPEBR D BEME LM R LR
BRBEARDISRERERE A
ERER  RELEREEEERRTT
BRITE  RXFFRAABERR - A
AR R N5 77 7 A B R IR Bk B 2 7

bt
ah °©

HAEHEMEMBRIRFMILIRETE
BEERRNPIBARE BT - 2T fi#
AAEBERBEER - AHAGIE R R
MR - BRI — U HEsl - &
EETHEPREZNARLEREES
HOIER MRERS MEM



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RBERE @)

Waste and Resources Management BEYRERER

Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to reduce BR L EEBERIEMEREE - B
waste production and enhance recycling. With the continuation BAETHAEEEYEIRERE - ZEE)
of our environmental protection measures, in view of the current RFERIREARERER 2 8 M F
business environment and nature and period of construction B AEBRERTRRERE  BTA
project, the Group targets to achieve a 5% drop in emissions and 02 FHBFRERSRENREE - &
resources used per HK$ million revenue for every five financial years REEEETREBL5%MHENE R
commencing from the financial year of 2021. BRERA -

Waste Management Hierarchy
BEYEERE

Top Priority Last Priority
BE% REEE

& <] Cl2)
N N

Avoidance and Reuse of Recovery and Treatment Disposal
Minimization Materials Recycling B RE
BRREERD EAME B R B IR B &
2022/23 2021/22
Tonnes Tonnes
L} 7]
Waste recycled at public fill
A G | S T 502,065 421,698
R RRIBERHER B S EEY)
Soil reused by other project
353,696
AR B B AL 285,943
Timber/paper/cardboard recycled (non-office waste) 159 30
BIRBERAM, BB GERAEED)
Paper recycled (office paper)
R N 0.37 0.57
BERBEERGHAZRA)
Concrete recycled
1 = A @ 8,142 7,544
EIRBERRLT
Metal recycled
/T T 1,240 4,179
BIREESE
Plastic recycled
o 46
BRAESEE 8
Total Waste Recycled and Reused
2 N N 865,348 719,402
BYERBERERAS
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(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) ) RBRE»)
Waste and Resources Management (continued) BYIRERESIE &)

Examples of Waste Recycled and Reused

BYERBERERLF

Rocks, Soils, Concrete, Metal
AR BE CBELE - &8
Construction and Demolition T2 1 HEEY

Other Construction Sites Efth725E T ith
Paving Bricks $#3% &

Expired Safety Helmets BHi I R 2 5EE
Damaged Water Barriers 183 9K BE[E
Traffic Cones X BZEHH

v
e T e T e O e T s T e Y e T e O e T s T e N e N s N e Y e N e R e Y s N e N e Y s O e N e T s O e N e Y e I e By §
g SETSTE 4
£ 0 0 0 0 o0 Q.:Recycleﬂ'ﬁiaﬁaa O 0 0 0 O
LS g e g g S S S g S S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S R S g e
M

Plastic Strip/Pellet B{& BX

Recycled and Reused Over 95% of Construction Waste
BIRBERERZNI5%H) TIZREY

Disposed Less Than 5% Waste Generated

FEE DN %H D EEREY

Reduce Waste Production and Enhance Recycling
DB A RER RGN EIR B i

Decrease Pressure on Landfill Disposal

S HEIE | 1) BR )

® ® ® ®
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(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Waste and Resources Management (continued)

“The Producer Responsibility Scheme on Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment” covers air-conditioners, refrigerators, washing
machines, television, computers, printers, scanners and monitors,
our suppliers must be registered with Environmental Protection
Department (“EPD") before distributing the above listed equipment.
Our supplier must fulfill other statutory obligations such as the
periodic submission of returns to the EPD, payment of recycling levies
and providing recycling labels when distributing regulated electrical
equipment.

The Mercury Control Ordinance aims to fully implement the
Minamata Convention on Mercury in Hong Kong, with a view to
protect human health and the environment from anthropogenic
emissions of mercury and mercury compounds. The Company has
strictly complied with the relevant ordinance when dealing with the
pollutant. In addition, infrequent hazardous waste from demolition
of old structures or equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for
less than 0.001% of the total waste generated has been separated
and treated in accordance with local regulations.

Managing Resources and Energy Use in an Eco-friendly Manner

& Implementing Eco-friendly actions in our offices and project
sites to promote environmental awareness

& Phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with energy
saving T5 fluorescence tubes and LED lighting

& Using of solar thermal energy for power (electricity)
generation to reduce diesel use and hence carbon emissions

& Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at site
access, water barrier filling, etc.

&  Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore piles

O

Using seawater instead of freshwater for marine works

&  Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof sprinkler
cooling systems and watering of plants of site office

&  Using noise barrier and enclosure to protect sensitive receivers

&  Minimising the use of generator

& Increasing the use of renewable energy by 5% every year

) BERE®

BYURERER#)
[EERETEMEEEAIFNEIER
REH - EE - OARE  BERKF
i STENM - mHS MRS HUERE
DI LR ENRERAAREREE
(MRRE)ER - HEBBETEME
EEE  WRARFREEHREIHEER
S ERBEBE MY R EHIERR
b - PRS-

REGGOEENEE2EERBRE
IR AL - B R RREASRRER
B ANBYEHUR (BRI KR ]) kRt
AYSIREER - ARRIREEERS
RYEE BB TRBIEN o S
REFHEZLEXRHBENTERESE
BERH (AR IEFTEEBERRETE
0.001% - IR BR AR bt 453 51| e 8t K B2 322 o

UBRRRENTNERERKERER

0}

@

ERAENARMRETRERET
B URARRER
BEERKBHEHTENE - WIAEIRER
TSR /& B K LEDIRFAERM,

BRAGEEE B EASH -
e Mo D B I

RN BERIER - BEREANLE
B - BKHIE RS - NI AC
B R SR N KEEE S
KKERBARILEREILE
TR TR ME AKX
WELREEX  BREANEIRE
IKBER R R R T A EEYER

EARERERRESRESTRE
pENHE

BERMDEEHRNER
BB IEM R BEIR5%

@®  Maximise the Benefits in Environmental Protection, Energy Efficiency and Carbon Footprint Reduction

BIBIRBIRE - BER Wt SR D iR e IR SR A 2 BE
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(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Environmental Measures

It is our unshirkable responsibility to provide and promote green
building solutions and methodologies to create sustainable cities
and contribute towards climate change. Sustainability designs and
construction methods have been initiated in our project sites with
developed mitigation measures to protect our environment, reduce

waste generation and enhance recycling.

) BERE®

RARER
BPSRE L EER B RERRTTRIA
KATHE R BRI T MBS RIREL
BEZE - RASKIA R HRRA AT
BT MORE TR - AR AR BRI
TEARERE RO BEMELERIRSE
REE -

Eco-friendly Actions at Construction Sites (Green Construction Methods)

RIBWREEEZTH(REEELE)

Water Pipes Recycling

&  Alteration as mobile office and resting area

&  Equipped with solar energy panels for site office and workers

welfare facilities

&  The generated electricity is used for powering the computers,

televisions and electric fans inside, and for phone charging

Use of Enertainer
& Zero diesel fumes with 85% less carbon dioxide emission

&  Backend platform is equipped for energy usage analysis

Noise Reduction

&  Use of drill and split for rock breaking, replacing traditional

noisy breaker, reducing noise emanating from sites

&  Use of silent piler for sheet pilling, replacing noisy percussive piling

Waste Reduction

& Use of more durable aluminum modules and steel formworks,
replacing traditional timber formworks, for wall and column

construction, reducing waste generation
&  Reuse excavated soil and rock in other contracts

B5 Biodiesel

&  Lower well-to-wheel carbon dioxide emission compared with

conventional diesel

Use of Natural Resources

& Use of seawater instead of freshwater for marine works

(predrilling, piling and airlifting)

&  Surplus rocks and soils are reused by other projects instead of

disposal

KERRBE

& BEERRIHIERKER

& RUBBRAZENRIABMREBER
EARGEEIR

& EENENREAMNER ER
BEBRBHENATHETE

e
& SHEANEBRR/T Ak
BERURIA85%

& ‘nFaREERERIIIIE

WABRE

& ERERESEITAETHA -
BERESAEWBL I - R
HWRBISELNRE

& CERERITHEE BREERZA
1148

D B

& HEBIFETHEREMADN
R R IRR - BRERAR
iR R EE

& NEMEHNERCEZEMELR
ey

BS54 #I4E5H
& HEFERAL - BELRAR
Himm — SR

ERARRER

& REFIR(REEIL TBER=E
I8 ) AR R K

& REMEBEARGBOATENE
TRERE
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RIR - HERERKRS

(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) ) RBRE»)
Environmental Measures (continued) BREREE)

Eco-friendly Actions at Construction Sites (Green Construction Methods) (continued)

RIBHRERETH(ROREL ) @)

Building Information Modelling BEEEER

&  Improve coordination and clash detection, reduce the amount & NEBARNERSERBD TG
of unnecessary remedial works with true representation of the TR/ IE  EWMRERERE
actual construction condition Tk

&  Estimate material quantities precisely, avoid surplus of materials &  EREEMHEE - BEeMEHAETE

&  Facilitate off-site pre-casting of modules, reduce use of & (RETHBRINEREAR - HOE
formwork materials R T A {5 R A

&  Reduce of carbon dioxide emission with reduction in amount & BEBREHIE  TRENIFEHE
of rework, construction and demolition waste and number of PR T B S B R
construction plant on site Z bR

MiC Project - Yip Shing Street Project
HEEHEFEEER - ¥RHER

Compared with Traditional Construction Method Decreased:
gD AR D

Construction Period Construction Waste Carbon Footprint Air Particulate
B TS TibssERE R ik 2 5 22 AR

%

=" X
: p
80% D 75% 50%  40%
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(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) ) RBRE»)

Environmental Measures (continued)

Eco-Friendly Actions at Offices

RRRENRERETEH

RRERE#)

Carbon Emission Monitoring System

&  Paperless meetings

&  Switching off lighting and appliances (computers and monitors)
during lunch hours

&  Maintaining indoor temperature between 24°C and 26°C in
summer

Eco-renovation

&  Applying energy-saving lighting
&  Utilising natural light in interior design
&  Reusing old furniture

On-Grid Solar System

&  Operating in parallel with the electricity grid of the site for
supplementing the foil-based generation and protecting
environment

BRI RS

& EReR

& RTEREBERANEE (K
=Y

& MNEFHBENREN FEK24

EE26E
BIREE

& (EAETREREA
& HAEZEARGLERERNLR
& ERERRE

SR AFSRERB

& HETWNBEMEEEAEM - K
MREAAE RN B EIARRER

5

Digitisation of Environmental Data

In our civil engineering and building construction projects,
environmental data digitisation has become increasingly popular.
This trend allows us to minimise human error raised from data
processing and provide instant feedback for our staff to response
timely on the project’s emission and waste figures. Meanwhile, the
digitised environmental data can be made public, which can increase
transparency in emission and waste generation.

We also understand the importance of creating a culture of
innovation and collaboration in the construction industry. We have
successfully collaborated with government, institutions and other
stakeholders to explore the innovative environmental approaches
such as:

&  Collaboration with EPD for the CEasy System for Electronic Chit
Ticket System Pilot Scheme

&  Collaboration with Lingnan University for Smart Intelligent
GeoAl Mosquito Killer Device

&  Collaboration with Hong Kong Construction Association for
“ESG Recognition Scheme”
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(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) ) RBRE»)

Environmental Performance

The Group has established a comprehensive group-wide carbon
audit system which extended the scope of carbon audit to monitor
emission data of different business units under the Group. The Group
has developed policy of controlling greenhouse gas emission, and
managing our fuel and electricity usage through deployment of high
efficiency equipment for better use of resources.

The Group supports low carbon construction and is a signatory
member of “Low Carbon Charter” of Business Environmental
Council. We support greater use of electric plant and equipment
and low carbon alternative fuels (e.g. biodiesel) where electrification
is not possible. We use B5 biodiesel, renewable energy system (e.g.
solar power) and mass battery energy storage to reduce carbon
emission from sites.

The Key Performance Indicators (“KPI(s)") demonstrating the Group's
performance under the environmental area are disclosed as follows:

RIRER

AEED R EEEEEERORE
ARE - WA SRR E R A
SETREBENHREIE - A% E
ESIEZHBZRBHROEE - AR
BBRE SRR EEBIREAE K A
B8 RELREMSE -

AREBEIFFEGEE - ARBIMAFR
REHE(ERNE) - ELETFER
ERBERT » HAXFRSEERMMR
A S ARHR B AR (I A ) 58m ) B (£
A% o HAPIEABSEYSH - ATEE
BERE S (WARSHE) RKREH BB
BE - DARA THOEE A AORRFEDN

[RERA SR BRIR ) EAE R 2 RS AE AN
ER(ERERER DT

KPIs Description

BRENERSR it

Aspect A1 Emissions

AT 71357

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data

B TR AR S AR BRI EBR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above

F2 R EXRERE |8

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions and intensity

BERBANEREE

Scope 1 Scope 2
Ll g2

Total (tonnes CO,e)
Bt (- EmRE=)

Energy Indirect Emissions (tonnes COz e) 2022/23  2021/22
RIEEEFR(E_atiEE 36,790 41,212

Intensity (tonnes CO,e

Direct Emissions (tonnes CO2e)
BEER(E_StixE=
per HK$ million revenue)

2022/23 - ! 2022/23 20,756 ay R
e B (M= SLE B

FaBEBTkE)
2021/22 - 19,250 2021/22 21,962 2022/23  2021/22

4.5 5.3
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R #HER

=53
B/A

(II) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () RERE@
Environmental Performance (continued) RR&EM#)
KPIs Description
BARERIER it
A1.3&A14 Total hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

PIEXRERBEERZMRERTE

Hazardous Waste (tonnes) Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes) @
EEREEY) (F)

BEREEY (W)
2022/23: 1,428 2021/22: 2,408 2022/23: 880,199 2021/22: 732,188
Intensity Intensity
(tonnes per HK$ million revenue) (tonnes per HK$ million revenue)
REW  SEEBTRE) REW SEEBTWE)
2022/23: 0.2 2021/22: 0.3 2022/23: 107.6  2021/22:94.82
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
FE It PTER e MV BERR B AR S R IE B B R FTER A A P B
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
2R EX[RIBIRE |6
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
R AEREEREEMN L - AR ATRE /R EE B 2R AESE ZATHRE
E0fs7
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
B2 R X[ BRRRE |6
Aspect A2 Use of Resources
[EEA2 &R
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity

BRREREDNEER AHEEREEEREE

Electricity (kwWh) Intensity (kWh per HK$ million revenue)
AEE(TERE) RE(TEE SEEBTRE)

2022/23: 2021/22: 2022/23: 2021/22:

38,996,243 54,928,835 4,769.0 7,113.3

Diesel (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
5m (F) RE(t/SE88xkE)

2022/23: 2021/22: 2022/23: 2021/22:

5,359,969 6,861,108 655.4 888.5

Petroleum (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
AE(A) RE(ft/SE88TWE)

2022/23: 2021/22: 2022/23: 2021/22:

368,538 441,906 45.1 57.2
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R #HER

(II) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) ) BERE®
Environmental Performance (continued) RR&EM#)

KPIs Description

BRERER Hat

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity

BFEKEREE

Water consumption (m?) Intensity (m? per HK$ million revenue)
FKRE (LK) BE(XFXR SEEBITRE)
2022/23: 2021/22: 2022/23: 2021/22:
471,680 490,056 57.7 63.5

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

Fst PTRT ALY BETR(E A Rt B AR M A 2R B AR P ER A 20 58

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION"” above
2R EXRIBRE]—

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
FAREGER R B EABRE - LARPAET BRI E B IR KR ER B R EEE
Please refer to the section headed "ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
F2R EXRFRE]—

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with reference
to per unit produced
R MAATABEMENAER(NER) BEEEGE
Disclosure of packing material is omitted since it is not identified as material aspect in
the business of the Group
HRBEEMHREZNBRAKE EEZXBKTH - Bt EBaEME 2 K&

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

[EEA3 RIBERAAER

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them
MR RDHRBERARE RN EAFERDRKNEERRTENTE
Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION” above
B2R EXRBRE |-

Aspect A4 Climate Change

BEA4L RIREE

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those

which may impact the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them
R E R R AT BT AEARENEARGKEREE - UREBBEBEEENTE

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION" above
2R EX[RERE | —
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RIE - HERERRSE

(1) ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) () REREBE@
Environmental Awards IRIREEIE
The Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection have AEBERRIEANBERBXTEE
been recognised by the community with the following environmental TE - WA Z R T IRIREETH ¢

awards received during the Year:

The 28th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

E28E N B BT E

Development Bureau
BRB

&» Considerate Contractors Site Awards (Bronze Award)

DB AR AR (H4E)

& Innovation Awards for Safety and Environmental Excellence (Merit Award)

ZE MRS BAIFE(ERE)

& Outstanging Environmental Management and Performance Awards (2 Merit Awards)
BRERFERR(2ABEE)

Hong Kong Green Awards 2022

BRZEHEKAEE2022

Green Council

RIR(EES

& Green Management Award — Corporate (Large Corporation) (Gold Award)
BEHRRERE-PE(RAELGE)(£58)

& 9 Green Management Awards — Project Managements
JBEBHRREE L -HEEE

& 4 Environmental, Health and Safety Awards
AT IRR L R FE R

Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards

FEEERRAR

Hong Kong Construction Association
EREENS

&» 2021 Environmental Merit Award
221IRRAE—EE

UNSDG Achievement Awards Hong Kong 2022
BEETHERREE REBARME2022

Green Council
RIREES

& Project Award — Recognised Project
18 B #2718 — &R A 1A B

Hong Kong Green Organisation

EEREHE

Green Council
RIREES

& Certified — Recognised Project
BE-ERAIAR
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES

Innovation

We are dedicated to developing innovation technologies for
construction. In 2016, we launched our innovation brand
“Inno@ChunWo", with an aim to elevate construction techniques
and at the same time attract a younger generation to start their
career in innovation and construction.

Our successful research and development outcomes can be
categorised into five main area, including “Off-Site Construction”,
“Advanced Technology & Materials”, “Robotics and Automation”,
“Digital Transformation — Smart Site” and “E-procurement”.

“Off-Site Construction”

Our company has successfully adopted innovative MiC technology,
which represents a state-of-the-art construction method that
intensively speeds up our projects’ operations while enhancing
productivity, safety and sustainability.

To further enhance our MiC capabilities, we have developed a
comprehensive modular system, which includes our patented “Wall
Connection Technology” in collaboration with a joint venture
partner. Such breakthrough technology has successfully overcome
the limitations of traditional construction and MiC technology by
reducing wall thickness to meet the market’s demand for larger living
spaces. This more cost-effective and utilisable technique not only
speeds up the construction process but also enhances the quality
of the final product. Our commitment to adopting and enhancing
MiC technology demonstrates our dedication to environmental
sustainability and social responsibility.

"Advanced Technology & Materials”

We have worked with Nano and Advanced Materials Institute to
develop the Repaid Repair Mortar Material (“R2M?"), which can be
deployed in buildings to quickly repair areas of concrete spalling.
R2M? contains stainless steel fibres which can recover the lost loading
capacity of corroded rebar and resist tensile loads for slabs. This
technology eliminates the need for rebar lapping and good concrete
breaking, surpassing the conventional repair method in terms of
cost and time. With this time-saving repair method, we can reduce
the volume of concrete breaking, produce less noise, dust and
construction waste, and minimise the impact to users of the building
and nearby residence.

() EEEH

BRI

BB IR FEEREENE I
MF o PR20164F » FPTHE &l ¥ @ b2
[ Inno@ChunWo | + & fE 2 FF E £ i
fiy - [FIREIR S| F 88 — (X A BT M 3R EE<E
HRARBELE -

BPIEIN I ER A D R A AEE -
BREIREAZE] - [TERM R
FH - T2l - [R5 EE —Bhe
TR EFERE] -

[SEA 2]
ARREREBAIFTER SRR
ERA - M A—ERTENET T
E - ERBAEEN  REERAIFENE
FIEEY - TS NRIE B HOELE
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E$a%ﬁﬁﬁ NEERHEIENE
M S EEE AT | o IR IERIMTAX
DR REFEERAR S KREERIM
%%ﬁ% BB D i B RS 2R B T
SHEREEERTR - ZINEA
Wﬁ& s RTRIBME - MEIRE T
B AlReEKmAmE - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

AR R nsg 4B 5 & PR SRR AT
ﬁﬁﬁ&i&h%TF@ﬁ&ﬁéﬁE
HZERI RS -

[ SR M R+ 8

HAPIER AR & S E MR B B & 1ER 3
RRIEHB MR (TRIM2]) - ZMRER]
BRANEEY L - ARRBERETH
SRR - RRM2PE A NE A - TR
Rimab AR R R AR S - WRRME
B FRE R o HLIERIMDER T A %
NMEIFHRBRTIHEIENTE - AR
HTFEJLELT{%,WE”JWEE& EPEEA

EiE R EEMEE A - BIATFTARAR
>‘Eéiﬂ’vﬁ)ﬂ§i§ CRLEARE  KRER
REEERER - WATERREYHRF KR

EENFEREHE -

i
2
it

LRI ARAT 2022/235F

71



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRSE

(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Innovation (continued)

“Robotics and Automation”

A research project with The Chinese University of Hong Kong on
“Hybrid Cable-Driven Serial Robot for Exterior Facade Window
Cleaning and Wall Painting” is able to assist the building services
industry. Such technology may tackle the issue arisen from the
increasing demand and lack of workers, high number of workers
approaching retirement, labour intensive and hard work, dangerous
and harsh conditions, and increase quality and lower costs. Besides,
following the development of cable robot, we are able to prevent
accidents by automating or remotely controlling risky exterior facade

works.

() EEEH =)

RIFT (2

[
BFEFETRXABEIENFTIAR
[ARIMEE PR REE M RIAES
BERESHHRBEEA L BYBIE
HERBITE - ZBMAAAT AT
SREVNETE N2 R - KE T ABIRR
K BHRERBENTIE - Bl ME
LRERB - UL A RESmE R EX
Ko thHh - BEEEERBANER - B
FiResmiE B B B L SR IR IE S A AR 1
S TAZIARS L B #E A

“Digital Transformation — Smart Site”

We are actively researching smart site and related hardware and
systems to reduce environment and health impacts, several examples

are as follows:

&  Environmental Monitoring System: Internet of Things sensors to
detect surrounding environment and automate deployment of
countermeasure systems to reduce impacts to nearby residents

and workers

&  Auto detecting the site working environment e.g. temperature,

humility, dust and noise level

&  Automatically switch on/off the sprinklers and cooling fan

when the figures are above/below the limit

Confined Space Monitoring System

&  Check status of worker, harmful gas monitoring, temperature

monitoring and real-time alert system
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RIE - HERERRSE

(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Innovation (continued)
“E-procurement”

Mattex Asia Development Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
has launched an online construction material procurement and
management platform called “eMat”. It has been adopted
by multiple contractors to digitally transform their submission
management and material procurement procedures throughout their
projects. The platform included different modules brings together
developers, consultants, main contractors, sub-contractors and
suppliers for all-rounded material management. It fully utilises cloud
data processing mode as well as mobile application, enabling users to
centrally manage different stages of material, from getting material
approval by clients, obtaining all purchase requests from projects,
confirming orders with suppliers, arranging delivery, recording goods
receipt and reconciling invoice.

Through the utilisation of our Submission Management Module,
contractor team can centrally store relevant content to a submission
on our scalable cloud solution. Readied submission documents are
transmitted to its target audience in digital form, along with its
electronic Document Management System integration, has eliminated
the need for projects to deliver these documents via paper-based
mediums, while improving the efficiency and transparency amongst
project participants.

To help identify green products during the material procurement
process, our Transaction Management Module has provided key
features for suppliers to identify which one of their products being
green certified, and the official certification can be uploaded
and published to the platform, to allow it to be shortlisted when
purchasers seek for eco-friendly materials.

() EEEH )

R )

[T

ARTZHBANRENEREEA
BRI T % A eMat Ay RS
RRERERT S © eMat2 % BR
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Supply Chain Management

We recognise that supply chain management is essential to
operational efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers and
contractors to effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ needs,
while emphasising responsible operating practices.

The Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring
that their entire production process is in line with our standards
and specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers to
submit all relevant documents for review, we also run background
checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct regular inspections
and evaluations to review the standards of our suppliers and cease
cooperation with unqualified suppliers. We are committed to
developing and maintaining effective and mutually fruitful working
relationships throughout our entire supply chain.

The Group also puts forward new requirements on the products and
services provided by suppliers are up to the international standard
in terms of quality and environmental protection, motivating the
suppliers to formulate appropriate environmental policies and
promoting energy-saving emission reduction and low-carbon
production. Regular meetings between the Group and suppliers
would be held for communicating and sharing the experience of
environmental protection.

During the Year, the transacted suppliers engaged by the Group in
Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas are 1,191, 3 and 5 respectively.

Product/Service Responsibility

We understand that good quality products and services are keys to
success and enhance our competitive edge. Based on this belief, the
Group has established the Quality Management System embedded
with risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and mitigations. Such
system is implemented by reliable business teams, ensuring the
quality of our products and services as well as efficiently handling
of all queries from our clients. The heads of individual divisions
discuss any particular incident related to our products and services
with the relevant division managers, project managers, supporting
departments and committees. They share their views regarding various
aspects of good standards and statutory compliance. Corresponding
improvement plans are set out and implemented across all levels.
The senior management also regularly conducts reviews with
business units and takes necessary precautionary measures whenever
applicable.
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Product/Service Responsibility (continued)

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems at
various stages, including material delivery notes, origin certificates,
method statements, traceability records, inspection and testing
reports, etc., to facilitate any needs for a recall. Recall procedures are
traced through our recording system to obtain relevant information
to make decisions on any further action that may be necessary.

The Group implements stringent quality control measures including
detailed operational flows and procedures, project management
and staff training to ensure that we deliver high quality services
to our clients. In recognition of our quality assurance, our various
subsidiaries have been accredited with 1ISO 9001 quality management
system standard and ISO 10002 customer management system
standard to sustain our business position. Through the 1SO 9001
quality management system and I1SO 10002 customer management
system, the internal and external factors are determined to support
the Group'’s strategic direction.

Applicable laws and regulations governing property development
and assets leasing are being complied with, and practices are
being conformed to those promulgated by Lands Department,
Buildings Department and Planning Department. In property
development projects, from design to after-sales care, health and
safety considerations are taken into account and that the Group is
committed to the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal advisors
and professional consultancy firms are appointed to advise on
the compliance of relevant laws and regulations, particularly the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance which regulates
the provisions of sales brochures, promotional advertisements,
price lists, show flats, viewing of properties, sales arrangements,
execution of agreements, register of transactions and the like, as
well as observance and performance of the conditions set out in the
Land Grant and/or the pre-sale consent under the Lands Department
Consent Scheme.
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Product/Service Responsibility (continued)

Our security and facility management divisions, City Services Group,
also adopt control measures in respect of routine operations and
comply with the relevant laws and regulations, especially the license
requirements under the Security and Guarding Services Ordinance
and responsibilities of a property manager under the Building
Management Ordinance, in order to ensure efficiency, quality
assurance and uniformity of performance. During the Year, the
divisions received several awards in the aspects of property safety
management and security services, which affirms our efforts in
maintaining occupational safety and health and our professionalism
in the industries.

In the view of the feedback from customers, we treat it seriously and
view it as means to consistently improve the quality of our products
and services we offer. The Group has standard procedures in place
to deal with the client’s feedback. Upon receiving any feedback, the
Group, subject to the situation, will take action and keep track of its
settlement, ensuring every feedback being handled properly. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any cases of complaints or
products recall related to safety and health reasons.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to ensuring the intellectual property
rights throughout its course of operation. We primarily rely on the
intellectual property laws in Hong Kong, confidentiality agreements
and internal policies to protect all intellectual property related to the
Group and operations. The employee handbook stipulates the code
and provision that require our employees to comply.

Intellectual Property Manager Scheme

City Services Group have enrolled in the Intellectual Property
Manager Scheme organised by the Intellectual Property Department
to enhance our intellectual property manpower capacity and grasp
the opportunities brought by intellectual property trading. By
enrolling in the Intellectual Property Manager Scheme, we have
taken a proactive step towards enhancing our intellectual property
management capabilities. We have appointed a dedicated in-house
intellectual property manager who has completed the training course
and is responsible for overseeing our intellectual property assets.
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy protection policy.
Consumer data including project-related information and other
sensitive information are subject to access right control to ensure its
security and prevent any abuse or misuse. The Group has observed
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and reviewed our personnel and
business practices from time to time to ensure its compliance.

In order to govern the Company’s information, we implemented the
Information Security Policy in the year of 2020, that is a set of rules
regarding the security of information system for the protection of
Company'’s information and data.

Anti-corruption

The Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are important
contributors to the value of our assets and business. It is therefore
essential for all employees to ensure that the Group's reputation
will not be tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. Various
policies and guidelines are in place to avoid any breach of the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

Employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance of it could
affect their objectivity in conducting the Group’s business, induce
them to act against the interests of the Group or lead to allegations
of impropriety. If an employee wishes to accept a gift with the
amount greater than the limit as stated in our Employee Handbook,
such employee should seek written permission from the managing
director of the particular subsidiary or the Group. Any employee in
breach of the code of conduct in the Employee Handbook will be
subject to disciplinary action including termination of employment.

To ensure our staff is well-versed in the importance of anti-
corruption, we provide continuous education by way of internal
memos during seasonal festivals. These memos always remind
our staff to integrate the importance of anti-corruption into daily
operation to equip our team with the knowledge and awareness
necessary to identify and prevent potential corruption risks. Periodic
written reminders are sent to our business partners and suppliers
about the Group's policy regarding “No Acceptance of Advantages”.
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(111) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

The Group encourages the employees to report all illegality,
irregularity, malpractice, unethical acts or behaviours, inappropriate
conducts or actions, which may damage the Group’s interests,
and makes sure that there are sufficient protections for such
whistleblowers. Messages received will be looked into by the
management team at the appropriate level in a timely and impartial
manner. A whistleblowing policy has been put in place, which setting

out the guideline for reporting on irregularities found at work.

During the Year, the Group did not find any significant risks relating
to corruption and was not subject to any confirmed corruption cases
involving the Group or any corruption litigations against the Group
or any of its employees. In the future, the Group will continue to give
priority to anti-corruption and integrity, strengthen supervision of
anti-corruption and expand the scope of external supervision for the

healthy development of the Company.

Conflict of Interests

All employees should avoid any situation which may lead to an
actual or potential conflict of interests and should make a declaration
in writing to the head of the subsidiary or the Group when such
a situation arises. Failure to do so may give rise to allegations of

favoritism, abuse of authority or even corruption.

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Looking back at 2022, it was undoubtedly a changeful year, yet it
was fortunate to see people’s spirit of self-help and mutual aid. We
are dedicated to bringing a positive influence and inspiring hope
for our communities amid the epidemic. We encourage our staff to
engage in various voluntary services to influence others and spread
positivity. Our corporate volunteers have contributed 399 service
hours in the Year. Echoes with the Group’s mission, there are four
key focus areas during the Year: Community, Education, Health and

Environmental Concerns.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V)T EZE %)

Community H+E
AEBLHFHEIBEE @ EERBAB
8 - MBEIFAFEENA 1ELIEH
E o BMHBRE2NIEEFTEALT A
HRIEHRERNIED -

The Group supports community projects to address pandemic
challenges. Through collaboration with non-profit organizations and
in-kind donations, we make our best effort to support people in
need, to provide resources and assistance to the community.

“18 Districts Lo Pan Rice” Campaign

7N [M8EBIREBEXS IR B

This Year, we continue to support the “18 Districts
Lo Pan Rice” Campaign, co-organised by the
Construction Industry Council and the Hong Kong
Construction Association, by distributing boxed
meals and packed goodie bags to approximately 300
people from low-income families, the homes of the
elderly, and homeless people.

The volunteer team consisted of team members from
different departments. By packing and delivering
boxed meals to the needy, volunteers sent their
warmest regards to the people in need of care.
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“The Community Chest New Territories Walk for Millions 2022"
7N (2022 B A ERET]

On 20 November 2022, over 130 staff
and their families from the Group joined
a meaningful and enjoyable fund-raising
event, The New Territories Walk for Millions
2022, organised by The Community Chest
of Hong Kong.

Being one of the main contractors of the
Tseung Kwan O Cross Bay Link related
projects, we were grateful to have the
privilege to walk on the new landmark.
Through this fruitful event, we were also
delighted to raise funds to support 24 non-
profit organizations focusing on family and
child welfare services.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V) EZ2H %)

Education BE

The Group is committed to nurturing future generations and REBBMANEE T —R - BFEAR
providing opportunities to young people, as well as connecting with Hige WHEMEBEETHE M5
our community to inspire hope. This Year, the Group continues to Lo NEFE  AEEEERTFE—K
provide financial and professional support for the youth. In addition REMBEDRFESLE - RT AAM
to scholarships and donations to local universities and educational RERHEEBIRMUEE S KRB
events, talks, seminars and internships are also organised to motivate BMIINEPEE e REEE
the next generation. PARE TN —RAK K o

Sharing at City University of Hong Kong

/ BEREMABERDE

On 9 September 2022, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick JP, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, was invited by the City University
of Hong Kong to be the guest speaker of a
lecture to share with engineering students
his experience working as an engineer in

R2022F9H9H » [ERE
WM ARBE - ANRRIITH
wET —FBiELT TRt F
HrEEEERE - MIE
REBESZTHERELEIEFF
BEETRRMMLEER - LURIE

construction projects, and an insider’s look RENATHITENEE
into the industry. This lecture aims to provide RREREEEEBEERS
students with a broader understanding of REENBEEEEZNT

R BBRERRIELEL
RIBREAE -

the workplace and their duties so they can
make better career plans in the future.

Secondary School Internship Programme

(' hELEETiE

Chun Wo has collaborated with the Education Bureau’s “Business-
School Partnership Programme” since 2015. This Year, we were
pleased to welcome five secondary students to the 3-day “Chun Wo
Career Internship.” Aside from visiting our “Safe Zone” and machinery
warehouse at Lau Shui Heung, Fanling to learn about the construction
industry, including safety awareness and machine operation, students
who participated in the internship also worked as general support for
various departments at the head office. Through this programme, it
strengthens the partnership between schools and business sector while
helping students in making plans for future studies and careers.

EME2015FEEHE RN EHRAFABIIGIE - RAFE - RFR
REBAREZHBLESERR =N ENBEXEE ] - R T 28RMH
[R2HI A RN ERKENEEZREIAT REEE  BFR2E
MR - 2HREBENRSNGAARZIFIRHE R - Bl
ERETE - SRERE R 2 MK HRIRS AN - FRSABEEHIER
KEEE RBERE -
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
Education (continued)

(IV)HEZHE =)
BB

Inter-School Model United Nations Conference

' BREEHAESS

On 13 and 14 August 2022, our education business, See Change
Education, held an Inter-School Model United Nations Conference
(“SCMUN"), which has been certified as No. 4 Quality Education of
SDG. This conference attracted participants from over 25 schools
in 3 different continents. We
nominated outstanding delegates
to attend the conference at the
University of Cambridge, United
Kingdom. The aim of this event is
to serve as a platform for delegates
to negotiate, discuss, debate and
propose solutions for global issues.
This Year, we have expanded the
scale of SCMUN and are welcoming
students and schools from the

202268 F13 0148 » IR B £/ HT
TR A B T B IE R A B2 s ([ R
BE])  HEREFAKEZREEZENEY
BEHE - RXEER3I TREA=ZKAM - 8
BSEERNZME -
BMREZEFRERZMN
HEEBBARENEE -
RIEHHNENZ AR
KR E—ERH - 57
B R T R
FE o RAFE - HM
BATHEERHBABRMNS
B B m e 2
MEBRZH o

Greater Bay Area to join.

Health

During the epidemic, the Group continues to pay attention to health
and social needs. Besides ensuring a safe and healthy workplace
for our staff, we also strived our best to help those in need through
different ways.

Lifewire Run 2022
=
C 20228m

R

EIEHE - AREREMIRERM S
FE - BB T RAETRARZRED
TIEBH - RENBBTRAXEHE
FEMAL -

Chun Wo and Lifewire jointly organised the
“Lifewire Run 2022 - Tung Chung” charity
run on 11 December 2022. With support from
the construction industry and many others
including government officials, over 1,500
runners participated in this event, fundraised
approximately HK$2 million in support of
helping children with rare diseases and their
families access life-changing medical care.

R2022F 12 A1 8 @ EAECEEE ) EF
SBR[ 2002F R A IEEZM - EREERT
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2,000,000/ © AA{EEBNBAERKERNTE
MERBHEERSHY @ EMOMEEFE -
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V)T EZE %)
Environmental Concerns BRIBET

BIAGREERE AR B RHEER AR
% RAFEBERNITMERET 2 MR

Our commitment is to respect the environment and abstain from
damaging the natural environments. We place great importance on

82

implementing safety and environmental measures in construction
sites, and always encourage our staff to participate in different

activities to protect our planet.

&

KRBT B FRER

H

Coastal Clean-up Day at Yuen Chau Tsai, Tai Po

In order to raise awareness of plastic
pollution and reduce marine litter, Chun

SN WA E T8 REEE
B HFETFEL -

RIREEHNBRESR R
SRS YRLENNR el

Wo collaborated with World Wide Fund R ARES & ((HRAR
for Nature (“WWF"”) to co-organise H& & |)2022410815

the “Yuen Chau Tsai Coastal Clean-up
Day” at the Island House Conservation
Studies Centre on 15 October 2022.
Through the guided walk, workshop
and beach clean-up, colleagues gained
a deeper understanding of the Island
House, a cultural and natural heritage
monument, and acquired valuable
knowledge of environmental pollution
and protection. The purpose of this

event was not only to remove plastic from the beach, which may be harmful to the
coast, but also to encourage our colleagues to be part of making a difference to
help our environment and strive for sustainable development.

&

BEXRBFRERHA

Construction Industry Shoreline Clean-up Day

BHETTM G B ARIRIREN
KR OA M T BES
BB - BBAHEEE - T
1E ROFERS) - FISFI%
RIS A B BB (R ek B
REE)BERANRH -
WREUA BRI 3 S AR
MWEEHE - EOEHEN
BTEREE ERaEEE
BENER - S BIREK
REREREN —DF - UK
ERBWYBNERAFER
B o

On 9 July 2022, a group of Chun Wo volunteers, including our
management, staffs and their families participated in the “Lo Pan Service
Month 2022: Construction Industry Shoreline Clean-up Day” organised
by the Construction Industry Sports & Volunteering Programme. Despite
the hot weather, our team carried
forward the spirit of Master Lo Pan
and had a very rewarding experience
with the beach clean-up at Sandy
Bay, Pok Fu Lam. They filled a couple
of big bags, to prevent litter from
ending up in the ocean and keep the
place beautiful and trash-free.

R2022F7H9R - HEEE BT
MIEERRFERK B 48R AY & FZ Tk
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V)T EZE %)
Environmental Concerns (continued) RIBREE2)

@ 10,000 Steps A Day
7 g7ES

City Services Group is proud to participate in the “10,000 Steps a W ARISEBREFZN2022F11 AR ET i
Day” campaign in November 2022, organised by the Department EERBELZZ2REFERBMOIBTES ]
of Health and the Occupational Safety and Health Council. This /&# ° %G8 §ERAARE ST FE

initiative aimed to raise awareness of

3¢ =z ayh N+
H=EERE - e

the health benefits of walking and BEEKES)

encourage individuals to incorporate BRAR®AE
physical activity into their daily B oo HME—1E
routines. We achieved an average of R BkEHAR -
8,000 steps per day throughout the ERT¥HEH
month-long challenge period, which #478,000%F +
ranked us in the 7th position among all EFME2EER
participating organizations. This result FHEITERT © %4
demonstrates our commitment to RBRTHME
prioritizing the health and well-being EBEREERBH
of our employees. R BRI BEGE

@ SDG Recycling Day
\&Z spbGEYA

In March 2023, we organised a recycle activity in collaboration with ~ 702023438 » HfIEE U A fEEH —IA
iRecycle to encourage our staff to take part in separating waste ~BUE®) - EEE T2 RIIREHREY) - I
at source and recycling plastic bottles, used clothes, toys, books, EWEBE - —F XY - A - EELEMA
and other recyclable items. In line with this commitment, we have ~E¥¥m - BEBUL AR - BAIRSR I

donated 100 CSV green sandbags 2 F MBS 100(E
made of recycled glass bottles and BE YR EL R E
used banners to schools and non- T 8 Y BK #9 CSV 4%

profit organisation. These sandbags
were produced by non-profit shelter
workshops, which provide employment
and training opportunities for people
with disabilities and other vulnerable
groups. By supporting the activity, we
are not only promoting social inclusion
but also contributing to the circular
economy by reducing waste and
reusing materials.

BAHR - HWEDR
HIFF A EE TS
2E - EREEA
TREMBLBILE
R B R R IF I
g BRI R
B RMTEEH
Bt ka o @
18R BE K B A
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DMBAEZERARADGF 2022235

83



84

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R #HER

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

e
<

EialmE

CSR Awards and Recognition

“Caring Company”

Chun Wo is delighted to be awarded the
“15 Years Plus Caring Company” logo from
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
for the Year 2022/23, in recognition of our
continued commitment to CSR for 17 years.
The Group and its subsidiary City Security
Company Limited and City Professional
Management Limited also holds the “Caring
Company” and “Caring Company 15+”
logos for the dedication in building a caring
community.

“Happy Company 10 Years Logo”

“Industry Care Logo”

HAZ=
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R

Chun Wo is pleased to receive the “Happy
Company 10 Years” Logo from the Happiness
at Work Promotional Scheme, recognising
the company’s strong commitment to
maintaining a friendly, positive work
environment and motivating team spirit in
the workplace.

Chun Wo has been garnered the “Industry
Cares” recognition by the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries. The accolade acknowledges
Chun Wo's enthusiasm in participating in
CSR events and recognising its outstanding
performance in fulfilling CSR in the past year.

"Business Environment Council - 10 Years+ Corporate Member Logo”

Chun Wo has been awarded the “10 Years+
Corporate Member” by Business Environment
Council ("BEC"). The Company has strong
commitment and respect for social and
environmental aspects while doing business.
It will continue joining hands with BEC to
move forward Hong Kong's sustainable
development.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

]E

CSR Awards and Recognition (continued)

"WWF - Hong Kong Corporate Member Logo”

Chun Wo has been recognised as a “Silver
Corporate Member” of WWF Hong Kong
this Year, recognising the Company’s
commitment in partnering with WWF to drive
sustainability through business practices and
the support of WWF’s programmes.

“Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace”

The Group has been recognised as
“Breastfeeding Friendly Workplace” by
UNICEF this Year. In order to give the best
working environment for working mothers,
the Group has extended maternity leave to
14 weeks and paternity leave to 7 days and
introduced nursing rooms in our offices and
on several construction sites to give privacy to
nursing mothers.

"CMA ESG Pledge Scheme”

The Future

City Services Group is proud of supporting
and participating in the ESG Pledge Scheme
co-organised by The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong and Hong Kong
Brand Development Council. The ESG Pledge
Scheme aims to strengthen the concern for
sustainable development and encourages
businesses and the public sector to sign
the pledge and implement action plans to
improve ESG performance.

The Group for its part recognises the importance of CSR and, moving
forward, we will continue to improve our performance in this area.
Following the expansion of the Group’s business in Hong Kong and
Asia, we will endeavour to introduce CSR initiatives in these business
units and the communities in which we operate as well.

(IV)HEZHE =)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREEEEARERN

HONORARY DIRECTOR

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Madam Li, aged 72, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 48 years’
experience in the construction industry and corporate management.
Madam Li is one of the founders of the Company. She previously acted as
an Executive Director from July 1992 to February 2015 and had continued
to be a member of the senior management of the Group thereafter. She
had rejoined the Board as an Executive Director from November 2017 to
February 2023. Madam Li is coronated as the Honorary Director in February
2023 as an advisory role to the Company for contributing to the Group
on significant matters. She also holds directorships in certain principal
subsidiaries of the Company.

Madam Li is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick, and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita. She is a director of
GT Winners Limited (“GT Winners”), the controlling shareholder of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Madam Li, Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita each owns 45%, 45% and 10%
equity interest in GT Winners.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~Annual Report 2022/23
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEERAREH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic BA, EMBA, JD

Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 50, graduated from Columbia University, New York in
1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science and
Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York University
School of Law in 1998 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
degree from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. Mr. Pang has been appointed as
a vice president of Belt & Road General Chamber of Commerce in April
2018, a member of council of the Vocational Training Council in July
2019, the chairman of Executive Board of the Hong Kong Real Property
Federation since September 2019 and the non-executive director of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority since March 2023.

Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the assistant to
the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun. Mr. Pang was appointed as the
Chairman of the Company and the Executive Director in April 2010 and re-
designated as the Co-Chairman of the Company and the Non- executive
Director in January 2015. He has been further re-designated as the Chairman
of the Company and the Executive Director since March 2017. Mr. Pang is
also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Executive Committee
and a member of the Management Committee. He is also currently the
Chairman of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall property development and
assets leasing business of the Group. He also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pang is the elder brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita and the son of Madam Li
Wai Hang, Christina. Mr. Pang is a director of GT Winners, the controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Mr. Pang,
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita each owns
45%, 45% and 10% equity interest in GT Winners.

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (1B, MBA, LLM
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 54, holds a Bachelor's degree in Law of the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master’s degree in Business Administration
of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of Laws
degree in International Economic Law of City University of Hong Kong. He
was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in 1994 and a senior economist in the
PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu has over 24 years of corporate management experience
and extensive experience in transactions of mergers and acquisitions and
investment and financing. He was a director of a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co- Chairman of the Company
and the Executive Director in January 2015. He has been re-designated as the
Deputy Chairman of the Company in March 2017 and is currently a member
of the Management Committee and Executive Committee. Mr. Xu also holds
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEERAREH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick /P
BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, PE(US), MICE, MHKIE

Chief Executive Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 48, graduated from the University of California, Berkeley
in the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree and
obtained a Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United
States in 1998 and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of
Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of California, United
States. He has over 23 years of geotechnical design and construction
experience in the United States and Hong Kong. He has been appointed
as a member of the Aviation Development and Three-runway System
Advisory Committee since August 2021, a non-executive director of the
Insurance Authority since December 2021 and a director of the Hong Kong
Cyberport Management Company Limited since April 2023. Ir Dr. Pang
was appointed as Justice of the Peace by the Government of Hong Kong in
June 2017.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as the Executive
Director since April 2010 and acted as the Deputy Chairman of the
Company from April 2010 to March 2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2017 and acted
as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company from April 2017 to January
2019. He is also the Chairman of the Management Committee and a
member of the Executive Committee. He leads the chief executive officer
office for managing overall performance of the construction business and
is the chairman of the City Services Group executive board of the Group
and a member of the property development executive board of the Group,
responsible for management of the overall professional services and
property development and assets leasing businesses of the Group. Ir Dr.
Pang is the younger brother of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Mrs. Lee
Pang Yat Sum, Rita, and also the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina,
both of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are
controlling shareholders of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEERAREH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (alias Martin, former
name: Shea Chi Lap, Quadrant) B8us., MEcon., LLM,
FCPA(Aust.), CPA, CTA, ACMA, ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 56, graduated from Monash University of Australia with
a Bachelor’s degree in Business and later completed a postgraduate
programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master’s degree
in Economics from Jinan University, China and a Master of Laws degree
from Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia,
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants of the United Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is also a
Chartered Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and obtained a Certificate of Pass in
Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong Certified Tax Advisers Serving
in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone,
Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen Municipal Office of the State
Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as qualified accountant and company secretary in
various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange over
the years. He was the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01184) from 1999 to 2005. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00371) since 2002 and is also the chairman of the audit committee
of the company. He has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) since 2015
and is the chairman of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group
as Financial Controller of property development segment in 2008 and
has been appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and
the Company Secretary since 2015. He has been appointed as Executive
Director since July 2017 and is also currently a member of the Management
Committee and Executive Committee. He is also currently the member
of the property development executive board of the Group, responsible
for the management of the overall property development and assets
leasing business of the Group. Mr. Shea also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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EEREEERAREH

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee 584

Ms. Wong, aged 37, graduated from Occidental College, Los Angeles in
the United States in 2006 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and
has over 16 years’ experience in marketing and business management.
She is currently the co-founder and director of Wow Concepts Limited
and founder of Topfit Limited. Ms. Wong is a member of Omicron Delta
Epsilon, the International Honor Society in Economics. Ms. Wong has been
appointed as Non-executive Director since May 2020 and is also a member
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 855 Jp

Dr. Yim, aged 64, is the founder, executive director, chairman and
managing director of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184) since May
1993. He has been appointed as a chairman and executive director of
Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) in October 2015. Dr. Yim was an
independent director of Innolux Corporation (a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange, stock code: 3481.TW) during July 2013 to June
2022.

Dr. Yim is currently the president of the Hong Kong Justice of the Peace
Association, a member of HKSAR Fight Crime Committee, a non-official
member of Correctional Services Department Complaints Appeal Board, a
member of Development Bureau Appeal Tribunal Panel, the honorary vice
chairman of the Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association, a member
of Yan Chai Hospital Advisory Board, the vice chairman of Federation of
Hong Kong-Shanghai Associations, the chairman of the Tsuen Wan District
Civic Education Committee, the vice chairman of Tsuen Wan District JPC
Honorary President Council and the honorary permanent president of Hong
Kong Baptist University Foundation.

Dr. Yim was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in May
2020. He has been re-designated as Non-executive Director in September
2021 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 884, MBA, CFA

Mr. Wu, aged 56, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and
a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon Fraser University
in Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The
Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. Mr. Wu was the chief
executive officer of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (now known
as Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006
to September 2010. He was also a director and chief executive officer of
RHB Hong Kong Limited from April 2011 to October 2017. Mr. Wu has
been appointed as the non-executive, independent member of the board
of DSS, Inc. (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock
code: DSS) since October 2019, the independent director of Alset Inc.
(a company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: AEl) since November 2020,
the independent nominee director of Alset Capital Acquisition Corp. (a
company listed on NASDAQ, stock code: ACAXU) since January 2022 and
the independent non-executive director of JY Grandmark Holdings Limited
("JY Grandmark”) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 02231) since November 2019. Mr. Wu has also
been appointed as managing director, Investment Banking of Glory Sun
Securities Limited from January 2019 to May 2022.

Mr. Wu previously worked for a number of international investment banks
and possesses over 30 years of experience in the investment banking,
capital markets, institutional broking and direct investment businesses. He
is a registered license holder to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
He has been appointed as a member of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference from January 2013 to December 2022.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
since February 2015 and is also the Chairman of Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt MBA, CFA

Mr. Lam, aged 54, is the general manager of Wanda Hotel Development
Company Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group. He
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of OOH
Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 08091) since August 2019 and was the independent non-executive
director of CCIAM Future Energy Limited from October 2020 to March
2023 (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00145). He was an executive director of Yuexiu Property Company
Limited (stock code: 00123), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and also the chief financial officer of the Yue Xiu Group.
Mr. Lam was previously the head of Corporate Finance and Business
Development at GOME Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (now known
as GOME Retail Holdings Limited) (stock code: 00493) (“GOME"), one
of China’s largest electronics retailers, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Prior to joining GOME, he spent about 10 years
working in investment banking and capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN
AMRO Rothschild, and Deutsche Bank. Mr. Lam is a Chartered Financial
Analyst and holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Rice
University in the United States. He has extensive experience in corporate
finance, financial and accounting fields.

Mr. Lam has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director since

January 2017 and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang BComm, LLB, FCPA(Aust.)

Mr. Ho, aged 46, is the chief operating officer, executive director and a
member of the executive committee of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS")
(@ company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
00659). He joined NWS in January 2018 and is responsible for overseeing
the business development and mergers and acquisitions affairs, and certain
businesses of NWS. He also oversees the day-to-day administrative and
operational functions of the company. He was also the senior investment
director of New World Development Company Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00017), an executive
director of New World Strategic Investment Limited and was a partner of
an international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and Jacobson LLP.

Mr. Ho is a non-executive director of Shoucheng Holdings Limited (stock
code: 00697) since May 2018 and Wai Kee Holdings Limited (stock code:
00610) since December 2018 and an independent non-executive director
of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02307) since
May 2010. He was an independent non-executive director of Hailiang
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 02336) during May 2014 to
August 2020 (all of the above-mentioned companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Ho was also a director and/or senior
executive in several Hong Kong listed public companies.

Mr. Ho is the deputy chairperson of CPA Australia Greater Bay Area
Committee, a member of the China Committee of Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce, a committee member of the General Committee
of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, a standing committee
member of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia and a vice chairman
of Inner Mongolia & Hong Kong Youth Exchange Association. He was
a committee member of the Industry Advisory Committee of Insurance
Authority from June 2020 to May 2022 and a committee member of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Shenyang from 2007
to 2021. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor of
Laws degree from The University of Sydney, Australia and was admitted as
a solicitor in New South Wales, Australia and England and Wales and as
a solicitor and barrister in the High Court of Australia. He is also a fellow
member of CPA Australia. Mr. Ho has extensive experience in the area
of corporate management, investments, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition transactions and international brand and retail management.

Mr. Ho has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)
Dr. Yen Gordon BSc(ME), MBA, DBA

Dr. Yen, aged 53, graduated from Boston University in the United States
with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Manufacturing Engineering in
1990. He was also awarded a Master of Business Administration degree
from McGill University in Canada in 1992 and a Doctor of Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. Dr.
Yen is currently the founding managing partner of Radiant Tech Ventures
Limited, an innovation and technology venture capital firm. He has more
than 27 years of management and operational experience in private and
listed companies in investment, global supply chain, manufacturing and
infrastructure industries. Dr. Yen is registered as a responsible officer to
carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
He has also been appointed as a non-executive director and non-executive
vice chairman of Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00420) since 2013 and
2018 respectively and an independent non-executive director of Impro
Precision Industries Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 01286) since 2019. Dr. Yen is a Honorable
Life-Chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Textiles Limited and
chairman of the Hong Kong Business Angel Network.

Dr. Yen has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director in
September 2021 and is also a member of the Nomination Committee.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Group

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons), MA(ArbDR),
MSc(C.Magt), MRICS, MICE, MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 67, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981
with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master of Arts
degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of
Science degree in Construction Management in 1998 from City University
of Hong Kong. He further obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004
from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution
of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers as well as a fellow
member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United Kingdom
and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has over 42 years’
experience in the construction industry, including civil, building, foundation
and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau, Vietnam and
the Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and was the Chief
Operating Officer of the construction segment of the Group. He is currently
the Executive Vice President of the Company, responsible for assisting the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the operation of the
construction business of the Group.

Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve MSc(Pv)

Mr. Tam, aged 59, obtained a higher diploma in structural engineering and
an associateship in civil and structural engineering from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1986
and 1988 respectively. He further obtained a postgraduate diploma in
civil engineering and a Master of Science degree in project management
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2009 respectively.
Prior to joining the Group in 2002, he had served a construction company,
responsible for various construction projects in Hong Kong. He has more
than 16 years of experience in corporate management. Mr. Tam had been
the Chief Executive Officer of City Services Group and is currently the
director of the Group overseeing the overall performance of the internal
operations of the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company and is also a member of other business executive board of
the Group.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Group (continued)
Mr. Lam Wai Hung, Roy EMBA, Msc, B. Eng(Hon)

Mr. Lam, aged 38, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2006 with a Bachelor of Engineering in Building Services Engineering.
He has also awarded a Master of Science in Real Estate from The University
of Hong Kong in 2010 and an Executive Master of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018. He has 17 years’
experience in business development and property development. Mr. Lam
worked with the Group from 2006 to 2015, responsible for assisting in
management of projects under construction and property development
segments. Mr. Lam re-joined the Group in 2017 and is currently the
General Manager of the Company, responsible for assisting the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the operation of the business
of the Group, and the director of Asia One Credit Limited and the Chief
Executive Officer of Mattex Asia Development Limited, responsible for
the management of construction finance and construction material
e-procurement businesses of the Group.

Construction Segment

Sr Lee Ka Lun, Stephen BA(AS), B. Bldg, Dip Proj Man(RICS), FRICS,
FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Sr Lee, aged 66, graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a Bachelor of
Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) with
fellow membership of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and membership of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators. He is on the List of Arbitrators of Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre and is a member of the Joint Panel of
Arbitrators of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Hong Kong
Institute of Architects. Sr Lee has 42 years’ experience in quantity surveying
and commercial management in Hong Kong, the Mainland China, Taiwan,
Macau, Singapore, Malaysia and the Philippines. He worked with the
Group from 1998 to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Sr Lee was
the Chief Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group from
2017 and is currently the Chairman of Chun Wo Construction Holdings
Company Limited.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23

SEEEAE®

£8#)

MEHEE EMBA, Msc, B. Eng(Hon)

M E - 3857 - 2006 FEENEFEREITK
B EREFREIRBTELEN - HIF
R010FEFBFRERREREL(BIE)
B R R2018F ERER X ASBHERITIA
BTHEBRBELTEN BREBERLNE
BREBITFLER - MEEBNR2006F 2
015FFAZERAER  BEBHEEEE
LYHEBERDI2IBEE o MEER20174F
BRALEE  BEAARRZHALE BF
MBARRZITHAHEBRNEE 2 21518
B URGBMNE—EEBRATIZEEREM
ATMNEREEERARZITRER  BF
AEEEEMENEEMBNE ERBTaz
EZER -

BEDE

ZRIFAEED BAAS), B Bldg,

Dip Proj Man(RICS), FRICS, FHKIS, ACIArb,
RPS(QS)

B SR - 665% 0 1980 FZENFBAL -
BERXBLT(EES)EAM - RRN1982F 1
SgEsstai - gARSAMEEAS
E(TRAIE) - WARREREFIISAME
GhEBIEMEBSERTE - UREERE
FREMAEEE - HENATBEBITE
RORREERT - AT EISMES
BEEREMESTHATHEZESNE - T
SENES  PEAM - A8 - SBPFY - ZHhn
¥ BRAGDRIFEEEEREHBE IR
ENEBERR 285 o BN 1998E2005F
RIZENAER  WHR201MFEIRAEE -
FTREMBE2017FRERAARERES
THEH  REREMBEZERERAGC
FE



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEERAREH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Mr. Leung Wing Chuen, William 8. Eng, ANEC38&4ECCPM,
MiStructE, FCHKRI

Mr. Leung, aged 59, graduated from University of Glasgow with a Bachelor
of Civil Engineering degree in 1987. He further obtained a NEC3 and NEC4
Engineering and Construction Contract Project Manager Accreditation
in 2018. He is a member of the Institution of Structural Engineers and a
fellow member of the China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has 36
years' experience in construction industry, including infrastructure and
project management in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. Leung joined the
Group in 2012 and is currently the executive director of the construction
segment of the Group, responsible for overseeing of several divisions in the
construction business.

Mr. Luk Wai Lam, William 8. £ng, EMBA, MICE, CEng, FHKIE, RPE,
ANEC3&4ECCPM

Mr. Luk, aged 45, graduated from the University College London in 2000
with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He was also
awarded an Executive Master of Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2016 and a NEC3 and NEC4 Engineering
and Construction Contract Project Manager Accreditation in 2019. He
is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom,
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Registered
Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong Kong. Mr. Luk has 23 years’
experience in construction industry, including infrastructure and project
management in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China. Mr. Luk
joined the Group in 2010 and is currently the Operations Director of the
construction segment of the Group, responsible for the operation of the
civil business.

Mr. Chan Anthony Yin Chung

Mr. Chan, aged 37, graduated from University of British Columbia
in Canada in 2008. He is a deputy honorary secretary of Hong Kong
Construction Association (“HKCA"), an honorary treasurer of the HKCA
Civil Engineering Committee, a vice chairman of the HKCA Environmental
Committee, an honorary chairman of the HKCA Young Members Society,
a chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction STEAM Alliance,
a chairman of the CIC Course Advisory Panel on Civil Engineering, and a
vice chairman of the Youth of Guangzhou and Hong Kong Association.
He is also a committee member of the Lifewire Foundation Limited. Mr.
Chan became a business partner of the Group in 2019. He has substantial
experience in construction industry and currently is the managing director
of Kwan Lee Holding Limited and is responsible for the management of its
overall business.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREEERAREH

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Construction Segment (continued)

Er Ng Swee How, Vincent B. Sc.Eng.(Hons)., M.Sc.Eng., P.Eng.,
CEng., ACPE., MIES., M.Con.E.S

Er Ng, aged 68, graduated from the Aberdeen University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’'s degree of Engineering (Hons) in 1980. He
has also awarded a Master of Civil Engineering degree from the National
University of Singapore in 1985. Er Ng is a Registered Professional Engineer
in Singapore, a Registered Asean Chartered Professional Engineer and
a member of the Institution of Engineers, Singapore. He has 43 years’
experience in structural design, civil engineering and project management
in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Sri Lanka and Vietnam. Er Ng became
a business partner of the Group in 2016 and is currently the managing
director of R.J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd., responsible for the
management of its overall business.

Non-franchised Bus Services Segment
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Calvin 88AMktg)

Mr. Wong, aged 38, graduated from Oxford Brookes University in
the United Kingdom in 2009 with a degree in Bachelor of Business
Administration in Marketing. He has 13 years’ experience in local logistics
industry and business management. Mr. Wong became a business partner
of the Group in 2018 and is currently the Chief Executive Officer of the
non-franchised bus services segment of the Group, responsible for the
management of its overall business.

Education Segment
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita 54, /D

Ms. Pang aged 49, graduated from Harvard University, the United States
in 1996 with a Bachelor of Arts degree. She has also awarded a degree of
Juris Doctor from Duke University, North Carolina in the United States in
1999. Ms. Pang is a member admitted to the State of Bar of New York and
Massachusetts in the United States and a certified public accountant of
Delaware in the United States. Prior to joining the Group in 2019, Ms. Pang
had practiced law at Citibank (Hong Kong) and US law firms and has over
22 years' experience in legal and compliance fields in the United States and
Hong Kong. Ms. Pang is the founder and director of See Change Education
Limited, responsible for the management of education business of the
Group.

Ms. Pang is the younger sister of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, the elder
sister of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick and the daughter of Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina. Ms. Pang owns 10% equity interest in GT Winners, the
controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules)
in which each of Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina owns 45% equity interest.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERME

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance into its management structure
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance, upholding a high standard of
ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business,
and ensuring that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the Year. The Board had duly performed its duties relating
to the corporate governance functions and was not aware of any code
provisions of the CG Code being violated during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, after a specific enquiry made by the Company, that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on behalf
of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, setting of management targets and supervision
of management performance. The Board confines itself to making
broad policy decisions and also exercising a number of reserved powers
as mentioned below, while delegating responsibility for more detailed
considerations to the Management Committee under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company:

. those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference of
various Board committees (as amended from time to time), for which
Board’s approval must be sought from time to time;

o those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must be
sought in accordance with the Group's internal policy (as amended
from time to time);

o consideration and approval of the ESG report, financial statements
in interim reports and annual reports, announcements and press
releases of interim and annual results;

o focusing on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, financing and Shareholders;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

o consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

o reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.

To enable independent advice accessible by the Board, a Director has a
material conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board, such Director is required to declare such interest
and abstain from voting, but is still able to express his/her opinion. The
matter is considered at a Board meeting and voted on by the Directors
who have no material interest in that transaction. Each Director may seek
independent professional advice as considered necessary to fulfil his/her
responsibilities and in exercising independent judgment when making
decisions in furtherance of his/her Directors’ duties at the Company’s
expense. Independent professional advice shall include legal advice and
advice of accountants and other professional financial advisers on matters
of law, accounting and other regulatory matters. Any advice obtained may
be made available to other members of the Board. Each Board Committee
should report to the Board on its decisions and recommendations.
The Board has reviewed and satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness for the Year of the abovementioned mechanism.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises ten Directors including
four Executive Directors, two NEDs and four INEDs, with INEDs representing
not less than one-third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules.
The Board members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (resigned on 9 February 2023)
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 88s Jp

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Dr. Yen Gordon

Each of the NEDs and INEDs has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years. The appointment letter is
renewable subject to consent given by the Company and the respective
NEDs and INEDs. The NEDs and INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

The Board had at all times during the Year met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with
at least one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each INED
to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent under the Listing
Rules.

Relationship between Board Members

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick being
brothers, and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina is the mother of Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley is the chairman and executive director of Hi-Level
Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08113) in which Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant is an
independent non-executive director.

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li
Wai Hang, Christina and/or Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita, through the
companies controlled by them, hold minority interests in certain investment
vehicles in which Dr. Yen Gordon also has interests.

Save as disclosed above, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable development
in long run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee has endorsed the

board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the measurable objectives and provides
that the Company should endeavor to achieve board diversity through
consideration of a number of factors and measurable objectives, which
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.

The Board since 2017 has upheld to consist of at least one female member
and currently has one female Director and as such has achieved gender
diversity in the Board. The Board has reviewed and satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness for the Year of the Board Diversity Policy.
We will strive to enhance female representation and achieve an appropriate
balance of gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation
and local recommended best practices.

The Company has also adopted a workforce diversity policy which set
outs the factors and measurable objectives in the employment. Details of
which are provided in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" set out on pages 44 to 85.

While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its
pledges, appointments of board member and employment will be based
on merit while taking into account diversity.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) setting out the key selection criteria and principles to be used
by the Company in making recommendations on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors to
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skill, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the Board Diversity
Policy and the Nomination Policy to nominate suitably qualified candidates
to the Board for consideration and make recommendations on the
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board.
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LEERIRE
BOARD COMPOSITION (continued) EER/AEK @)
Nomination Policy (continued) REBBER(4#)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the RZRZE@AEEREEZRKXELZTILEE
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy RIRZBBURZHIT  MEZ RN EE B
and the Board will review the above policies, as appropriate, to ensure their ~ sTLA EBER @ WEREITZAK »
effectiveness.

Board Diversity EERMEZ T

The following charts show the diversity of the Board as of the date of this TFERBMNAREBHEER 2% ik
report:

Number of Directors

Gender 1 Bl

Male S 9
Female peqid 1
Age Group FhAa Rl

50 or below 50p%sk A T

Over 50 50B%2A £ 6
5 years or below SEHIATR 3
Over 5 years S5&AE

INED Length of Service BIYFHTESREEH

Over 9 years 9F LA E 0
Experience or Expertise REMNEEAD

& Accounting and Finance & GEREK

& Company Secretarial & RNEWE

& Construction & BE

& Corporate Management & 1EERE

&  Electronics & Bf

& Investment and Financing & RERRE

& Legal & R

& Marketing & TWIREE

& Merger and Acquisition & WEREH

& Property Development & YERER

& Retail Management & ZEBEE

& Supply Chain Management & HEEEE
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT EEHEER 2R
MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held five board meetings and one REAEER - KRB RITTAREEREH
general meeting. The attendance records of each member of the Board K&—AXBRRAT -EERKEERETNZE

and Board committees at the respective meetings during the Year are set @& (AR BERAFE RN L FRE @ % 2 08k
out below: AT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

LEEHERY FIEEAY

Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EER BRZER REZEE MzEg RFAE

Directors 23 = o3 o3 A

Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chaiman) ¥~ E%4(Z/E) 5/5 - 2 - 1"
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry (Deputy Chairman) — SEZ %4 (5/2E) 5/5 - - - 10
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Y- AELTIED

(Chief Executive Officer) (17848%) 5/5 - - _ "
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant RMEEEE

(Chief Financial Officer and (BROHES

Company Secretary) RafE) 5/5 - - - 1"
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina’ FTEETL 44 - - - 1N
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Eitfa/MA 415 3.3 W - 1/1
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley BEBET 5/5 33 b)) - N

Independent Non-executive Directors B ##1TES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung fHeEstE 5/5 33 22 10 111
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhELE 5/5 33 2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang EELE 55 3R 2 1/1 1/1
Dr. Yen Gordon BESELT 5/5 - 20 - 17

! Resigned as Executive Director on 9 February 2023

R2023F2 A9RBHIHITES
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL

DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense. All Directors are regularly provided with information
in respect of the Group’s latest business development and the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements to facilitate their effective performance
of directors’ duties and ensure compliance and maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. During the Year, all Directors had
participated in seminars and/or studied materials on the following topics
for developing and refreshing their knowledge and skills. The Company has

EEZRHEBEEREE

BB 2REE2IMEMIBIIRE - B
HAREXN - 2RESFRTHREHREEL
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RERIMERRENRHER 2EM 1M
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HEBRENERERER - RAFE - 28
B0 2EUTIENHANE R/ XMES
BB RHARHE M BT E AR K BE - AN A
EREXRESNAFESBEIIRE -

received from all Directors their respective training records for the Year.

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina'

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon

Topic on training covered (Note)

BARENEE ()

Notes:

(a) Corporate Governance
(b) Regulatory

(c) Management

(d) Finance

! Resigned as Executive Director on 9 February 2023
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EEERRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the Chairman, Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic and the role of Chief Executive Officer is performed by
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board while
the chief executive is responsible for managing the Group’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Management Committee and the Executive Committee. The respective
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those
set out in the CG Code and are available on the Company’s website. All
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates as
a general management committee with overall delegated authority from
the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business decisions and
facilitate the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in running of day-to-day business of the
Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation of the
business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive Committee
is also supported by the heads of Project Management, cascading
performance management down to project level.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (continued)

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the Group
and determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
and approved the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and senior
management of the Group, and recommended the remuneration of INEDs
to the Board for approval.

Emolument Policy for Directors

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group
adopted the following main principles in determining the Directors’
remuneration:

° No individual should determine his/her own remuneration;

o Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with whom
the Group competes for human resources; and

o Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a
view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and
enhancing the value of the Company to the Shareholders.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)
Emolument Policy for Directors (continued)

In addition to the basic salaries, the Share Option Scheme and the Share
Award Scheme have been adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors
for the continual operation and development of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 10 to the financial statements of this annual report. The annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group by
band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration Band

HK$2,000,000 or below 2,000,000/ 7T8A T~
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000

2,000,001 023,000,000 77T
3,000,001 024,000,000 77T
4,000,001 7c 25,000,000 77T
5,000,001/87C6,000,000 #7T

BEERETMZEES W)
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Number of

Senior Management
EEEEAEBAY

3
5
1
1
1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
the succession planning for Directors, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose candidates
for appointment to the Board for consideration and the Board will review
the qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability
to the Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background. The decision of appointing a director must be approved by
the Board and all Board members’ appointments will be based on merit
while taking diversity into account.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises seven
members, consisting of an Executive Director, two NEDs and four INEDs.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Members of the Nomination Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Dr. Yen Gordon

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objectives assessment for the year ended
31 March 2022;

(i)  assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i)  recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves for
re-election at the 2022 annual general meeting for Shareholders’
approval; and

(iv)  considering the re-appointment of the INEDs.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company’s external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
Group's audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the external audit and
internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises five members,
consisting of two NEDs and three INEDs with its chairman possessing
appropriate professional qualification, accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Members of the Audit Committee:

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

reviewing the annual report and the annual results announcement
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval,

reviewing the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to
the Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2022
annual general meeting;

approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters for
the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection with
the statutory audit and review of the results announcement by the
external auditor;

reviewing the ESG report of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022, with a recommendation to the Board for approval,

reviewing the whistleblowing policy and system and its
implementation and effectiveness;

reviewing the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2022, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

overseeing the Group’'s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures and reviewing the
report of the internal control function on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group;

reviewing the audit plan for the year ended 31 March 2023 by the
external auditor; and

approving the scope of non-assurance services to be provided by the
external auditor.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group's internal control and conducts
review on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and reviewing
the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk management and
legal and regulatory compliance of the Group in order to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

Internal Controls and Risk Management Framework

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including policies for
delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of authorities designated
to specified positions within the Group. Such policies and procedures set
out the framework for the risk management and internal control systems
for adoption throughout the Group. To ensure that the systems in place
are adequate and address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the
Executive Directors, with the assistance of the executive board of different
business divisions, review the existing policies and practices and issue
directives from time to time to highlight the specific issues and concerns in
order to achieve ongoing improvement on the governance practices within
the Group. The Executive Directors also approve operational and financial
reports, business plans and budgets provided by management of each
business division at regular meetings.

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group are appointed
to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and associated companies of
material importance in order to monitor the operation of these companies.
They attend board meetings and participate in significant decision-making
process on reviewing and approving financial budgets, establishing business
plans and controlling performance targets with associated risks identified.
The management teams of different business divisions are accountable
for the performance of their respective divisions on a day-to-day basis.
The Executive Directors review the financial and operational reports from
division management regularly to monitor the performance and assess the
significant risk exposure of the subsidiaries.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Internal Controls and Risk Management Framework
(continued)

The Group’s Finance Department reports to the Board in respect of
overseeing the financial reporting and control systems for all subsidiaries
and associated companies of the Company. The business segments
compile annual budgets for review by the Group’s finance function and
the consolidated annual budgets are presented to the Executive Directors
for approval. The Executive Directors also hold regular meetings with the
management team of business divisions to review the cashflow position
of the Group, consider material ad-hoc projects which require additional
operating or capital expenditure, and make decisions on significant
investment and lending activities. Payment approval is subject to control of
the limits of authorities clearly setting out the authority with reference to
the specified positions of the relevant personnel.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing, reviewing
and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group companies in
order to safeguard the interests of the Group against legal risks. It also
oversees the regulatory compliance matters of all Group companies in the
environment of their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of statutory
documentation of Group companies and overseeing compliance matters in
relation to the Listing Rules and the relevant corporate laws and regulations
of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on important legal
matters and compliance issues when necessary.

Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal
audit function conducts internal audit on different business divisions and
functions within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the effectiveness
and identify weaknesses in the existing internal control, legal and
regulatory compliance and risk management systems of the Group. In
the event that defects are identified, the internal audit function engages
in discussions with the management and recommends suggestions for
improvement.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function (continued)

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal audit
report prepared by the internal audit function twice every year. Reviews
have been conducted on the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems during the Year and the Board and the Audit Committee are
satisfied that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the
risks that could adversely impact the ability of the Group to achieve its
business objectives, they do not eliminate such risks and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or non-compliance.

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside
information in compliance with the SFO. Employees should preserve
the confidentiality of any inside information according to the manner
specified in the policy and the “Code of Employee Conduct and Business
Ethics” contained in the Staff Handbook. The Group has also adopted
the pre-clearance procedures on dealing in the Company’s securities
and notified Directors and relevant employees of restrictions on dealing
in the Company’s securities during blackout periods to prevent possible
mishandling of inside information within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young (“EY") is
analysed as follows:
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of annual results, transaction advisory, tax advisory and compliance services which has
been approved by the Audit Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this
annual report.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules as well
as reports to regulators and information disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

As at 31 March 2023, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis. The management has provided to the Board the
necessary explanation and information to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial statements of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, the Company Secretary,
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
have rights to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, which must
be signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition must be deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for the attention
of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is received by
the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition
should also be deposited at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong
at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Head
Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of
the Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide
a written requisition to the Company stating the resolution intended to
be proceeded at the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited
at the Registered Office for the attention of the Company Secretary. To
ensure that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest
opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at
the Head Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company
by Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the procedures available on the
Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as
set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act and the Bye-laws
when making any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and activities.
The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars are printed and
sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications
and press releases of the Company are published on the Company’s
website. The Company’s website disseminates corporate information and
other relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a
timely basis. The information and business update of subsidiaries is also
available on their respective websites.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and encourages the Directors,
the members of the Board committees and senior management of the
Group to attend and answer questions raised by Shareholders at the
general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The shareholders
communication policy (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) has been
updated and adopted for ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company in order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with
the Company. The Shareholders Communication Policy is available on the
Company’s website and will be reviewed by the Board from time to time to
reflect current best practice in communications with Shareholders.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

During the Year, the Company has implemented the Shareholders
Communication Policy effectively by maintaining an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders, and ensuring timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders, mainly through the Company’s announcements, results
announcements, interim and annual reports, general meeting(s), as well as
by making available all the disclosures published to the Stock Exchange’s
website and the corporate communications on the Company’s website.
The Board has reviewed and satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness for the Year of the Shareholders Communication Policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s share
registrars are set out in the section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION”
of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent that such information
is publicly available. Shareholders may also send written enquiries or
requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798 5700 or by email
to info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the Investor Relations
Department.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) for the Company with effect from 1 March 2019 which setting
out the principles and guidelines to provide the Shareholders with regular
dividend.

Subject to the Bye-laws and the statutory requirements, the Company
shall maintain a sustainable and steady profit distribution policy. Under the
Dividend Policy, the Board targets to pay dividends to the Shareholders
in an aggregate annual amount of approximately 30% of the annual

consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders.

In proposing distribution of dividend, the Board will take into consideration
of the following factors:

o the long-term interest of the Group;
° the general interest of all the Shareholders;
o the sustainable development of the Group;

o the earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirement and
distributable reserves of the Group; and

any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERES

DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend/not to recommend final
dividend to the Shareholders for approval and to declare/not to declare any
other dividend, including but not limited to interim dividend and/or special
dividends, after taking into consideration the factors as stated above.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of business integrity,
honesty and transparency in all business dealings. It is in all interest of the
Company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or malpractice that
compromise the interest of the Shareholders, investors, customers and
the wider public does not occur. In line with this commitment to maintain
high ethical standards, the Company has adopted an anti-fraud and anti-
bribery policy which setting out a zero-tolerance approach against all forms
of fraud, bribery and corruption, and comply with all applicable laws and
regulatory requirements.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To achieve and maintain the highest standards of openness, probity and
accountability, employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty. The Company hence has devised a
whistleblowing policy for all employees and relevant third parties who deal
with the Group, which setting the guideline for reporting on irregularities
found at work. The Group ensures that proper arrangements are in
place for the fair and independent investigation of such matters and for
appropriate follow-up action. The identity of each whistleblower and all
information provided in connection with a whistleblowing report will be
treated with the strict confidence. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness for the Year of the
whistleblowing policy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has amended the Bye-laws to reflect and
align with changes to the requirements under the amended Appendix 3 of
the Listing Rules with respect to core shareholder protection standards. The
amendment was approved by Shareholders in the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 26 August 2022. Details of the amendment are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 July 2022. An up-to-date
version of the Bye-laws is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERHE

The Board are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and assets leasing, professional services (including provision
of security, tunnel and other facility management services), non-franchised
bus services and manufacturing of PET radiopharmaceuticals.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 147
and 148.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 308.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has approved and adopted a Dividend Policy. Depending on
the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions and factors as set
out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by
the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year
will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. Details of the Dividend Policy
have been disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.05
cents per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2021/22: HK1.10
cents), amounting to approximately HK$18.9 million (2021/22: HK$19.8
million), to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 1 September 2023. The proposed Final
Dividend will be paid on 11 September 2023 subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM").
Together with the interim dividend of HKO.67 cent per share paid in
January 2023, the proposed Final Dividend will result in a full-year dividend
of HK1.72 cents for the Year per share (2021/22: HK1.98 cents).
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Directors’ Report

EZRHE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM and the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend (subject to
approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed during the following periods respectively:

EENERDBFECTE

RETHRFERAFAGINE LREZE
1% REREZZORARE 2 ER(AFR
RRBRBFERE LHE) - ARAEDFIR
TSR ERER O BP B TE

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

AETHERRBEASYNE EREZER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration
R i P XA AVEE R ) A IR IR

4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 17 August 2023
202398 A17H (2 M) T F48307

Closure of register of members

TiemERmnBrELTE

Friday, 18 August 2023 to
Wednesday, 23 August 2023
(both days inclusive)
20238 H18H(EHA)E
2023F8A23H(EH=)
(PREEEMX)

For determining the entitlement of the proposed Final Dividend

REERREEZZNRERE 2ER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration
R E& A7 i P XA AEE R ) A IR R

4:30 p.m. on Monday, 28 August 2023
20238 H28H (EH—) N F48530%

Closure of register of members

TiemERmnBsrELTE&

Tuesday, 29 August 2023 to
Friday, 1 September 2023
(both days inclusive)
2023F8A29R(EH)E
2023F9R1H(EHA)
(PREEEMX)

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM and be eligible for
the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than the respective latest time as stated above for
registration.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the Group, its
principal risks and uncertainties and an analysis of its performance for the
Year are provided in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT”
set out on pages 12 and 13 and “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” set out on pages 14 to 43 .

The Group's environmental policies and performance, compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations as well as its relationships with employees,
customers and suppliers and other significant stakeholders are discussed
in the section headed “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT"” set out on pages 44 to 85.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities on issue of equity
securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2023 are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme.

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide the directors and
employees of, and technical, financial or corporate managerial advisers
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, and to encourage the
grantees of options to work towards enhancing the value of and for the
benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Eligible Participants

The eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full
time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; (ii) directors (including
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company or of any subsidiary; (iii) part-time employees of the Company
or of any subsidiary with weekly work hours of 15 hours or above; and
(iv) advisors and consultants to the Company or to any subsidiary in the
technical, financial or corporate managerial aspects.

Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all the
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing the ordinary
resolution of the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit under the
Share Option Scheme on 11 December 2017 (i.e. 187,553,384 shares) (the
“Refreshment”). Since the Refreshment, 38,000,000 share options had
been granted and accepted.

Furthermore, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at
the date of this report, the Company had 38,000,000 outstanding share
options granted and remaining unexercised under the Share Option
Scheme, representing approximately 2.12% of the issued Shares, and
the number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
were 38,000,000 shares, representing approximately 2.12% of the issued
Shares.

Maximum Entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue without separate approval from the
Shareholders.

Option Period

The option period of a particular option is the period during which the
option can be exercised. Such period is notified by the Board to each
grantee at the time of making an offer. In any event, the option period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Acceptance of Options

The grantee of options shall pay HK$1 in favour of the Company by way
of consideration for the grant of options within 30 days from the date of
offer.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall be no less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value per share.

Vesting Period

No minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised set out in the Share Option Scheme, but it is subject to the terms
and provisions of each grant. Among the share options granted on 31
March 2022, up to 30% can be exercised on the first anniversary of the
date of grant, further 30% can be exercised on the second anniversary
of the date of grant and the remaining 40% can be exercised on the
third anniversary of the date of grant, such that any unexercised share
options can be carried forward from the previous anniversary year(s) and
exercisable until 30 March 2026.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms thereof, the Share Option Scheme was valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012 (i.e. the
adoption date of the Share Option Scheme) and expired on 2 September
2022, after which no further share options shall be offered or granted
but the share options granted prior to the expiry date shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.
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Directors’ Report

EEREE
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BARRESTE )
Movements of Share Options BREZ2EE
Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share B ETZI TR AEERND R L MHEKRTT
Option Scheme during the Year were as follows: EHRERERFBT ¢
Number of share options
BREZE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
Name or category price as at as at
of grantees Date of grant (HK$)  Vesting date  Exercise period 01/04/2022  31/03/2023
M20225 20235
TEE 481H 3H31H
AR AHBRESR R B (Er) HEBRH 8 o RATHE HRITHE
Directors:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic* 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
[ e 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 1,200,000
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
BREERE 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 1,200,000
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick* 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
T PELTIRA0* 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 1,200,000
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
KELEE 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 900,000 900,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 1,200,000 1,200,000
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
Eia/ ) E 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
EEBELT 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
HERLE 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
WhHELE 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
[CESEEDH:S 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000
Dr. Yen Gordon 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023  31/03/2023-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
EEHIELT 31/03/2024  31/03/2024-30/03/2026 300,000 300,000
31/03/2025  31/03/2025-30/03/2026 400,000 400,000

18,000,000 18,000,000
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EEREBE
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BREE )
Movements of Share Options (continued) EBRE22EE)
Number of share options
BREHE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
Name or category price as at as at
of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Vesting date  Exercise period 01/04/2022  31/03/2023
R2022%F  R2023F
T8 4818 3A31H
SN ] RHBM (gr) RN 76 te R ATBE i RATHE
Directors’ associate:
BEIHEN -
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina®*  31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 600,000 600,000
FEM AL 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 600,000 600,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 800,000 800,000
Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita* 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 450,000 450,000
I e 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 450,000 450,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 600,000 600,000
3,500,000 3,500,000
Other employees:
AftES -
In aggregate 31/03/2022 0.60 31/03/2023 31/03/2023-30/03/2026 4,950,000 4,950,000
a# 31/03/2024 31/03/2024-30/03/2026 4,950,000 4,950,000
31/03/2025 31/03/2025-30/03/2026 6,600,000 6,600,000
16,500,000 16,500,000
Total
25t 38,000,000 38,000,000

Number of options exercisable at the end of the Year

IAFEERE ] FITE 2 BRERR 11,400,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$ per share)
IEFTRECET(8R)) 0.60
# Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina resigned as Executive Director and has been appointed # FEIMLTR2023F2 0B B TR ITES - W E
as a Honorary Director on 9 February 2023, being an employee and senior management EEAREREE(EARRGIZERERSEEIEA
of the Company, and the share options granted to her were re-classified as “Directors’ B) MBTEHBERBIES EREAEEY
associate” from “Directors”. i YN

* Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are also substantial and * T—EAERTEBRLTNARNATIZ EERIZTR

controlling shareholders of the Company, and Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang B MET—RELLE  Z—HIET TR ZEHH
Yat Bond, Derrick, Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Mrs. Lee Pang Yat Sum, Rita, the ZERARRZEERBEEEBAEZEY — DO
employee and senior management of the Company, are associates of each other (within Bt G BB ARE LA REZRE)

the meanings as defined under the Listing Rules).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of Share Options (continued)

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant as
guoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$0.60 per share.

The number of share options available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning and the end of the financial year is 149,553,384
and O respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the Year (i.e. 11,400,000 shares)
divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the relevant class in
issue for the Year is 0.64%.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed
or cancelled during the Year.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has adopted the Share Award Scheme, pursuant to which the
Company may grant to eligible participants restricted Shares. A summary
of the Share Award Scheme is set out as below:

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain
selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including any eligible
person selected by the administration committee of the Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the terms of and entitled to receive a grant
under the Share Award Scheme, to work with the Company and to provide
incentive for them to achieve performance goals with a view to achieving
the objectives of increasing the value of the Company and aligning the
interests of the Selected Participants directly with those of the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares.

Eligible Persons

The eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme include individuals
being a director (including executive and non-executive director), officer or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares administered and held by the trustee
under the Share Award Scheme must not exceed 10% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares from time to time.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Maximum Entitlement

Subject to the requirement of the Listing Rules, the total number of
Shares awarded to any Selected Participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue without separate
approval from the Shareholders.

For the avoidance of doubt, the maximum entitlement to share options
granted and shares awarded are under such 1% limitation.

Acceptance of Restricted Shares

The amount that the Selected Participant(s) has to pay is subject to the
vesting conditions of such grant.

Purchase Price

The Administration Committee may determine and provide the trustee
with the expected maximum or average acquisition price of the Shares on
the market, and the referable amount to be paid to the trustee shall be
determined with reference to such instructed price.

Vesting Period

Subject to the requirement of the Listing Rules, the Administration
Committee may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in
force determine such vesting periods for the Shares to be vested.

Duration

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme and without
prejudicing the subsisting rights of any Selected Participant, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid for the period of 10 years commencing on 1
August 2017 (i.e. the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme).

Movements of Restricted Shares

The share awards granted on 2 August 2017 were vested on 2 August
2018. There were no share awards outstanding at the beginning and the
end of the financial year. As at 31 March 2023, 12,452,000 shares (not yet
granted) held by scheme trustee under the Share Award Scheme. No share
was awarded or vested during the Year.

Further details of the restricted Shares are set out in Note 37 to the
financial statements.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To enable the employees to have a stake in the investment in the Group,
the Group in December 2020 had separately entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Subsidiary SPA”) with two directors (one of
which is Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company) and certain employees of a subsidiary
(the “Relevant Subsidiary”) (collectively, the “Relevant Staff”) for disposal
of certain shares of the Relevant Subsidiary to the Relevant Staff. Upon
the fulfillment of certain performance conditions under the Subsidiary
SPA, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick shall acquire 3.5% equity interest in the
Relevant Subsidiary at the consideration of approximately HK$1.7 million
(the “Stake Investment”).

Other than the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the
Stake Investment disclosed above, at no time during the Year and at
the end of the Year was the Company or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Notes 30(b)(ii) and 33 to
the financial statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT
VENTURE AND ASSOCIATES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint

venture and associates as at 31 March 2023 are set out in Notes 48, 49, 50
and 51 to the financial statements respectively.
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RESERVES

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
March 2023 were as follows:

E]
72023F3A31H  RARAIED IR FIE
ZEEIT

HK$000
T

Contributed surplus AR 52,552
Retained earnings REHF 83,825
Total @st 136,377

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 54 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 152 and 153
respectively.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick JP

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (resigned on 9 February 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley BBS JP

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Dr. Yen Gordon

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry,
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee, Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley and Mr. Lam Yau
Fung, Curt will retire from office by rotation at the AGM. All the retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina resigned as an Executive Director
on 9 February 2023 in order to devote more time to other business
commitments. Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina has confirmed to the Board
that she has no disagreement with the Board and there is no matter in
relation to her resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” and Note 10 to the financial
statements, up to the date of this report, there were no changes to
information which are required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the INEDs are independent under the Listing
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals in
the Group are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to protect the
Directors from possible legal actions against them.
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EERFETBRAERERS
MERORES 2BERAR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

M2023%3 8318 » ARRIIREBEFESRHRE
1&BIFE3S2I6AR T AT TF < S acft 2 atts - &
ERARNREZITHRABRARD A S HEE(
EEAE (& RESFRBEEMEXVIE) 2
frtn - RGO REHF R - HIRBEEE

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as

STABRAIAR R B R PR e 2 s an T

follows:
% of the
Number of Number of Company’s
ordinary underlying issued
Name of Directors Capacity Nature of interest Notes shares held shares held share capital
BB 58 {EARAT
EEpE L BEiE PirsE EEREE HERAYE EROTREEDL
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
YEEE ERBEEA EARR
Interests of controlled Corporate interest 2 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.87% (L)
corporation
iR ARl
Mr. Xu Jianhua, Jerry Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
frEELE ERBEAA B AR
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 7,326,000 (L) 3,000,000 (L) 0.57% (L)
T AETTREAM ERBEEA EAER
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant ~ Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 3,000,000 (L) 0.16% (L)
RELEE ERBEAA B AR
Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
Eida/E ERBEEA EAER
Beneficiary of a trust ~ Corporate interest 3 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (5) 9.24% (L)
EAXRA AR 9.24% (S)

(L): Long Position ¥ &
(S): Short Position Y&
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

Name of Directors

EEpA

Capacity

a6

Nature of interest Notes

BaitE izt

EERFETBRAERERS
MERORES 2BERAR

(%)

Number of
ordinary
shares held
o]
EERHE

Number of
underlying
shares held
o]
HBRRHHA

% of the
Company's
issued

share capital
RN
BRTREAEL L

Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
BREEEL EREEA BAER
Interests of controlled Corporate interest 4 80,000,000 (L) 80,000,000 (S) 4.45% (L)
corporation 4.45% (S)
RSB NIl
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
HEsEE ERBEBA EAER
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
WhERE ERBEAA B AR
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
ARBELE ERBEBA B AR
Dr. Yen Gordon Beneficial owner Personal interest 1 - 1,000,000 (L) 0.05% (L)
RESEL ERBEEA B AR
Interests of controlled Corporate interest 5 1,200,000 (L) - 0.07% (L)
corporation
REEBRER nalEs
(L): Long Position #F&
(S): Short Position J&&
Notes: BE -
1. Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by the Directors are set out in the 1. EFR/FE2ADBIRBARG 2 ERN EXER

above section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME". TR E ] —Ep -

TEEERFTEMNLZ T E B %A GT Winners
A5% MR HE o IRIBFFF LB - BESEHRR
HEEGT WinnersFTHER SR A A w2 AR
LIBAR S ARRARR 1D Z %S o GT Winners R E R4
THBE RS2 FHBEHA T X EZRFARG RAE
BARR D 2 i Kok A | —6f o

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by Madam 2.
Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed to be interested
in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which GT Winners had
interest or was deemed to have interest. The details of such interests of GT Winners and
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are set out in the following section headed “INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES”.
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EERHE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. The shares were beneficially owned by Best Manage Holdings Limited (“Best Manage”).
Best Manage is wholly owned by Brite-Tech Research Company Limited (“Brite-Tech”)
which is in turn wholly owned by Surplus Assets Limited (“Surplus Assets”). Surplus
Assets is wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited (“Credit Suisse”) as the trustee of
The Allan Wong 2011 Trust, a discretionary trust of which Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee
is one of the beneficiaries. She also is one of the directors of Best Manage. By virtue of
the SFO, Ms. Wong Wendy Dick Yee was deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company in which Best Manage had interest or was deemed to
have interest.

4. The shares were beneficially owned by S.A.S. Investment Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 01184), in which Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley was
a director and owned 54.7% interest. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yim Yuk Lun, Stanley was
deemed to be interested in such shares.

5. The shares were held by Oakland Capital Limited, a company controlled by Dr. Yen
Gordon. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. Yen Gordon was deemed to be interested in such
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FTERRENRE RHEBRG 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND #EHERAXAE
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the following Shareholders (other than Directors or 720233 A31H » AR RAREZHFLHPE
chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by the &7 5833618 EFTETE2 Bt 2 528k - A
Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or deemed to ~ TR E(EEH AR T T EITHAERIN K

have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: RRREBITIRATRIER SR BHEBS5% K
Az #EE

% of the

Number of Number of Company’s

ordinary G issued

Name of Shareholders Capacity Notes shares held shares held share capital

=20 2] EARAH

BRREE £ L) i LERYE HEROHA SBTREAELL

GT Winners Beneficial owner 1 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.87% (L)
BEHAEBA

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina Beneficial owner 2 11,294,875 (L) 2,000,000 (L) 0.74% (L)
FERL BEHAEBA

Interests of controlled corporation 1 1,064,604,705 (L) 406,000,000 (L) 81.87% (L)

REEE#R

Best Manage Beneficial owner 3 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (5) 9.24% (L)
ERBEBA 9.24% (S)
Brite-Tech Interests of controlled corporation 3 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (5) 9.24% (L)
RSB R 9.24% (S)
Surplus Assets Interests of controlled corporation 3 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (S) 9.24% (L)
RSB R 9.24% (S)
Credit Suisse Trustee 3 166,000,000 (L) 166,000,000 (5) 9.24% (L)
ZFEA 9.24% (S)

(L): Long Position {¥&
(S): Short Position % &

Notes: BT

1. These represent (i) a beneficial interest in 1,064,604,705 ordinary shares of the Company, 1. ZE RS 5 B GT Winners B # 8 8 () ©

representing approximately 59.27% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (i) a 1,064,604, 705 A AR L@ s BEmEns - HE
beneficial interest in 406,000,000 underlying shares of the Company pursuant to certain RAR R EITRALS9.27% « R()BEE TR
call and/or option deeds, representing approximately 22.60% of the issued share capital i ok R0 HAE 22 4072 406,000,000 3% A8 A 7] 48
of the Company, directly held by GT Winners. The detail of such interest in GT Winners BRHD e EmEen  HERARARBEITRAL
of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina is set out in the above section headed “INTERESTS 22.60% ° ZEB 2 L GT WinnersB Bz 2 5F
AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING BRNEXEFREZTBABRKS - BEK
SHARES AND DEBENTURES". 1 R fEs 2 s kR | =4 -
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF FTERRENRE RHEBRG 2
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND #EHER XA =)
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes: (continued) s : (48)

2. Detail of the underlying shares of the Company held by Madam Li Wai Hang, Christinais 2. FERLTHE 2 AR REBERG 2 5 XX
set out in the above section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME". [FERR Rt &I | —8P -

3. The details of such interests of Best Manage are set out in the above section headed 3. Best Manages B m 2 sHIEHN L X [EEREE

“INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, TERABRKRG - HERG REF 2= RAE ]
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES”. — i o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company had not been Bk _EXXFrEEE SN - R2023F3H318 » K
notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or chief X&) EER(TA Efth A T80 (EHA
executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have interests ‘A A]E BT A BBRIN RA X AR {7 2 78
or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company which BB S EE AEAIRIEBF R EE
would fall to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under IS8 XVEFZE AN A &) S B 32 A I 58 2 #E 25 =k

Part XV of the SFO. KA e
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE e - HERBRA QAT 2 L
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES Dk

During the Year, the Company repurchased 6,446,000 Shares at an  RAFER » NAAAENRE3,608,320/8 7T
aggregate consideration of HK$3,608,320 (before expenses) on the Stock (Rt & 5 3% ) KB 22 Fr B 21 6,446,000 A% A%

Exchange. All repurchased shares were cancelled during the Year. 7 AR 2 RNDERAFERNTH -
Particulars of the repurchase during the Year are as follows: RAFERNEITER ZERINT
Aggregate
Number Highest Lowest consideration
of shares price paid price paid paid (before
Months of share repurchase repurchased per share per share expenses)
R B iR 40 [ERRE=7:3 efsgk ENEKE
BoRHz A% Z BB ReE BEE (RFKkEX)
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2022 20225
April 4K 798,000 0.58 0.58 462,840
September 9H 960,000 0.58 0.58 556,800
October 104 3,930,000 0.57 0.55 2,194,520
2023 20234
February 2R 758,000 0.52 0.52 394,160
Total KRGt 6,446,000 3,608,320
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

The Directors considered that the repurchases were made with a view to
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year as required
under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions set out in Note 44 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed above, no related party transaction
constitutes any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 44 to the financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2023 or at any time
during the Year.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 13 March 2023, the Group, as the borrower, entered into a facility
agreement (the "Facility Agreement”) for a 3-year transferable term loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1.1 billion (the “Facility”)
with major commercial banks in Hong Kong, as the lenders (the “Lenders”).
Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Agreement, the final maturity date is
36 months from the date of the Facility Agreement.

It will be an event of default under the Facility Agreement (unless waived
by the Lenders) if (a) Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Madam Li Wai Hang,
Christina, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick and GT Winners (collectively,
“The Pang Family”) collectively own, directly or indirectly, less than 51%
beneficial ownership interest in the Company; or (b) Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic ceases to be the Chairman of the Board; or (c) Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick ceases to be the Chief Executive Officer of the Company;
or (d) Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick and two
other Directors cease to jointly have management control of the Company,
throughout the life of the Facility.

Upon occurrence of such an event of default, the Lenders may declare
that all or part of the loans, together with accrued interest, and all
other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Facility Agreement be
immediately due and payable. Further details of the Facility was set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 13 March 2023.

As at the date of this report, The Pang Family owns approximately 60.31%

of the issued share capital of the Company and there is no change in the
Company’s management control since the date of the Facility Agreement.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

The following information is disclosed in accordance with Rule 13.22 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules:

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had provided financial assistance and
guarantees to its certain affiliated companies in aggregate amounted
to approximately HK$1,268.9 million, representing 14.7% of the total
assets of the Group, exceeding 8% of the assets ratio as defined under
Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

The proforma combined balance sheet of these affiliated companies as at
31 March 2023 as follows:

FHBEAIZE13ESE13.22162
BFENERTE

IR FARRIE T35
UTER :

F13.2026 2T =

M2023F3A31H AEBEIRETKE
BERERFETHEAANAESBELA
1,268,900,000/8 7T © IHHE N AEEEELRLE
Z14.7% BB EWRAE14.07()EMRE
MEELLERZ8% °

LB ARIN2023FE3A31AZEEAH
BEABERDOT

HKS$ million
A &80T

Non-current assets IEMENEE 346
Current assets MENVEE 3,907
Current liabilities mEBEE (3,303)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (966)
Net liabilities aEFE (16)
Issued capital BT 0
Reserves i (16)
Capital and reserves AR A I (4 (16)
As at 31 March 2023, the consolidated attributable interest of the Group ~ FA2023F3A31H * AEBRZEHE A A

in these affiliated companies amounted to approximately HK$24.4 million.

PROFIT GUARANTEE IN RELATION TO THE
ACQUISITION

On 3 November 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of 100%
of the issued share capital of HKCL. In accordance with the terms of the
relevant sale and purchase agreement dated 20 October 2020, Ample
Honesty Limited, the vendor of such agreement, had provided guarantee
to the Group the aggregate audited net profit after tax of HKCL should not
be less than HK$24,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Profit”) during the period
from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023. Details of which is set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 20 October 2020 and 3 November
2020. During the Year, the Guaranteed Profit has been fulfilled.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung, the INED, is an independent non-executive
director of JY Grandmark, which had certain subsidiaries engaged in the
property development business. The Board is of the view that Mr. Wu as an
independent non-executive director of JY Grandmark, is not involved in its
daily operation and therefore it does not compete with the business of the
Group.

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang, the INED, is an executive director of NWS and
a non-executive director of Wai Kee Holdings Limited, both of which had
certain subsidiaries engaged in the construction business. The Board is of
the view that the construction business of both companies is similar to but
in different scale and nature with that of the Group and therefore it does
not compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Directors is aware of his/her fiduciary duties as Director and will
act in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and
avoids any conflict of interests between his/her duties as a Director and his/
her personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any
business which competes or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Group's business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group'’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 77% of the
Group’s total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 59% of the Group's total turnover.
The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group'’s total purchases.

The Group’s five largest customers include governmental authorities
and statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers and
property owners. The credit terms granted to these customers are in line
with those granted to other customers as well as industry practices. The
Group’s management has considered the credit quality of these major
customers and is of the view that none of the relevant trade receivables
is considered doubtful. In determining the credit terms, the Group takes
into account various factors, including the background, financial strength
and track records of credit settlement of the counterparties, in order to
mitigate credit risks. In view of the financial strength and high credit rating
the major customers, the Directors consider that the Group’s exposure to
concentration of credit risk is limited.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
approximately HK$1.4 million.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in Note 52 to the financial statements.

Disposal of right-of-use asset provided the cash flow to the Group to
reduce the finance costs during the interest rate hikes. Reduction of equity
interest in the ECO Group was their business plan for introduction of a
potential strategic investor to benefit both the Group and the ECO Group.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
EY, the auditor of the Company, which will retire at the conclusion of
the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to re-appoint
EY as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix their
remuneration.

There has been no other change in the auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

38537 #% BB £k 5

e

Ernst & Young KB ETAIE T Tel E5E: +852 2846 9888
27 /F, One Taikoo Place A BEREEO/OR Fax {f8E: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ,i 979 King's Road R th— 2718 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group"”) set out on pages 147 to 307, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recognition of revenue and contract assets for
construction contracts

The Group’s revenue from the provision of construction work amounted
to HK$7.10 billion for the year ended 31 March 2023 and contract assets
from construction work as at 31 March 2023 amounted to HK$3.81 billion.

Contract revenue is recognised over time, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced.

The recognition of revenue relies on management’s estimate of the final
outcome of each contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in determining the value of contract
variations, claims and liquidated damages, in estimating the amount of
expected losses and assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services
according to the agreed timetable.

In addition, the Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances relating
to the construction work, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expectation as to when
the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably, the
Group will adjust the amounts of contract revenue and contract assets
accordingly. Such change constitutes a change in an accounting estimate
and involves significant management estimation and judgement regarding
the outcome of a contract. The effect of any change in an accounting
estimate is recognised prospectively by including it in profit or loss in the
current year and future periods, if appropriate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recognition of revenue and contract assets for
construction contracts (continued)

Given that the estimation of construction revenue involves significant
management judgement and estimation, we considered this a key audit
matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we understood, evaluated and tested the
key controls of the Group in respect of recognition of revenue and contract
assets for construction work. We examined the external or internal surveys
of work for amounts of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff.
We selected material construction contracts, read their financial budgets
and interviewed the Group’s quantity surveyors regarding the preparation
and approval processes of financial budgets of construction contracts and
the progress of work certification by independent surveyors. In addition, we
read the correspondence between the Group and independent surveyors
and, if necessary, obtained professional advice from the dispute resolution
advisors engaged by the contract customers and the Group in respect
of construction work performed. We also assessed the adequacy of the
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of land held for property
development

At 31 March 2023, land held for property development of the Group
amounted to HK$206 million.

The carrying amounts of the land held for property development are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant management
judgement is involved in determining the estimated net realisable values of
the land held for property development, including the estimation of selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement
involved, management engaged independent professional valuers to
prepare a feasibility report for the land held for property development of
the Group.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the feasibility report
and assessed the objectivity, competence and independence of the
independent professional valuers. We engaged our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in assessing the bases and assumptions adopted
in the impairment assessments. In addition, our procedures included
discussions with management and the independent professional valuers
about the assumptions and parameters used in estimating the latest selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion, variable selling expenses and,
as applicable, the feasibility of the Group’s property development plan.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR SGTE S

|
EY=x

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR SGTE S

|
EY=x

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is TSANG, Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2023

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeREkAMERRESER

Year ended 31 March 2023

HZE2023F3A318LEFE

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

REVENUE [ 2 6 8,177,748 7,722,064
Cost of sales SHE R (7,659,955)  (7,271,813)
Gross profit EF 517,793 450,251
Other income and gains, net HEag A KIS 55 7 204,352 173,698
Selling expenses HERX - (3,463)
Administrative expenses THRAZ (465,650) (494,823)
Reversal of provision for litigations S RA 2 B BB 34(b) 5,000 173,760
Other expenses, net H B F 58 (11,770) (99,352)
Finance costs RE R A 8 (119,309) (72,830)
Share of (loss)/profit of a joint venture EE—RAa4AR(EBR),EF  20b) (2,347) 562
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAG & N B I R B 18 21(c) 14,743 9,161
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AT E R 9 142,812 136,964
Income tax FTiS 12 (13,770) (29,028)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 129,042 107,936

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hfh2 & (F518) h#
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 1&4&AffE] Al fEE 2 7 EEE 15752

in subsequent periods: HH
Exchange differences: PE 5 ZRE
Translation of foreign operations HEGINETS (6,210) 15,781
Reclassification adjustment for gain Was 2z EFT DA
included in profit or loss upon: (Gt A=) -
Sale of property interests through FRHE—FHEAF
disposal of a subsidiary HEYERER 41(a) - (38,356)
Share of movement in the exchange JEiE—TE A &R EINERED
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture RE2E2E 20(b) (821) (639)
Share of movements in the exchange JE(RERE N B INE I B B 1
fluctuation reserves of associates L) 21(c) (10,690) 1,716

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE ZAEEHM2EEE SRS
YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX OF NIL BT ZTEH (17,721) (21,498)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR REERHEINFHELE
THE YEAR 111,321 86,438
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FEESREMEEIRER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HZE2023F3A318LEFE

2023 2022
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
HiaE FRET FET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEEAREERZR,(BA) -
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Shareholders of the Company VNN )35 105,091 121,999
Non-controlling interests JEFERAG HE 2 23,951 (14,063)
129,042 107,936
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FE{hAFER2E N (EE)
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 4
Shareholders of the Company RATRE 87,370 100,501
Non-controlling interests eI R 23,951 (14,063)
111,321 86,438
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZAAFREELERER HK cents HK cents
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 14 Bl JENL
Basic and diluted HEAR N ES 5.88 6.78
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR R

31 March 2023
2023F3H31H

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HEE KRG 15 248,076 323,874
Investment properties WEYZE 16 - 11,176
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17(a) 168,617 178,052
Goodwill Bl 18 93,786 106,790
Intangible assets A E 19 1,914 2,284
Investments in joint ventures REEDRIZIRE 20 9,104 12,272
Investments in associates N g 21 494,286 543,900
Land held for property development BIEWERREZ T 22 164,953 163,638
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 35 2,500 2,592
Total non-current assets IEMBNVEERRRE 1,183,236 1,344,578
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Land held for property development FHEMEER 2 T 22 41,325 42,676
Inventories FE 23 3,263 3,675
Contract assets BHEE 24(a) 3,810,314 3,745,415
Trade receivables B 5 e FIE 25 773,609 718,937
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FE{TFXIE - %4 F Hoqth e b 7k 18 26 1,065,980 1,048,986
Income tax recoverable AR B ATISH 26,099 27,803
Equity investments at fair value through BRATHEF ARG 2 REAKRE
profit or loss 27 485 5,623
Restricted cash and pledged deposits SR HIIR© & EEIFFER 28 148 16,009
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EEIER 29 1,420,100 1,440,057
7,141,323 7,049,181
Non-current assets and assets of disposal DEEAFEEE ZIERBEER
groups classified as held for sale HEEBEZBE 30 300,417 70,321
Total current assets MEVBEMRTE 7,441,740 7,119,502

DM A ERIERAR AT 2022/23F
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBAARRE

31 March 2023
2023F3H31H

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B S IR 31 1,492,345 1,676,559
Contract liabilities BHEE 24(b) 344,929 110,494
Other payables and accruals H b e < 5/18 R FERT 1B 32 1,126,894 852,850
Bank borrowings RITRER 55 1,679,637 2,287,112
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 29,755 26,729
Provision for construction works RETIEZ AR 34(a) - 115,920
Provision for litigations AL B 34(b) - 5,000
Income tax payables FEBIFTIS TR 85,432 81,444

4,758,992 5,156,108
Liabilities directly associated with the assets — EEDfEAIEIEHE s HEEE 2

of disposal groups classified as held for sale  BEBEZEBANARE 30 262,559 63,625
Total current liabilities mENBERTE 5,021,551 5,219,733
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,420,189 1,899,769
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEALERABER 3,603,425 3,244,347
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBERS
Bank borrowings RITIER 33 1,081,332 806,216
Lease liabilities HEEaE 17(b) 31,654 22,391
Deferred tax liabilities TR EE 35 1,746 2,043
Total non-current liabilities ERBIAERRE 1,114,732 830,650
Net assets BEFE 2,488,693 2,413,697
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBAARRE

31 March 2023
2023F3H31H

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to shareholders of RATREREGES
the Company
Issued capital BEITIRAR 36(a) 179,623 180,268
Reserves i 39(a) 2,260,975 2,197,195
2,440,598 2,377,463
Non-controlling interests IEVERR A S 48,095 36,234
Total equity R iasa 2,488,693 2,413,697
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
TR Z—H
Director Director
BE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FERRESEZER
Year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HILFRE

[ssued
capital

G
S 000

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Shares

held under

the share
Share award  Share-based
premium  scheme  compensation
account fesenve

Hks 000

{1

(€]
fesene

a2
HKS 000

Exchange
fluctuation
fesenve

1
KS 000

Retained
profits

R
HKS000

al

HKS000

Non-
controling
Interests

b
K000

Total
equity

HKS000

At 1 April 2021 MONE4RIA 18013 750900 (10643 13,000 9628 16478 1326630 2,288,006 5219 2,345,285
Proftfor the year TERE - - - - - - N9 121599 (14063 107936
Other comprehensive incomelloss) ~ AEEEMAENE /(BE):
for the year:
Bxchange differences: EiZE:
Translaton of foreign operations ~~ HEBHER - - - - ] - 1578 ]
Reclassifcation adjustments for eyl b
gain included in profitor loss (dARE):
upon:
Seleof property inerests trough— FBLE-EHBAAL
disposal of a subsidiary Enzke ) = = = = - (83 - (836 -3
Share of movement in the exchange Bl -FHASATNERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint ey
venture - - - - - (639) - (639) - (639)
Share of movements n the EEBEQ T ERHE
exchange fluctuation resenesof 789
associates - - - - - 1,716 - 1716 - 1,716
Total comprehensive (ossyincome for - A& 2 () /@
the year - - - - - (1499 12199 100501 (14.003) 86,438
Acquiston of non-controling interest  WiEB3F R - - - -4y - -4 B¥) B3
Disposal of partel interest of a nE-BRELTNT R
subsidiary 39b)iy) - - - - 4615 - - 4615 138 6,000
Cancellation of repurchased shares ~ FEREER( 36(0) (1,745) 8,526) - - - - - (10m) - (1021
Equity-settled share option expense  HRAEE 7 BRERR 380 - = = 7 - . - 7 . 7
Other equitysettled share-based —~— ERNRAEEZ MR AR
payment expense RASHRR 9 - - - 553 - - - 553 - 553
Transfer of share-based compensation - HEFRE BB RR
reserve upon the expiry of share i
options - - - (111%) - - 11,19 - - -
Transfer of share-based compensation  FRUMRG BER i€
reserve upon the forfeture of Bt amEE
share-based arrangement - - - (863) - - 863 - - -
Interim 2022 dividend dedred BEREEHRE 13 - - - - = - () (59 - (15
At 31 March 2022 R0NEIR3NA 180268 743714 (10643*  6481% 19236 (5,000 1444767 2377463 254 2413697
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERRERSBR

Year ended 31 March 2023
HZE2023F3A318IEFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

KATRRREG
Shares
held under
the share
Share award - Share-hased Exchange Non-
lssued  premium  scheme compensation  Capital fluctuation  Retained controlling
apital  acount  account  reserve  reserve  reseve  profits Totl interests
BER
£Rid
BETRE  RbEM HERE
BEfRA  BORER  DRE B EARf B REEA I
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$'000
fér  TEn  TEr  FEr  FEr FEn TEL A T
At 1 Aprl2022 RONRELRIR 180208 742,374 (10,643) 6,481 19,236 (5,020) 1444767 2377463 36,234 2413697
Profit for the year KEZER - - - - - - 105001 105,091 BT 1908
Other comprehensive loss REFAMRERS
for the year:
Exchange differences: BiEE:
Translation of foreign operations ~ BENER - - - - - (6,210) - (6,210) - (6,210)
Share of movement in the exchange. Bl -HASATNERD
fluctuation reserve of a joint EEay
venture - - - - - (821) - (821) - (821)
Share of movements n the EERELTIEREHE
exchange fluctuation reserves of - 72
associates - - - - - (10,690 - (10,69) - (10,69)
Total comprehensive (oss)income ~ REEAE(SE) ke
for the year - - - - - (17721) 105,091 87310 B M3
Acquisition of non-controling interest  IEFE R E - - - - 4478 - - 4478 (6678 (220
Disposal of partal interest of a nE-BRELTNTER
subsidiary - - - - (571) - - (57) 811 pL]
Cancellation of repurchased shares ~ FEEEER( 36(0) (645) (2.94) - - - - - (3,609) - (3,609)
Equitysettled share option expense  bUREEE 7B RiERR 380) - - - s - - - s - s
Other equitysettled share-based ~ ERRAEEZ MRRA
payment expense ERAHNAR 9 - - - 189 - - - 4893 - 489
Disposal of subsidiares HENELT A1) - - - - - - - - 0y
Divdends paid tononcontroling B EHBA T ARER
sharcholders of a subsidiary ) - - - - - - - - (3,300) (3,300)
Interim 2023 dividend dedlred BEREEERE 13 - - - - - - (10 (12.03) - (o)
Final 2022 dividend paid BREfnEERERE 13 - - - - - - (19820 (1980) - (1982)
31 March 2003 A3 MG THMD (0SB GRS BB QA ISBOF M08 48055 248860
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,260,975,000 (2022:  * 202363 A31H - ZEHERERELGE VB

HK$2,197,195,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March

2023.

PER AN 2 4R A FE12,260,975,0005% 7T (2022 F -

2,197,195,000/87T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

Year ended 31 March 2023

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022/23

HZE2023F3A318LEFE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REAREEDZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FR A5 A& A 142,812 136,964
Adjustments for: R
Share of loss/(profit) of a joint venture EE—FEaEARER/
GEF)D) 2,347 (562)
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAG B N B F) & B 18 (14,743) (9,161)
Interest income FEMA 7 (26,451) (19,483)
Dividend income MR EHA 7 (259) (162)
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net  #$SFEMME A 7l 2 Ukzs F58 7 - (643)
Gain on sale of property interests through BEbE—EIEAREEY
disposal of a subsidiary Exndaidl 7 - (117,681)
Loss on disposal of equity investments at HERAFEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss RAIEE - B 1R 9 5,536 =
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 9 3,579 -
Fair value gain of investment properties, WEWEZ N EKSFE
net 7 (915) =
Finance costs BhE KA 8 123,856 74,199
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB NAREZITE
equipment 9 48,528 53,963
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 9 33,113 32,424
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE B 9 370 216
Fair value loss/(gain) of equity investments BATEABRE ZBRAKRE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAHEERE, (W) 9 59 (668)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant LEME - B REREZ
and equipment, net (Weas)/ EEFE 9 (1,527) 190
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE IR 7 (118,211) (871)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment  #3£ « #23 & 25 15 2 MR 9 - 6
Write-off of investment in an associate R—EEE A RIRE Z ek 9 - 59
Write-off of debt investments at fair value BAFEFABR EERE
through profit or loss AR 9 - 3,642
Write-off of inventories &z MR 9 - 2,795
Write-off of prepayment, deposits and TENFRIA ~ ke REAERGK
other receivables 18 7 #AR 9 70 609
Impairment of goodwill EE A 9 - 15,593
Written down of land held for property WORISEYI R 2 T E 7]
development to net realisable value I8 H(E 9 - 73,769
Impairment of contract assets BHEEZRE 9 1,928 2,420
Impairment of/(reversal of impairment of) B S W EIE 7B, (B
trade receivables A ) 9 364 (158)
Impairment of other receivables H fth e W I8 2 JRUE 9 147 —
Equity-settled share option expense AR AN 2 B 2 9 2,431 7
Other equity-settled share-based payment HEMARARLEE 27 AR X
expense TR 9 4,893 5,533
Reversal of provision for litigations YR 2 B 1 34(b) (5,000) (173,760)
202,927 79,240



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERLRER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HZE2023F3A318LEFE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000

FET TE7T

Decrease/(increase) in land held for property — #{E¥ %3 RE 2 +iF L (L)

development 529 (40,521)
Increase in properties held for sale R E WM - (23)
Increase in inventories FEEM (24) (1,206)
Increase in contract assets AHEEEN (215,493) (426,054)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B S REWRAE (), R (85,316) 52,082
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits ~ FE{TFRIE - 124 K& B fh fE U R mE (4€ ),

and other receivables oA (77,037) 13,641
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables S REMAFECRD), N (145,756) 186,755
Increase in contract liabilities EHEEEM 240,459 46,409
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and Ho At A~ FRIE R FEET B 0, CRl L)

accruals 278,680 (51,829)
(Decrease)/increase in provision for construction #5812 2 #4& CRl4>) /180

works (115,920) 12,225
Cash from/(used in) operations rREXBEEY /(R ZRE 83,049 (129,281)
Interest paid BEAFIE (4,547) (1,369)
Income taxes paid BEAATEHL (9,061) (8,878)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating RESEEES (FrAR) 2R RERE

activities 69,441 (139,528)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERLRER

Year ended 31 March 2023

HZE2023F3A318LEFE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BHFHE 26,451 19,483
Dividend received from listed equity B EHRRARE WE Z A
investments 259 162
Dividend received from associates BEE A RIUREZ iR 8 3,610 61,523
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE Y% - #28 KR1E (17,683) (15,532)
Prepayments for right-of-use assets EREEE 2 AN FIE - (154)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTEE - (2,500)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEYZE - Hes KRBT RIE
and equipment 3,478 4,516
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets & {6 F#EE E TS 2E 123,198 2,206
Proceeds from sale of property interests FRRE—HRBARTNEYSE
through disposal of a subsidiary ERFTIERIE 41(a) - 126,534
Disposal of cash and bank balances of EREWB AR RS RIRIT
disposed subsidiaries Eeg 41(b) (1,080) -
Purchase of equity investments at fair value ~ EEBIZ A F(EF AIEZE 2 BB
through profit or loss "E& (6,250) (39,649)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments &7 A F(EH ABZ 2 AR
at fair value through profit or loss WESHRIE 5,793 36,562
Contribution to an associate m—fEBEAREE - (16,000)
Increase in an amount due from a joint JEW —RA & QR Z FRIER
venture (1,923) (2,885)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from FEUEEZ A T 2 RIER L
associates (185n) 94,898 (18,614)
Decrease in loan receivables EWE TR 21,016 86,434
Net cash flows from investing activities RERDEEZREMEFHE 251,767 242,086
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

Year ended 31 March 2023
HZE2023F3A318LEFE

Notes

Hiat

2023
HK$°000
FET

2022
HK$'000
FET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETBRERE

ACTIVITIES
Repurchase of shares EEl 36(a) (3,609) (10,271)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest of — URBEH B A7) 2 FEFE IS

subsidiaries (2,200) (3,374)
New bank loans MERRITER 2,439,800 1,717,746
New trust receipt loans FrEEEBIBRER 920,755 436,969
Repayment of bank loans EBRITER (2,686,202)  (1,900,364)
Repayment of trust receipt loans BEETEWERER (823,824) (356,985)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENRZAEED (32,680) (38,702)
Interest element of lease payments HMENRZFEEBH (1,720) (376)
Other interest paid HhEATHLE (105,283) (55,596)
Dividends paid B A (31,857) (15,921)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B —FHHE A T IEERAR R

shareholders of a subsidiary SN (3,300) =
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest of & —MIE QG DR

a subsidiary FriS 3808 240 6,000
Increase in restricted cash and pledged ZRFIIR S & B TE A N

deposits (1,605) (4,935)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEESTRA IR RE R (331,485) (225,809)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERERSEEEBRDFHE

EQUIVALENTS (10,277) (123,251)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUFR e MERSEFEIER

of year 1,446,970 1,556,582
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  HMNEES[fE R Bh 22 2558 (11,429) 13,639
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND SXEHENHEBFESZEEER

OF YEAR 1,425,264 1,446,970
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND HENERESZEEBEHERDH

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRITEERR 29 1,420,100 1,440,057
Cash and short term deposits attributable to DI AEEHE v HEEEEL

disposal groups classified as held for sale R& REEBER 30 5,164 6,913
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the ~ BE&REXRMYINE S MBS

statement of cash flows EEER 1,425,264 1,446,970
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda,
and the principal place of business of the Company is located at C1,
5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603
Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates were
involved in the following principal activities:

° provision of construction and consultancy services in areas
of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,
foundation and building construction mainly in Hong Kong;

° development and sale of properties and leasing of assets in
Hong Kong, mainland (“Mainland China”) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the United Arab Emirates
(the "UAE");

o provision of security, tunnel and other facility management
services in Hong Kong;

o provision of non-franchised bus services in Hong Kong; and

o production and sale of positron emission tomography (“PET")
radiopharmaceuticals for medical use in Hong Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, a
joint venture and associates are set out in notes 48, 49, 50 and 51 to
the financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2023, in the opinion of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the immediate holding company and the ultimate
holding company of the Company is GT Winners Limited (“GT
Winners”), which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability.

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2022/23
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Notes to Financial Statements
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202393 A31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention except for (i)
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss which have been measured at fair value; and (ii) non-current
assets and assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale which
are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell, as further explained in note 3.3 to the financial
statements. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
("HK$'000") except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control.

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating
to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable
to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer
to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21, respectively, instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 April 2022. As
there were no business combinations during the year, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories,
in profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 April 2021. Since there
was no sale of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g. an allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at 1 April 2022 and no significant onerous contracts
were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the
other’s behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 April 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group’s financial
liabilities during the year, the amendment did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’
Insurance Contracts'>

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)? 4

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020

Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change

in conclusion

s As a consequence of the Amendments to HKFRS 17, issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before

1 January 2023

8 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification
overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 3.2 EEMERARERZEE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in
April 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over whether
an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least
12 months after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the
HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In
addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by
an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS
1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group
is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 3.2 EEMERARERZEE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and
apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
April 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures and associates

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates is included in
the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the joint ventures or associates,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures or associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the joint ventures or associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures
or associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in joint
ventures or associates.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of joint control over the
joint venture or significant influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint ventures or
associates upon loss of joint control or significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in joint ventures and associates
(continued)

When an investment in a joint venture or associate is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:
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The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group’s
interest in a joint operation are accounted for in accordance with the
HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the Group.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group and liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of buildings are calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off their costs over the shorter of the lease terms and their useful
lives of 25 years.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on
the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of other
property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation rates per annum of
different categories of other property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use-asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including the direct costs of
construction, capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction and transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such asset or disposal group and its sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary
classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale
regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue or other income in profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets in respect of leasehold land are depreciated
on the straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and their useful lives of 50 years. Other right-of-use assets are
depreciated on the reducing balance basis over the following
deprecation periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets:

Leased properties 1to 5 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 6 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at
the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with
the Group'’s policy for “Land held for property development,
properties under development and properties held for sale”.
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continuea)

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The
corresponding right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
and subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with
the Group'’s policy for “Investment properties”.

The Group's right-of-use assets are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are separately presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE )
Group as a lessee (continued) TEBEREBAGE)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of plant and machinery and office
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patent

Purchased patent is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives of 7
years.
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Land held for property development, properties
under development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion of the
property development. They are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development project
is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to properties held for sale.

Land held for property development, properties under development
and properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes prepaid land lease payments, cost of
land/land use rights together with any other direct costs attributable
to the development of the properties, and borrowing costs capitalised
during the development period. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to estimated selling price based on prevailing market
conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion of the development
in respect of properties under development; and (ii) estimated costs
to be incurred in marketing and selling the properties.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than investment
properties, land held for property development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, contract assets and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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31 March 2023
202393 A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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Investments and other financial assets RERHMEMEE
Initial recognition and measurement BRERRE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, or fair value through profit or loss, as
appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

SHEENERRREHE - HERE
R AR A A TR AR (0
) -

TREENBERAERFZOBERT R
BEZANASREFBULRAEEE
BZEeMEEZEBRAME - HRE
FREFETBEEARER D HAE
ECEBTHABREAREXN ST E LT
TTRREEIDEI » ARBYVIFRAFE
EMRSERA(HERMEETRATE
FRABR)GESREE WEBAR
BN RAKECERARITHEETE
ZE SRR - THIRE T 3 R i
RIMBBRR BBV BRELRIE 5
WK EEFEN W IEEZXHE

5t -

DM A EZZERERADF 2022235

181



182

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt ¥ # Bt 5E
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt instruments) with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets (debt
instruments) refers to how it manages its financial assets (debt
instruments) in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets (debt instruments), or both.
Financial assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to
hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets (debt instruments) classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets (debt instruments)
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(a)

®)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes debt instruments with cash flows that
are not SPPI and equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3 FESTHTHRUE»

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

General approach (continueq)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract
assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

RERHAMEHMEE®)

BB (&)

—MRIE (&)
RBHERAAEZEREEE—RITE
TrRIBEEHIRRE - BEEN TEEBUE
TOBEUEEREERE  ERAHE
LA E 5 R IERE HEER
SN ANTEEEAL ©

Stage 1 -  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not F1ER - BERERUREEERR
increased significantly since initial recognition and WEBEEN - BEEEE
for which the loss allowance is measured at an TEEERN2EABEEE
amount equal to 12-month ECLs BENEEECERIA

Stage2 -  Financial instruments for which credit risk has F2UER BRABRUREEERR
increased significantly since initial recognition but BELMMELIECERES
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for BEE)  BEBRERE
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount ERE2BEREERENS
equal to lifetime ECLs BECEMIA

Stage3 -  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the EME - RREAHEEEREEL
reporting date (but that are not purchased or EBASNREEERE) B
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss BREEEDRESEN2PHE
allowance is measured at an amount equal to HEEBEENSEHE S
lifetime ECLs RMEE

Simplified approach B 7%

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e. removed from the consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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